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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EE®RE

To Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the Group),
2015 was a year of major challenge as well as a year of
great reward.

When faced with a sudden challenge, those who are
weak will choose to run, and those who are coward will
choose to back down. However, the achievers will seize
the opportunity with fortitude to surmount the obstacle,
turning setback into success. Only those who dare to face

the challenge will be able to taste the fruit of success.

In 2015 we suffered from a sudden blow which disrupted
the pace of Hanergy's development, disrupted the medium
and long term planning, and tightened the squeeze on our
funding channels. In particular, the plan for localization and
large scale industrialization of our most advanced thin film
technology was completely affected. Since the Group's
establishment, this has been a year of the greatest change
and a year with extreme pressure to bear.
Daunting as the challenge may have looked, | am
personally thankful, and take it as an opportunity to fortify
our will and sharpen our skills. The Hanergy people under
such extreme pressure simply bit the bullet and turned
the pressure into a driving force, improving the operational
strategy and optimizing the market positioning. During
the painful process, we clearly saw our problems and
took a firm stand in our reforms and transformation. We
suspended some businesses, reorganized or removed
some departments, enhanced dealers’ sales volume, and
made the Company better.

A great enterprise must go through great ordeal, Through
the series of experience and toughening, we have become
fearless, we have stood tall, and we have become

stronger.

This is the Hanergy spirit.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EE®RE

Today, the Hanergy people can be proud of the following:
thin film solar power is an industry with a bright future, and
we have mastered its core technology and manufacturing
techniques. Five years ago when we started manufacturing
thin film products, there were many skeptics because
everybody else was working on crystalline silicon, and
everybody else doubted the future of the thin film
technology. We, however, established our conviction
before the market realized that thin film and flexibility
would be the future trend for global solar energy. We have
been one step ahead, and now stand in the forefront.

Today there is no dispute among the European Union,
the United States and Japan that thin film is the future
in the solar energy. In China the National Development
and Reform Commission, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology, the National Energy Authority
and other related departments have all placed thin film
technology in the most important strategic position. In
November 2015, thirty scientists from nine countries
including Germany and the US jointly issued the “white
paper on CIGS thin film solar cell technology”, pointing
out that solar energy conversion rates of cells from
CIGS technology were over 30%, and gave recognition
to the immense competitiveness of the thin film power
technology. The large scale photovoltaic application was
the most sustainable energy solution.

Because we had a head start, our flexible thin film solar
batteries have achieved many first places in the world,
including the world record of up to 31.6% conversion
rate of Alta Devices’ GaAs double junction solar cell, the
world’'s best efficiency in small dimension mass produced
wafer of Global Solar Energy’s flexible co-evaporation thin
film cells, and the world’'s best efficiency of MiaSolé multi-
element sputtering flexible single string assembly. As
at this moment, the Group owns 1,226 patents, 60% of
which are invention patents.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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The Group’s thin film technology is in a global leading
position. However, we are still continuously improving
our advanced equipment production capabilities and solar
product performance. Alta Devices' pilot cell efficiency,
yield and production volume are greatly improved; stable
and sustained mass production is achieved, successfully
transforming into a small scale production line that is
capable of mass production. GSE has also achieved
results in enhancement of conversion rate and lowering
of production cost; in the ICI automated production
line, we have achieved a comprehensive design and
assembly solution with independent intellectual property
rights, paving the way for large scale mass production.
The production equipment of CIGS of MiaSolé has been
implemented in Hanergy's bases and started to receive
orders from third party customers.

The Group’s MiaSolé FLEX and GSE FLEX modules have
both successively completed registration of the stringent
A application of JPEA in Japan, making them applicable
to residential roof top projects of up to 10KW in Japan.
Although this registration was ridden with many difficulties,
we were able to finally receive the accreditation. It was
the first time a mass produced CIGS thin film type flexible
module has passed the A application. This will provide an
extremely favorable opportunity for Hanergy to penetrate
the industrial, commercial and residential rooftop solar
market in Japan.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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In February 2015, the Group held a conference on mobile
energy strategy and for the first time proposed the concept
of mobile energy, which received wide-spread recognition.
In March, | personally gave a report on “securing the global
mobile energy industry vantage point and cultivating new
growth points in the national economy” during the NPC
and CPPCC, and received the attention of the leadership
of the Central Committee and related ministries and
commissions. In April, we officially launched the world’s
first all-solar energy working car diner and tourist coach,
a solar energy powered live-in trailer and a solar energy
assisted traditional vehicle in the “Mobile Energy Solution
and Strategic Cooperation” press conference in Beijing.
In May, our Group officially released several new thin film
solar power products, allowing people to enjoy green,
convenient, stable and unlimited power supply. In October,
we participated in the “National Entrepreneurship and
Innovation Week"” exhibition, in which, Hanergy's products
received favorable comments from Premier Li Kegiang, the
leadership of the Central Committee and other participants
from all sectors of society. We also successively held
Hanergy special events such as the “Global Thin Film
Power Generation Product Innovation Competition” and
Marathon”,
forge the entrepreneurial ecosphere of mobile energy

the “Global Innovators’ which helped to
innovation participated by over 50 professional design
schools and institutes over the world, covering the areas of
construction, transportation, electronics, home appliances
and entire solar energy powered applications.

The Global Solar Power Solutions Group went through a
series of changes and reforms, overcoming hurdles after
hurdles, and in 2015 created a new mode of dealership
development for residential systems. During the year, the
Group signed up more than 1,300 distributors, over 90% of
which were core distributors. It formed a leading position
in the business and established a large market of sale on
rooftop thin film power products for both residential-use
and commercial-use upon the quality channel.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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FUTURE DIRECTIONS

2016 will be a year of continued transformation and re-
birth for Hanergy, and will also be a year of opening up and
breakthrough. Our goal is to maintain Hanergy's thin film
technology and its industrialization at the global leading
position. We are convinced of our strategic judgment. We
are convinced of our belief that new clean energy will
change the world. We are convinced of our strategy in
the choice of thin film power generation industry and its
promising prospects.

Following are highlights of the Group's direction of
development in 2016:

° Remain in a leadership position and develop in
the opening-up process: the Group must open up
its technology to cooperate with more scientific
research organizations on technological research
and development, rapidly improve conversion rates,
refine craftsmanship, and lower costs. We must
open up channels, and through sales channels of
distributorship, make our products available to every
consumer in need. We must take further steps to
improve the e-commerce platform network, making
it a new channel for sales. We will also open up the
platform to allow cooperation with more investors,
enterprises, and entrepreneurs to jointly develop thin
film application products, cultivate more innovative
enterprises, and support more start-up entrepreneurs.

° Sustained leadership in technology is the secret to
survival: as a "high technology + energy” enterprise,
the Group represents the direction of future
development of the photovoltaic energy sector. To
maintain the advantages Hanergy enjoys in flexibility
and high efficiency thin film technology, the Group
will concentrate resources to maintain sustained
leadership in technology.
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° Expedite development of new products to meet
market demand: the product is the medium of
communication between Hanergy and the market,
which is fundamental to business development. Our
ability in research and development is manifested
in the technology content in our products, while
our staff's quality and management efficiency are
manifested in our service quality. In 2016 we will
concentrate on developing markets such as BIPV,
agricultural greenhouses and residential systems,
with market needs as guidance for continuous
enhancement and development.

° Forge the strongest sales system from the
application end: the sales channel is always the
critical point for the success of an enterprise.
Effective sales channels are essential for the sales
of quality products. We must maintain horizontal and
vertical developments in reinforcing and expanding
our distributorship network, and penetrate deeply into
agricultural and civilian product applications.

° Improve the organization’s internal structure of
governance for better focus and higher efficiency:
we need to construct a market-oriented ecological
organization, establish a rapid response business
process and work mechanism, and optimize and
adjust organizational structure, including streamlining
of work force, optimizing of organization and re-
engineering of work flow. We also need to transform
into a company as a technical and servicing platform
with technology and innovation as the core, and
market and customer as the orientation.

Finally, | sincerely thank the shareholders, directors,
management, all the staff and strategic partners for the
support in the past year. As the 13th clause of Hanergy
company motto goes “The process of growth is the
process of continuously overcoming of difficulties”. In the
history of man, most great feats that transcend extremes
to miracles arise from the ability and willingness to face
adversity, rather than from mere luck and inaction. | believe
each of us from Hanergy is not afraid of difficulties, but
sees challenges as a form of test and training. When we
brave adversity, we shall overcome.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS MODEL

The Group has been in the solar power industry since
2009. Its principal businesses include (i) the development
and design of turnkey production lines for the production of
thin film power generation, as well as (ii) the development
and operation of downstream thin film power generation
projects and application products.

In respect of the development and design of turnkey
production lines for the production of thin film power
generation, aimed at raising the functional performance of
turnkey production lines for production of thin film power
generation, shortening production time, and diminishing
production cost, in recent years, the Group has carried
out a number of overseas acquisitions on thin film power
generation technologies, which include (i) Solibro’s co-
evaporation technology; (i) MiaSolé’'s sputtering technology
in the manufacturing of flexible thin film modules; (iii)
Global Solar Energy’s integrated battery interconnect
and packaging technologies; and (iv) Alta Devices’ high
conversion rate GaAs technology. Meanwhile, the Group
employed scientist teams from around the globe, including
Beijing and Sichuan in China, Germany, Sweden and the
United States. With the most advanced thin film power
generation technologies in the world, the Group will sustain
the development progress of scientific research, continue
to improve the performance of thin film power generation
technologies, and be committed to providing customers
with the most advanced, cost-effective solutions in turnkey
production lines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS MODEL (continued)

In respect of the downstream thin film power generation
projects and application products, Hanergy Global Solar
Power Solutions Group was established by the Group in
2013 to advance into the downstream thin film power
generation and application products market. Hanergy
Product Development Group was established by the Group
in 2014. And in 2015 reforms on the existing corporate
organizational structure were carried out, establishing
Mobile Energy Business Group, Flexible Consumer
Business Group, Flexible Industrial Applications Business
Group, Distributed Energy Business Group, Global Solar
Power Solutions Group, and Product Incubator Center. In
the past few years, the Group recorded satisfactory results
in photovoltaic power stations, industrial/commercial
distributed photovoltaic generation applications, residential
photovoltaic power generation applications, photovoltaic
applications on agriculture, as well as applications on
automobiles and electronic products. In addition, owing
to the functional advantages of the photovoltaic thin film
technology such as ultra-lightness and flexibility, the
technology owned by the Group has a bright prospect
in state-of-the-art areas such as commercial drones and
specialty products. In the future, the Group will put its
focus on two aspects, namely distributed and mobile
energy.

The Group implemented a three-in-one strategy with
products, channels and branding as its key focus. Product
positioning will be largely consumer-based, supplemented
by industrial applications. By leveraging on existing
resources and consolidating core technological advantages,
the Group will strive to develop consumer application
products through cooperation with other related industries
along the industry chain, so as to push forward distributed
energy development and achieve realization of the “mobile
energy +" strategy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015,
the Group recorded revenue of HK$2,814,668,000,
representing a decrease of about 70.7% as compared
to HK$9,615,028,000 in 2014. Gross profit decreased
to HK$1,373,229,000 for the vyear, representing a
decrease of about 75.1% as compared to previous year's
HK$5,504,648,000.

The Group recorded a net loss of HK$12,233,542,000,
representing a substantial decrease as compared to a profit
of HK$3,203,618,000 for the corresponding financial year
ended 31 December 2014. The decrease in revenue and
the loss is mainly attributable to, including but not limited
to the following reasons:

(1) The continued halt of trading of the Company’s shares
had resulted in a material negative impact on the
reputation of the Company. A number of existing and
potential customers, business partners and suppliers
of the Group have indicated to reduce/suspend/delay
the cooperation with the Group due to the continued
trading halt, which resulted in a decrease in the
Company’s revenue and profitability;

(2) the failure of the Group to deliver new production
lines to Hanergy Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy
Holding”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company, in 2015, led to a substantial decrease of
over 96% of the revenue arising from connected
transactions between the Company and Hanergy
Holdings and its affiliates in 2015 to HK$66 million,
as compared with the revenue from connected
transactions of approximately HK$5,960 million in
2014;

(3)  while the Group did not deliver any production line to
Hanergy Holding and its affiliates during the year, it
has carried out an enormous amount of preparation
and research effort in this respect, leading to a certain
amount of expenditures which definitely affected the
profit for 2015; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

(4)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s gross amount
due from contract customers and trade receivables
due from Hanergy Holding and its affiliates amounted
to approximately HK$2.0 billion and HK$2.6 billion,
respectively, among which approximately HK$2.6
billion was overdue. The Group reminded Hanergy
Holding and its affiliates to repay all overdue amounts
as soon as possible during the period. As disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 26 February
2016, the Group has issued to Hanergy Holding and
its affiliates reminder letters requiring the immediate
payment of all overdue amounts.

With respect to Hanergy Holding’s overdue amount
due to the Group in relation to the continuing
connected transactions, the Company received a
letter from Hanergy Holding on 26 February 2016,
according to which:

o Hanergy Holding stated that the Company
was ordered by the Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC") to suspend trading in its
shares. The fact that no conclusion had been
reached had significantly affected Hanergy
Holding, causing deteriorating business
environment, which had lead to a financial
constrains in Hanergy Holding, hindering its
ability to repay amounts due;

° Hanergy Holding was carrying out a restructuring
while at the same time actively liaising with
various parties with the view to seek support
from the state;

o At the moment, the financial position of Hanergy
Holding began to improve and it would arrange
for the settlement of the amount due to the
Company as soon as possible;

o Hanergy Holding urged the Company to
strengthen its communication with the SFC and
to resume trading as soon as possible.

The Group believed that Hanergy Holding shall repay
all overdue amounts as soon as possible, or further
action may be taken in relation to such overdue
amounts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

(5)

(6)

Macrolink

As disclosed in the Company’'s interim report
2015, as at 30 June 2015, the Group has delivered
the equipment of 300MW to Shandong Macrolink
New Resources Technology Limited (“Macrolink”),
and Macrolink has paid the deposit to the Group.
However, as at 31 December 2015, the Group has
not yet received all of those trade receivables due
from Macrolink.

Impairment of goodwill

As new production line has not been delivered to
the Company's controlling shareholder, Hanergy
Holding Group Limited, the Group’'s goodwill
would be substantially decreased. The impairment
of goodwill was also one of the reasons for the
Group's significant loss. The net balance of goodwill
decreased from HK$7,915,318,000 in 2014 to
nil after impairment of goodwill. Along with the
impairments of fixed assets and intangible assets,
the total loss of three items of impairment recorded
HK$9,655,067,000. Although impairment of goodwill,
fixed assets and intangible assets led to significant
loss and substantial decrease of the Group’'s assets,
the relevant impairment was of non-cash nature and
had no impact on the operating cash flows of the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A.

Connected Transactions with Hanergy Holding
Group

The Group has entered into connected transaction
agreements with Hanergy Holding since 2010. All
connected transactions are in compliance with the
requirements under the Listing Rules, including
making necessary disclosure in announcements,
circulars and annual reports. As required under the
Listing Rules, some of the connected transactions
received relevant opinions from the independent
financial advisor. The Independent Board Committee,
after considering the report from the independent
financial advisor, gave opinions to shareholders,
subject to approval from shareholders in general
meetings.

On 9 June 2015, the Company received a letter from
the SFC indicating the SFC was minded to exercise
its power under Rule 8(1) of the Securities and
Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules. The Company
understood the SFC was concerned about (i) the
ongoing viability of the Group given its financial
dependence on Hanergy Holding and its affiliates;
and (ii) the ability of the Company to keep the market
properly informed as required by the Part XIVA of
the SFO. In the letter, the SFC has requested for
documents which are outside the control of and do
not belong to the Company. They include, amongst
other things, audited financial statements of Hanergy
Holding and audited consolidated financial statements
of Hanergy Holding, each for the years of 2011 to
2014 and detailed terms of material outstanding loans
of Mr. Li He Jun (“Documents not in the Company'’s
Possession”). However, these are private financials
relating to the internal affairs of Hanergy Holding,
Hanergy Affiliates and personal affairs of Mr. Li
Hejun. The Company has no control over Hanergy
Holding, Hanergy Affiliates and/or Mr. Li Hejun and
cannot compel them to produce such documents or
information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A.

R EREEEEARAR

Connected Transactions with Hanergy Holding
Group (continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
16 July 2015, upon receipt of the SFC letter dated
9 June 2015, the Company has immediately sought
legal advice and has since proactively communicated
with the SFC with the view to addressing and
resolving their concerns, and presented to the SFC
a viable proposal (the "Restructuring Proposal”),
in which considerable restructuring of the Group is
proposed, so as to materially reduce or terminate
all or part of the existing continuing connected
transactions of the Group with Hanergy Holding and
its affiliates. Nevertheless, SFC considered that the
Restructuring Proposal submitted by the Company
was not able to/failed to adequately address its
concerns, and issued Rule 8(1) directive to the
Company.

The SFC considered that the Restructuring Proposal
was not able to/failed to adequately address its
concerns and accordingly, the Company did not
implement the Restructuring Proposal eventually.

Except for the transactions as disclosed in the
Company's announcements dated 15 June 2015
(Master Supply Agreement In Relation To Solar
Energy Panel Modules from the Financial Year of 2015
to the Financial Year of 2017) and the transactions as
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 20
July 2015 (Equipment Sales and Technical Services
Agreements In Relation To 900MW Silicon-based
Thin Film Solar Energy Panel BIPV Modules Assembly
Lines) which were cancelled, other connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions
between the Group and Hanergy Holding and its
affiliates will remain in force.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
MIEJE n—_l-nﬂﬂ};z *ﬁ'

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) S AC-E )
B. Delivery of Production Lines to Hanergy Holding B. MBEEZEREERNEER
Group
The Group entered into two master sales contracts AEBECREZREERS N —ZF
with Hanergy Holding for the sale of equipment and M- ——FFT UMD EHEER - A
turnkey production lines for the manufacture of thin MEREIER I E AN RS R EAE M
film power generation modules to Hanergy Holding REMBEEERL - TRETTHEHEZ
in 2010 and 2011, respectively. The table below BB AR IHEEREREEAEEY
shows an analysis of the related purchase capacity HMKRPIERNE BWAR DT
committed by Hanergy Holding and contract revenue
recognized in the Group’s financial statements:
2010 2011
Sales Sales
Contracts Contracts
—E-2F =—EB——F
HESR HESR
Total purchase capacity as stipulated fHEARITE FREHEELE 3,000MW 7,000MW
in the sales contracts
Purchase capacity of module Eﬁzi_? RE+FZA=+—1,300MW 7,000MW
equipment and production lines RN B A %E%iﬁ
committed by Hanergy Holding as 15F RN EERRERE
at 31/12/2015
HK$ 'mil HK$'mil
H&E5T H&8T
Total contract sum ARBEERE 25,800 61,270
To the extent purchase capacity BREERIER B AERN
committed by Hanergy Holding: FREBEERE -
(i)  Contract sum attributed to the (i) EEAGEAVEREEEREIEL 9,672 61,270
purchase capacity committed AREE
(i) Total cumulative down payment (ii) @ﬁ:%—ﬂi‘l—_ﬂ 1,922 1,080
made by Hanergy Holding as at =+—H ERIERD
31/12/2015 NHERERFFANTE S
(i) Contract revenue (net of (i) BRWA(BIHBREER
VAT and relevant taxation) AT IE ) MER -
recognized in:
Year ended 31/12/2010 HE—ZT—ZTF+=A 2,310 0
=t— Eﬂzﬁf
Year ended 31/12/2011 BE-FT——%F+t-A 1,446 1,009
=+t—HIFE
Year ended 31/12/2012 BE—_Z——H+-f1 0 2,756
—+—HLEFE
Year ended 31/12/2013 (E-T—=F+=A8 0 3,243
—t+—HIEFE
Year ended 31/12/2014 BE-_T—WNF+=-A4 3,102 2,853
=t+—HBIEFE
Year ended 31/12/2015 HEZZT—RF+=A 134 (68)
=+—HLEFE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
MIEJE n—_l-nﬂﬂ};z *ﬁ'

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

R EREEEEARAR

Delivery of Production Lines to Hanergy Holding
Group (continued)

Pursuant to the two master sales contracts,
production lines delivered by the Group to Hanergy
Holding will undergo several phases from move-
in and installation, followed by Start of Production
(“SOP”) and then End of Ramping (“EOR"), before
the production lines can begin mass production.

During the year under review, the Group did not
deliver any production lines to Hanergy Holding's
manufacturing bases.

Production lines were delivered and installed to
Hanergy Holding’s manufacturing bases. The Group is
now expeditiously finetuning the manufacturing lines.

(i)  Heyuan (Guangdong) Fab 2.0 Program and CIGS
supplementary line.

Production lines have successfully undergone the
SOP stage.

()  New Connected Transactions — Solar Panel
Master Supply Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 30 April 2015, in view of the business
needs of the Group for solar energy panel
to develop its businesses and the fact that
additional time is required for preparing and
finalizing the circular on continuing connected
transactions as referred to by the announcement
dated 18 February 2015:

On 30 April 2015, the Company and Hanergy
Holding enter into the Solar Panel Supply
Agreement in relation to the supply of solar
panels by Hanergy Group to the Group, which
was expired on 31 December 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

(1)

New Connected Transactions — Solar Panel
Master Supply Agreement (continued)

Pursuant to the Solar Panel Supply Agreement,
the Hanergy Group has agreed to supply the
relevant solar energy panels to the Group.
Depending upon the business needs of the
Group, the Group will enter into individual supply
sub-contract(s) under the Supply Agreement
with the Hanergy Group.

Based on the needs of the Group, it is expected
that the Group will acquire the following
quantities of solar panels for the financial year
ending 31 December 2015:

(1) BIPV thin-film solar energy panels of
110,000 sg. m.;

(2)  CIGS solar energy panels of 30MW; and

(3) CIGS flexible solar energy panels of 5GMW.

The annual cap in relation to the Supply
Agreement shall not exceed RMB357,700,000
for the year. The annual cap was arrived at
after arm’s length negotiations with reference
to, among others, the Group’s demand on
solar energy panels, the business needs of
the Group and the historical figures. Given the
relevant percentage ratios in respect of the cap
exceeds 0.1% but are less than 5%, the Solar
Panel Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting
and announcement requirements but are exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
c. ()

New Connected Transactions — Continuing
Service Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 8 March 2016, MiaSolé Hi-Tech, a
subsidiary of the Group entered into a service
agreement for a term of three years expiring on
31 December 2018 with MiaSolé, a subsidiary of
Hanergy Holding, pursuant to which MiaSolé Hi-
Tech agreed to provide to MiaSolé general and
administration and all support/office services for
a monthly fixed fee of US$67,500.

The consideration was arrived at after arm’s
length negotiations between MiaSolé Hi-Tech
and MiaSolé after taking into consideration of,
among others, the services to be provided by
MiaSolé HiTech under the Agreement.

Given the relevant percentage ratios in respect
of such service agreement are less than
0.1%, the agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute exempted
de minimis continuing connected transaction
on the part of the Company and are exempt
from the reporting, announcement and the
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥XKEREEE)

D. Group Structure D. &£HEZEHE
During the year, the Group made adjustment to its TR AEBEREAMAE  ZEIH
structure. Business units were adjusted to be divided AFERIE E I8 o % A Ul
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Companies, and (8) Global Solar Power Solutions
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

D.

1.

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Group Structure (continued)

Hanergy Thin Film Solar Power Investment
Companies

This business unit is mainly in charge of companies
engaged in investment in and operation of solar
photovoltaic power stations under the Group.
Its principal activities include the development,
investment, construction, operational management of
thin film solar photovoltaic power stations, and related
consultation service business. The total installed
capacity completed after construction amounted to
approximately 300MW, mainly located in regions with
abundant solar energy resources such as Xinjiang,
Qinghai and Ningxia.

Product Incubator Center

During the year, the Group established the Hanergy
Product Incubator Center, an internet company
devoted to addressing users' needs with solar thin
film technology. The core objective of this unit is to
target at outdoor areas as application scenario and
create the “Industry Ecosystem” based on internet
technology to address users’ needs. The corporate
strategy is to leverage on “thin film wafers” as its
core competitive advantage, and use innovative
business model to build the world's leading trading
platform on outdoor application products with solar
thin film technology.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

D.

3.

Group Structure (continued)
Mobile Energy Business Group

This business unit focuses on the mobile distributed
generation technology, adopting Alta Devices'’
technology to supply energy on a mobile, round-
the-clock, and highly efficient manner through the
dynamic integration of energy storage, control, and
information communication technologies. Alta Devices
has achieved world records in both single-junction
and double-junction cells. During the year, the Alta
Devices’ Pilot made substantial improvement in
terms of cell efficiency, yield rate and output, thereby
achieving steady and sustained bulk production, and
successfully transforming into a small-scale mass
production line. At present, factory affair reform,
installation and testing for new equipment, and ramp-
up of production capacity are still ongoing. The Group
has completed the independent development and
equipment design of core equipment, and started
the procurement of key spare parts to prepare for
further scale-up of the U.S. production line. In respect
of the market side, the Group completed the orders
from some of the major strategic customers, such as
delivering the cell product order for high-altitude long-
endurance (HALE) drones from a globally reputational
enterprise.

Distributed Energy Business Group

This business unit focuses on Solibro’s technology
that converts solar energy directly into power by
adoption of thin film power modules. Rooftop
installation makes sufficient use of rooftop space to
reduce land occupancy, symbolizing future trend for
solar energy utilization.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

D.

5.

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Group Structure (continued)
Flexible Consumer Business Group

This business unit is engaged in product R&D,
production, sale and delivery by use of the flexible co-
evaporation CIGS technology from Global Solar Energy
(GSE). During the year, GSE yielded considerable
results in improvement of conversion efficiency
and reduction of production costs. In respect of
the automatic production line dedicated to the IClI
technology, the Group completed the one-stop design
and installation solutions with independent intellectual
property rights, so as to get well-prepared for large-
scale mass production in the future.

GSE, a subsidiary under the Group, which is located in
Tucson, Arizona in the United States, is in charge of
R&D and production of modules and wafers, as well
as sales in Europe and the United States. Its China
team is in charge of sale and market development in
China and Asia Pacific markets. During the year, the
Tucson plant has prepared for the sales of IClI Sub-
module and standardized module, which are expected
to enrich the source of income from the Group's third
party sales in the future.

Flexible Industrial Applications Business Group

Flexible Industrial Applications Business Group
is devoted to the development and production of
CIGS flexible thin film solar panels using Miasolé's
magnetron sputtering technology. It has a Miasolé
Hi-Tech Technology R&D Center located in Silicon
Valley, the United States, where over 170 licensed
royalties have been applied around the world.
Related products have obtained certifications from
authentic institutions, e.g. TUV Rheinland and UL. The
technologies reached world-class standard. Currently,
the Company has delivered CIGS flexible thin film
panel production lines of approximately 1T00MW to its
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

D.

7.

Group Structure (continued)
Hanergy Equipment Companies

Hanergy Equipment Companies, consisting of Apollo
Precision Beijing, Apollo Precision Fujian and Apollo
Precision Kunming, is an equipment business platform
integrating the development, manufacturing, sales and
services of equipment. The equipment manufacturing
encompasses chemical vapor deposition (CVD)
equipment, physical vapor deposition (PVD)
equipment, co-evaporation deposition equipment, roll-
to-roll deposition equipment, and other customized
equipment. These companies are also implementing
the localization of equipment manufacturing for the
Group.

Global Solar Power Solutions Group

Hanergy Global Solar Power Solutions Group has the
four business units, for Residential, Agriculture, BIPV,
Power Stations and the regional sales companies to
promote residential photovoltaic power generation,
BIPV applications, photovoltaic applications on
agricultural greenhouses, and provision of one-
stop services in consultation, design, construction,
grid connection, operation and maintenance of
photovoltaic power stations. A leading end-user sales
channel in the photovoltaic industry was set up to
make the Group’s products and solutions accessible
to real end users. The Group's sales results are
expected to record sustained growth, enhancing its
leading position in the photovoltaic retail business
segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
E.

Share Subscription Agreement with Independent E.
Third Party and Termination of Equipment Sales
and Technical Services Contracts

(i) Extension of Macrolink Share Subscription
Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 27 February 2015, in relation to, among
other things, (i) the subscription agreement
dated 27 February 2015 entered into between
the Group and Macrolink New Resources
Holding Company Limited, pursuant to which
Macrolink New Resources Holding Limited
agreed to subscribe for, and the Group agreed
to allot and issue to Macrolink New Resources
Holding Company Limited, 1,500,000,000 new
shares of HK$0.0025 each in the share capital of
the Group at a subscription price of HK$3.64 per
subscription share; and (ii) the Sales and Service
Contracts dated 26 February 2015 entered into
between Apollo Precision (Fujian) Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
and Shandong Macrolink New Resources
Technology Limited, in relation to the supply
of BIPV production line equipment at a total
capacity of 600 MW at a total consideration of
US$660,000,000.

Reference is made to the Group's
announcement dated 2 November 2015,
after arm’s length negotiations between the
Group and Macrolink New Resources Holding
Company Limited. Both parties entered into a
supplemental agreement on 31 October 2015 to
extend the long stop date to 30 April 2016.

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

E.

Share Subscription Agreement with Independent
Third Party and Termination of Equipment Sales
and Technical Services Contracts (continued)

(ii)

Termination of Baota Share Subscription
Agreement and Equipment Sales and
Technical Services Contracts

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 30 March 2015, in relation to, among
other things, (i) the subscription agreement
dated 30 March 2015 entered into between
the Group and Baota Petrochemical Group Co.,
Limited, pursuant to which Baota Petrochemical
Group Co., Limited agreed to subscribe for,
and the Group agreed to allot and issue to
Baota Petrochemical Group Co., Ltd., not less
than 300,000,000 new shares of HK$0.0025
each in the share capital of the Group and not
more than 3,000,000,000 new shares at the
subscription price of HK$5.38 per subscription
share; and (i) the Sales and Service Contracts
dated 30 March 2015 entered into between
Apollo Precision (Fujian) Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and
Baota Investment Holding Company Limited, in
relation to the supply of BIPV production line
equipment at a total capacity of 1,200 MW at a
total consideration of US$1,320,000,000.

Reference is made to the Group's
announcement dated 2 December 2015, as
certain of the conditions precedent to the Baota
Subscription Agreement have not been satisfied
(or waived) on or before the long stop date of
the Baota subscription, and the parties to the
Baota Subscription Agreement have not reached
any agreement in relation to the extension of
the long stop date, the Subscription Agreement
has been terminated and be of no further effect,
and that Baota Petrochemical Group Co., Limited
would not be required to subscribe for shares
from the Group, and neither party shall have any
claim against the other.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
E.

Share Subscription Agreement with Independent E.
Third Party and Termination of Equipment Sales
and Technical Services Contracts (continued)

(i) Termination of Baota Share Subscription
Agreement and Equipment Sales and
Technical Services Contracts (continued)

On 30 March 2016, owing to changes in
business arrangement, Fujian Apollo reached
agreement with Baota Investment to terminate
the Baota Equipment Sales Contract and
Technical Services Contract, and enter into a
termination agreement with immediate effect.
As at the date of this announcement, Baota
Investment has not made any payment to
the Group in respect of the Equipment Sales
Contract and Service Contract, and the Group
has not delivered any production line equipment
and/or provided any service in respect of
production line equipment. Upon termination,
neither party shall be liable to the other parties
for any further obligation or responsibility in
relation to the Baota Equipment Sales Contract
and Technical Services Contract, nor could have
any claim against the other party. Termination
of the Equipment Sales Contract and Technical
Services Contract would not result in other
encumbrances on any of the parties.

(iii) Termination of Manshi Share Subscription
Agreement and Equipment Sales and
Technical Services Contracts

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 30 March 2015, in relation to, among
other things, (i) the subscription agreement
dated 30 March 2015 entered into between the
Group and Inner Mongolia Manshi Investment
Group Company Limited, pursuant to which
Inner Mongolia Manshi Investment Group
Company Limited agreed to subscribe for, and
the Group agreed to allot and issue to Inner
Mongolia Manshi Investment Group Company
Limited, not less than 110,000,000 new
shares and not more than 1,100,000,000 new
shares at the subscription price of HK$5.38
per subscription share; and (ii) the Sales and
Service Contracts dated 30 March 2015 entered
into between Fujian Apollo and Beijing Manshi
Investment Company Limited, in relation to the
supply of BIPV production line equipment at a
total capacity of 600 MW at a total consideration
of US$660,000,000.
S5EARARF HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

E.

Share Subscription Agreement with Independent
Third Party and Termination of Equipment Sales
and Technical Services Contracts (continued)

(iii) Termination of Manshi Share Subscription
Agreement and Equipment Sales and
Technical Services Contracts (continued)

Reference is made to the Group's
announcement dated 2 December 2015, as
certain of the conditions precedent to the
Manshi Subscription Agreement have not been
satisfied (or waived) on or before the long stop
date of the Beijing Manshi subscription, and
the parties to the Beijing Manshi Subscription
Agreement have not reached any agreement in
relation to the extension of the long stop date,
the Subscription Agreement has been terminated
and be of no further effect, and that Inner
Mongolia Manshi Investment Group Company
Limited would not be required to subscribe for
shares from the Group, and neither party shall
have any claim against the other.

On 30 March 2016, owing to changes in
business arrangement, Fujian Apollo reached
agreement with Beijing Manshi to terminate the
Manshi Equipment Sales Contract and Technical
Services Contract, and enter into a termination
agreement with immediate effect. As at the
date of this announcement, Beijing Manshi has
not made any payment to the Group in respect
of the Equipment Sales Contract and Technical
Services Contract, and the Group has not
delivered any production line equipment and/
or provided any service in respect of production
line equipment. Upon termination, neither
party shall be liable to the other parties for any
further obligation or responsibility in relation
to the Manshi Equipment Sales Contract and
Technical Services Contract, nor could have
any claim against the other party. Termination
of the Equipment Sales Contract and Technical
Services Contract would not result in other
encumbrances on any of the parties.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

E. Share Subscription Agreement with Independent
Third Party and Termination of Equipment Sales
and Technical Services Contracts (continued)

(iii) Termination of Manshi Share Subscription

Agreement and Equipment Sales and
Technical Services Contracts (continued)

The total subscription fee in respect of the
Baota Subscription Agreement and the Manshi
Subscription Agreement is around HK$22.058
billion. Termination of the Baota Subscription
Agreeement and the Manshi Subscription
Agreement could cause material impact on
the cash flow plan of the Group. In addition,
termination of the Baota Sales and Service
Contracts, and the Beijing Manshi Sales and
Service Contracts, would incur loss to the Group
in potential revenue of around HK$10.3 billion
and around HK$5.15 billion respectively.

F. Categorization of Downstream Applications

Ground-mounted Power Stations

The Group has developed 6 power stations,
capitalizing on the land resources from different
mainland regions including Xinjiang, Yunnan,
Henan and Shanxi etc. and the Group’s thin film
solar energy panel products, with an estimated
total installed capacity exceeding 170MW. In
August 2015, the Group disposed of the entire
equity interests in Columbia Solar Energy LLC
to PSEG Solar California LLC. Such transaction
generated a revenue of approximately
HK$430,000,000 to the Group. Columbia Solar
Energy LLC owned the 19MW Pittsburgh
ground-mounted power station project in
California, U.S. Being pollution-free, they have
superior performance in power generation
under weak light condition and favorable cost
advantage, in line with the development trend
of large-scale ground-mounted thin film power
stations. The Group believes that more ground-
mounted power stations will undergo grid
connection in 2016, thereby raising the Group's
tariff income.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

F.  Categorization of Downstream Applications (continued)

° Distributed Energy

Green Construction

In respect of residential rooftop power
stations, the Group employs photovoltaic
modules with higher price-performance
ratio, which have obtained certifications
from international and mainland authentic
institutions such as the China Quality
Certification Centre, TUV Rheinland (TUV)
and CE. High-performance solar energy
panels are installed on rooftops with racks.
Through series and parallel connection,
square matrix of solar panels are formed,
which absorb sun rays and generate direct
current, which is converted into alternating
current utilizable for home appliances
after being submitted to inverters. Surplus
energy power can be transmitted back
to the grid. As of the date of this annual
report, accumulated placement of orders
for the Group's mainland residential
systems exceed 7,100 sets, which
contribute considerable revenue to the
Group. During the year, the Group has
adopted the distributor sales model. The
Group has contracted with more than
1,300 distributors in total, of which core
distributors accounted for more than 90%.

The Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with IKEA on sale of residential
solar systems in September 2012 in the
United Kingdom. In 2014, the cooperation
was extended to other European markets.
Both parties decided to discontinue
cooperation with effect from 1 November
2015. As at 31 December 2015, revenue
generated from IKEA sales in Europe was
approximately HK$115,000,000. The Group
is expanding its overseas market actively to
compensate for the impact of discontinuing
cooperation with IKEA.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

F.  Categorization of Downstream Applications (continued)

o Distributed Energy (continued)

EEEEREEEEBRALT

Green Construction (continued)

In respect of industrial/commercial rooftop
power stations, by adoption of thin film
power modules, the Group employs a
distributed power generation system
for application on industrial/commercial
rooftops. It is a new and promising
mode of integration of power generation
and energy with strong development
prospect. It upholds the principle of
“close proximity”: power generation in
close proximity, grid connection in close
proximity, and utilization in close proximity,
thereby shortening the distance of power
transmission, and solving the problem
of power loss due to voltage conversion
and long-distance transmission; it is
characterized by making sufficient use of
rooftops, and reducing land occupancy
and traffic off-grid applications, superb
performance under weak light condition,
blockage of ultraviolet and infrared rays,
as well as thermal insulation and heat-
proof functions. In 2015, distributed
power stations generated tariff income
of approximately RMB10 million to
the Group. Over the past few years, a
number of commercial projects selected
the Group’s thin film solar modules for
rooftop applications, including the 3.5MW
distributed project of Guangdong CSR Rail
Transport Company Limited (" E R EE
BRBEWAMRANDA"), and the 9.07MW
rooftop power station project of Anhui
Leoch Power.

¥KEEEE)
F. TREREBSE(E)
o SHRBE(E)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

REZHE(E)

ITE¥EETH @ A%
ERAEEREEHEG D
HRAESEGANIEmER
JBErEZe—E@Him . A5
ERERASMNEEMER
SLEMBLER  vEEE
BE - BIWHE  piaeE
AHMRA - mAENE&E
BOBMATENEAERRE
BEHPMIEENE HE
AEFHOFBREIE  BRL L
MG B EBEER -« 35%
MR AT - AR SR INE RATHN
BUREBRAREI R -
RZZE—RF »HAE
uh AR EE A RA 9308 A
RE2EBWNG - RBEH
F PO IWMEBETER
REBERESAE 8
FEREEHNESBER
AR A RI3EMWD = 8
B ZHEIELEIRIOIMW
EIEEWEES -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

F.  Categorization of Downstream Applications (continued)

o Distributed Energy (continued)

o Green Construction (continued)

In respect of BIPV, the Group utilizes
insulated glass made of photovoltaic
modules in replacement of construction
materials, providing multiple functions
such as thermal insulation, heat-proof and
noises reduction, catering to buildings’
lighting need, and offering active energy
saving and electricity supply. Based on
different applications, functions and forms
of installation, BIPV systems are mainly
categorized into photovoltaic curtain walls,
photovoltaic skylight ceilings, photovoltaic
sunshades and so on. As at the date of this
annual report, the Group has entered into
contracts with a total amount exceeding
RMB15 million. It is expected that in 2016
the Group’s sales figures in BIPV contracts
will continue to increase rapidly.

Agricultural Greenhouses

By incorporating solar energy into modern
agriculture, and installing power generation
boards above greenhouse canopies, power can
be generated by use of photovoltaic solar panels.
It makes full use of the spare space on top of
a farm shed, and provides necessary electric
power for automatic watering, illumination,
ventilation and heating within the shed. This new
form of sunlight greenhouse is built in bilayer
structure, integrating agricultural cultivation
with photovoltaic power generation. Its high
thermal insulation is suitable for growing crops
in the northeastern region of China. It does
not solely boost agricultural income, but also
achieve a “"win-win" situation for both economic
and power generation benefits of agricultural
crops plantation. Up to now, the Group has
entered into agricultural project contracts with
an aggregate amount of approximately RMB1
billion. It is expected that in 2016 the Group’s
new agricultural greenhouse sales contracts will
rapidly increase and bring considerable revenue
to the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

F.  Categorization of Downstream Applications (continued)

o Mobile Energy

R EREEEEARAR

Rapid Deployment Solar System (RDSS)

In view of the experience gained from
application of the rapid deployment solar
system in the Beijing prix race of the FIA
Formula E Championship, the Group plans
to produce RDSS for purchase and use
by the public in the future. Advantages
of RDSS include high power generation
efficiency, light in weight, coupled with
safety, easy installation and mobility,
thereby catering to power consumption
needs in various off-grid circumstances,
for instance, ad-hoc and urgent power
consumption during major races, emergent
disaster relief, mobile medical services,
field exploration and outdoor events.

Portable Chargers

Intelligent products are increasingly
becoming an indispensable part of urban
life. In response to such trend, the Group
introduced portable chargers with solar
flexible thin film chips. Under adequate
sunlight in outdoor areas, it can provide
urgent power charging for most digital
products such as smart watches, smart
wristbands, mobile phones and electronic
books. The Group has great concern about
product safety. All of its portable power
charging products have been certified
by CE, the Federal Communications
Commission in the United States, and
abided by the European Union’s directive
on Restriction of Hazardous Substances
applied on electrical and electronic
equipment, so as to ensure that each
customer can enjoy new energy products
with safety.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

F.

Categorization of Downstream Applications (continued)

The Group anticipates that the photovoltaic mobile
energy market has huge market potential, and
symbolizes human’s ultimate mode of solar energy
utilization. Given the avant-garde nature of the
“mobile energy” concept, the product incubation is
not adequately mature. Therefore it takes time for the
market and public users to undergo certain cognitive
and recognition process.

Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation Program

The Group took part in a range of photovoltaic
poverty alleviation programs during the year. The
Group provided modules (e.g. a-Si/ GSE/ Solibro)
tailored to the local environment, sunlight conditions
and buildings. The scope of programs covers
Jiangsu, Yunnan, Guizhou, Shanxi, Gansu, Anhui,
Hebei and Guangdong provinces, (e.g. the Sixian
County Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation Program in
Anhui Province, the Linfen City Photovoltaic Poverty
Alleviation Program in Shanxi Province, and the
Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation Program for the
Shanxi Xunyi Secondary School).

¥XKEREEE)

F.

THERBRESE(E)

AEEFE KRB BHERTESEREE
REOTIHES - RABFBARGEZ K
BEA - R BRI BHERIBER
DR EmIBE W ARRAKI - Bt
MERABHEE —ERM LR RN B
=

KRKEEE

AEEFR2HEZEAXKKEBIES -
AREBEAENWRE BRBESFR
EEY BEBHRHEMFAMG(:
a-Si/ GSE_Solibro) 18 B # & £ &
T E2Fm - 8M m HiE %
BT RERE S (F 0 - 2 EONE
HRKEBEIEE - IUARD HIRIKEIEE
kiR eHr e RkEEE)

—Z—REFH  ANNUAL REPORT 2015

35



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

FUTURE OUTLOOK

A.

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Current Condition of Global Solar Energy Market

The worldwide demand for photovoltaic installations
rose from 1 GW in 2004 to 57GW in 2015, scoring
a growth rate of over 20% every year. Such growth
not only outperforms the development pattern of any
other industry, but also outdoes the development
of any other forms of new energy. According to
the provisional data released by the data analysis
company GTM Research, the global solar energy
deployed capacity has increased by 34% to 59GW in
2015 as compared with the annual total capacity in
2014, and is expected to reach 64GW in 2016, when
the global installed capacity will reach 321GW.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

A.

Current Condition of Global Solar Energy Market
(continued)

Contrary to the reduction and decline of production
capacity in the other industrial and energy sectors,
the newly installed capacity of the PV industry in
China in 2015 still maintained a substantial growth,
with accumulative installed capacity unprecedentedly
surpassing that of Germany, and ranked No. 1 in the
world. Looking ahead, China will remain as the major
incremental market around the globe. According to
the statistics from CPIA, China’'s newly installed
PV capacity reached approximately 15GW in 2015,
representing a year-on-year growth of more than
40%, ranked the first globally for three consecutive
years; with accumulative installed capacity of
approximately 43GW, China accounted for around
1/5 of the world total capacity. Jeremy Rifkin, an
internationally renowned social critic and best-seller
author, pointed out that the five pillars of the Third
Industrial Revolution include clean energy, distributed
energy structure, energy storage equipment, smart
grid/smart traffic, and logistics network. The dynamic
amalgamation between clean energy and the internet
will give rise to sweeping reforms on the society as
well as the economy.

The momentum of rebound since 2013, has been
sustained in China’'s photovoltaic industry. Supported
by the flourishing development in the international
photovoltaic market, particularly in China, the
utilization rates of photovoltaic enterprises’ production
capacity were effectively improved, the industry
scale recorded steady growth, the technological level
continued to improve and corporate profits were
enhanced. Under the guidance of “the Belt and Road”
initiative on the one hand, and driven by international
trade protection on the other, China’'s photovoltaics
enterprises has picked up their “going global” paces.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Policy Support from the Chinese Government

Looking ahead to the year of 2016, driven by policy
guidance and market force, the development of
China’s photovoltaics industry is going to prosper.
With the gradual saturation of ground-mounted power
stations in the northwestern region of China, as well
as the realization of grid parity for PV power, the
mainland’s distributed photovoltaic power generation
will face a peak stage of rapid development. With
the maturity of energy storage technology, it is
expected that the construction of distributed solar
power stations will become popular in the eastern
and southern regions. However, problems such as
financing, grid curtailment, land use and varying
quality of photovoltaic power stations will also
constrain the industry’s development. To address
these issues, the Chinese government released a
series of policies in 2015 to regulate the development
of the industry. Under the policy environment of
promotion of distributed power generation by the
Chinese government, the Group as part of the
photovoltaic industry expects active involvement in
the government’s photovoltaic projects in the future.

Installation Targets for Photovoltaic Power in the
“Thirteenth Five-Year Plan”

On 15 December 2015, the National Energy
Administration published the “Invitation Letter for
Opinions on Solar Energy Development According
to the 13th Five-Year Plan” (<8R &k KB 8 F A
[+=R IZEREIZFHEKY). According to the Plan,
installed capacity of solar power generation will reach
160GW and the annual power generation capacity
will reach 170 billion kWh by the end of 2020. Annual
total investment amount will be approximately
RMB200 billion. Among which, installed capacity will
be 80GW for ground-mounted power stations, 70GW
for distributed power stations, and 10GW for solar
energy thermal power. The solar power generation
industry will contribute RMB1,000 billion to China's
GDP, with employments of over 2 million people.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

Continuous Launch of the Poverty Alleviation
Photovoltaic Program

On 9 March 2015, the Division of New Energy under
the National Energy Administration issued the “Letter
Disseminating the QOutline for the Implementation
Plan on Poverty Alleviation Photovoltaic Pilot Project”
KEREEXARKEARERIRRHIRNADOK)),
which requested for opinions on the implementation
plan of poverty alleviation photovoltaic pilot tests in
the region. Relevant opinions or recommendations
will be forwarded to the Institute of Water Resources
and Hydropower Planning and Design. Currently,
poverty alleviation photovoltaic program has already
been included in the national strategies. In 2020,
poverty alleviation photovoltaic projects of total 3 GW
will be set up to lift millions of people from poverty.

Intensification of Electricity Reform, Upgrade and
Standardization of Photovoltaic Industry

On 15 March 2015, The Central Committee of
Chinese Communist Party (“"CCCP"”) and the
State Council published the "“Opinions on Further
Deepening the Reform of Electricity System” (B
E—BREENEFRENETER)) (No. 9 [2015] of
the CPC Central Committee). The Opinions specified
that there were difficulties in the development
and use of new energy and renewable energy due
to unsound development mechanism. The new
electricity reform will provide open access for fair
connection to power grid, establish new mechanism
for distributed power supply, while fostering the
positive and rapid growth of the electricity industry
and promoting structural transformation and industrial
upgrading.

RRBE (&)
B. HEBNWBEXEE)
BREERARBETE

—HF=RNE - BRERBDHAE
BRI T AR EECRKEARE R
DEREFAFOEK) BRERTER

HAXRKEARNERSR  EHE
R EZEEEEKEKNR S RET

- BRATERIKEE KB AR KBRS
“ETFRERITR(GW) RREKE
HE  EEBERACORE -

RIELEHIRE XNREEARRRE

—HEZA+THA  FHPREH
BT EN B RBA R 1 — 2R B N BB I B E
METER(FRE(ZZ—H)IIFK)IX
e BRPRERELY  AERMEH @
el %%TﬂTﬁi%ﬁ%%ﬂ%Eﬁ
Mg - TENREBHARERD T
A @4n%i@ﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬂ 1R
ENTEXGFXRBERE  HoEEER
MEZEFR -

\ﬂ

FEF%H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

39



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

Intensification of Electricity Reform, Upgrade and
Standardization of Photovoltaic Industry (continued)

On 1 June 2015, the National Energy Administration,
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
and the Certification and Accreditation Administration
published the “Opinions on Promoting the Application
and Industrial Upgrading of Advanced Photovoltaic
Products” ((BARfEELRENRRMEMmERANESE
FHHHER)), which proposed to promote the role
of market in resources allocation, raise the market
admission standards for photovoltaic products, take
the lead in photovoltaic technological progress and
industrial upgrading, support the development of
advanced technical products for market expansion
and accelerate the elimination inferior products.

On 2 December 2015, the Ministry of Land and
Resources promulgated the “Standard on Monitoring
Land Use for Construction Projects of Photovoltaic
Power Stations” (( K E B uh T2 H B A 1% 5 58
fZ)), with effect from 1 January 2016. The overall
framework of the Standard was divided into four
sections, namely basic rules, general standard on
monitoring land use for construction projects of
photovoltaic power stations, individual indicators
and appendices. The Standard specified that land
use inspection, supply and usage in relation to
photovoltaic power projects should be in compliance
with the land use indicators and relevant policy on
land supply.

Quality Check on Photovoltaic Power Stations

On 7 April 2015, the National Energy Administration
issued the “Notice for Commencement of Quality
Inspection on Photovoltaic Power Generation Works
Nationwide” (RFARZ2BEAXRBEEIREERE
B 3@ %1 )). This is China's first large-scale quality
inspection on photovoltaic power stations, involving
ground-mounted photovoltaic power stations and
distributed photovoltaic projects which have been put
into operation. The inspection was focused on two
aspects including the quality in respect of project
construction and operation, and the quality in respect
of major equipment and components.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

No Restriction on the Scale of Distributed
Photovoltaic Power Generation

On 20 December 2015, the National Energy
Administration issued the “Guiding Opinion on
Optimizing the Production Scale of Solar Energy
Power Generation and Allocating Projects by Way
of Competition” (Proposed Draft). The Draft pointed
out that rooftop distributed photovoltaic and ground-
mounted distributed photovoltaic power stations
which generated power for own use, would adopt
the previous standard and would not be subject to
the annual construction scale limit. For other projects
of photovoltaic power stations, the National Energy
Administration would issue an annual construction
scale limit for photovoltaic power stations to
various provinces (regions and municipalities) in
the beginning of each year. The Development and
Reform Commission in various provinces (regions
and municipalities) would determine the proportion
between centralized and distributed power
generation, and adopt competitive allocation of
targets by way of open evaluation and bidding.

Further Strengthening of Financing Support

On 22 December 2015, the People’s Bank of China
(PBOC) promulgated the Announcement No. 39,
“List of Projects Supported by Green Bonds”. The
Announcement stated that with an aim to accelerate
the construction of ecological civilization, introduce
green development to financial institutions, and
promote the economy’s structural transformation and
upgrade as well as change in economic development
pattern, support would be provided to financial
institutions in issuance of green financial bonds,
and the fund raised would be used to sustain the
growth of green industries. Wind power generation,
photovoltaic power generation, smart power grid
and energy internet, distributed energy, utilization
of solar thermal power, hydropower generation and
utilization of other new energies were included in the
document.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

R EREEEEARAR

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

Latest Benchmark Tariff for Photovoltaic Power
Generation

On 24 December 2015, the National Development
and Reform Commission promulgated the “Notice
on Optimizing the Policy for the Benchmark On-grid
Tariff of Onshore Wind Power and Photovoltaic Power
Generation" (BN T=EkE LEAE - X IKEE LHEZT
EEKRERBAM)) (No. 3044 [2015] of the National
Development and Reform Commission). According to
the new policy, benchmark on-grid tariffs of RMBO0.8
for Category I, RMB0.88 for Category |l and RMB0.98
for Category Il would be implemented for newly
registered photovoltaic power station projects starting
from 1 January 2016.

Adjusting Production Capacity Planning and
Accelerating the Construction of New Production
Base

Adjustments will be made to the planning of
production capacity. The emphasis will be put on the
construction of a new production base for Copper
Indium Gallium Selenide (“CIGS") technology and thin
film GaAs technology as early as possible, to bring
out large-scale production capacity of flexible, high-
efficiency thin film solar cells. With the development
of the market in the future, demand for mobile and
wearable photovoltaic applications will be surging.
Consequently, the Group will regard Alta Devices,
GSE and Miasolé as the focal point of development in
coming years to quickly advance implementation work
of sophisticated technologies and construction of the
production base.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

D.

Diversification of Sales Model and Full
Implementation of “Double Drives” Strategic
Model

From the adoption of direct sales and self-established
channel such as direct-sale stores for product sales
in the past, now to the form of distributor franchise
cooperation, the Group has established sales
channels jointly with distributors and achieved profit
sharing. In the future, the Group will implement the
“double drives"” strategic model: firstly, the Group
will, relied on the foundation laid in 2015, continue to
develop the residential business based on distributors
network; secondly, the Group will develop commercial
business targeted at major customers, with a focus
on BIPV/agricultural/industrial/commercial rooftop
power stations. Moreover, Hanergy has cooperated
with third party sales platforms, and started up
electronic businesses in Tmall and JD by establishing
the “Hanergy Shop”, which is an official e-commerce
and customer management services platform. In
addition, a mobile consumer-end App has been
developed to deliver the best user experience through
big data management in the era of mobile internet.

In advocating residential photovoltaic power
generation system and distributed power generation,
the Group will endeavor to develop new application
products, initiate full range of cooperation with
other industries through the “industry+" model,
establish an open innovative platform for applications
development, speed up new product development
and nurture new businesses.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

E. Implementation of Organizational Reform for
Prompt Response to Market

In order to enable the Group’'s organization to
become more focused and efficient, the Group will
revolutionize the original organizational structure
which consists of the upstream, mid-stream and
down-stream silos, and establish the mobile energy
business group, flexible industrial application business
group, flexible household business group, distributed
energy business group, Hanergy Global Solar Power
& Applications Group, and product incubator center.
Being market-oriented, the three-dimensional
organizational structure can lay solid organization
foundation for the organization to maintain close
relationship with customers, give prompt response
and enhance sales.

2015 is a year full of twists and turns to the Group.
As affected by trading halt, the Group recorded a
substantial decrease in profit, while many of its
operations were forced to suspend, resulting in
a pinch of the Group's reputation. In face of the
temporary plight, the Group, after learning a lesson
from such experience, will spare no effort in adhering
to the conviction of “using clean energy to change
the world”, leveraging on the technologies and
advantages in the field of thin film solar power, and
expanding its market share.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group have interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of HK$1,182,958,000 (31
December 2014 (restated): HK$1,355,445,000) while the
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$447,826,000 (31 December 2014 (restated):
approximately HK$3,056,916,000).

Gearing ratio (total debt less cash and cash equivalent, tax
payable, deferred income, other non-current liabilities and
deferred tax liabilities (“Net Debt”) over adjusted capital
and net debt) as at 31 December 2015 was 31.91% (31
December 2014 (restated): 1.27%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK DT

TREASURY POLICIES AND EXCHANGE &
OTHER EXPOSURES

The Group's monetary transactions and deposits continued
to be in the form of US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group expected that the exposure to exchange
rates fluctuation was not significant and therefore had not
engaged in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: Nil).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the
Group’s subsidiaries have charged assets as security for
the bank borrowings (The details are set out in note 26
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, information on
sales and purchases relating to the major customers and
suppliers is summarized as follows:
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Sales (Percentage over total sales)

The largest customer XAEP
Five largest customers AREP

Purchases (Percentage over total

purchases)
The largest supplier BAHER
Five largest suppliers KA ER

At 31 December 2015, Shandong Macrolink New
Resources Technology Limited was the Group's largest
customer. All transactions between the Group and
the customer concerned were carried out on normal
commercial terms.

HE(HEHERA D)

RE(HERBEADL)

2014

—E—NF

66% 62%
86% 98%
32% 28%
54% 57%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

(continued)

Other than Hanergy Holding and its affiliates (collectively
“Hanergy Affiliates”), none of the directors of the Company
(the "Director”), their associates, or any shareholder
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’'s issued share capital had a beneficial
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or five
largest suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PERSONNEL

The number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2015 was 2,881 (31 December 2014: 2,033) of whom 300
(31 December 2014: 395) were office administration staff.

Remuneration of employees and directors are determined
according to individual performance and the prevailing
trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis.
The Group has also contributed mandatory provident fund,
retirement funds and provided medical insurance to its
employees.

Bonuses are awarded based on individual performance
and overall Group performance, and are made to certain
employees of the Group.

SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Trading in the Company's shares has been halted with
effect from 10:40 a.m. on 20 May 2015.

The Company received a letter from the SFC dated 15
July 2015 in relation to the Rule 8(1) directive of Stock
Market Rules, in which SFC directed the Stock Exchange
to suspend trading in the securities of the Company.

The Board of the Company is currently seeking legal advice
to continue to address the concerns of the SFC, and will
seek to resume trading as soon as possible.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. During the year under review, the Group’s
revenue and operating loss were derived principally from
the manufacture of equipment and turnkey production lines
for the manufacture of both amorphous silicon based and
CIGS thin film solar photovoltaic modules and sale of solar
power stations and rooftop power stations.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of operating segment information of the Group
during the year are set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 and the state of the Group's affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 102 to 286.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend to declare a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM to be held on Friday, 20 May 2016, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 18 May 2016 to Friday, 20 May 2016 (both
dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
17 May 2016.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the year are set out in notes 30 and
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company, through its wholly owned
subsidiary, repurchased its own shares on the Stock
Exchange, details of which are as follows:
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Number of Price per share
shares SRER Aggregate
Month of repurchased Highest Lowest consideration
repurchase | A 4 BE RDEE BS 54 HmRE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT TFET
May 2015 —E—AFHA 33,724,000 7.18 7.18 242,138

The 33,724,000 repurchased Shares were cancelled on 11
June 2015.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES (continued)

The repurchase of the Company’s Shares during the year
was effected by the directors of the Company, pursuant
to the mandate granted by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting held on 15 May 2014, with a view to
benefiting shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net
asset value per share and earnings per share of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the reporting and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Group entered the following connected transactions during
the year:

() Acquisition of Alta Devices, Inc.

On 27 January 2015, Hanergy Hi-Tech Power (HK)
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Hanergy Global Investment and Sales Pte. Ltd,
a wholly owned subsidiary of ZEgZEREERBRA
Al (Hanergy Holding Group Limited*) (“Hanergy
Holding"”) entered into the conditional sale and
purchase agreement for the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of Alta Devices, Inc. at the
consideration of US$15,000,000. Hanergy Holding
is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
For details of this transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 January
2015.

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BERXSRSERERS &)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

() Equipment Sales and Technical Services (ll)

Agreement
On 4 May 2015, @G HELIERHEER AT (Apollo
Precision (Fujian) Limited*) (“Fujian Apollo ), a wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company and Hanergy
Holding entered into an equipment sales agreement
(the "Equipment Sales Agreement”), pursuant to
which Fujian Apollo (as vendor) agreed to sell and
Hanergy Holding (as purchaser) agreed to purchase 6
sets of silicon-based thin-film solar BIPV panel module
assembly line related equipment with total production
capacity of 900MW. The total consideration for this
transaction is US$175,500,000.

On 4 May 2015, Fujian Apollo and Hanergy Holding
entered into a technical services agreement (the
“Technical Services Agreement”), pursuant to
which Fujian Apollo shall provide technical services
in relation to the upgrading of some of Hanergy
Holding’s existing silicon-based thin-film solar module
production lines, with the Equipment as specified
under the Equipment Sales Agreement, such that
the production lines will be capable of producing
silicon-based thin-film BIPV panel modules. The total
consideration for this transaction is US$409,500,000.

On 14 June 2015, Fujian Apollo and Hanergy Holding
entered into a termination agreement to terminate
and cancel the Equipment Sales Agreement and the
Technical Services Agreement.

For details of these transactions, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 4 May 2015
and 15 June 2015.

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

In accordance with the reporting and announcement

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the

Group had the following continuing connected transactions

during the year:

(1

Master Supply Agreement

On 18 February 2015, the Company and Hanergy
Holding entered into the master supply agreement
(the “Master Supply Agreement”) (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated
6 March 2015 (the “Supplemental Agreement”)) in
relation to the continuing supply of solar energy panel
by Hanergy Holding and its subsidiaries (the “Hanergy
Group”) to the Group.

The annual caps for the transactions contemplated
under the Master Supply Agreement shall not exceed
(i) RMB13,610.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2015; (i) RMB13,610.6 million for the year
ending 31 December 2016; and (iii) RMB13,610.6
million for the year ending 31 December 2017. The
annual caps were determined based on the Group's
estimation of its business needs for the three
financial years ending 31 December 2017, which
include the proposed procurement quantity of solar
energy panels at the estimated market price of solar
energy panels (being the cap of the selling price
pursuant to the Master Supply Agreement).

On 20 July 2015, the Company and Hanergy Holding
entered into a termination agreement to terminate
and cancel the Master Supply Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement.

For details of this transaction, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 18 February
2015 and 20 July 2015.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(1

(1

R EREEEEARAR

Solar Panel Supply Agreement

On 30 April 2015, the Company and Hanergy Holding
entered into a solar panel supply agreement (the
“Solar Panel Supply Agreement”) in relation to the
supply of solar energy panels by Hanergy Group to
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Pursuant to the Solar Panel Supply Agreement, the
maximum aggregate consideration payable by the
Group to Hanergy Holding for the purchase of solar
energy panels for the year ended 31 December 2015
shall not exceed RMB357,700,000.

For details of this transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 April 2015.

Supplemental agreements with Sichuan Hanergy

On 17 March 2014, Fujian Apollo entered into
supplemental agreements to the original agreements
with Sichuan Hanergy. The entering into the
Supplemental Agreements constitutes a continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Details of the Supplemental
Agreements are disclosed below:

(i) Supplemental Tenancy Agreements

Pursuant to the terms of the three Supplemental
Tenancy Agreements, Fujian Apollo shall rent the
Office Premises, the Factory Premises and the
Staff Dormitory owned by Sichuan Hanergy for a
term of three years commencing from 17 March
2014 to 9 March 2017. The monthly rent for the
Office Premises shall be RMB19,680 per month.
The monthly rent for the Factory Premises shall
be RMB314,280 per month. The monthly rent
for the Staff Dormitory shall be RMB10,800 per
month. The monthly rent is determined after
arm’s length negotiations with reference to
the monthly rental of other similar premises in
Shuangliu County, Sichuan Province, the PRC.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

() Supplemental agreements with Sichuan Hanergy
(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Supplemental Equipment Lease Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental
Equipment Lease Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy
shall lease the Production Line located in the
Factory Premises with equipments associated
with the Production Line to Fujian Apollo for
a term of three year commencing from 17
March 2014 to 9 March 2017. The monthly rent
for the Production Line and the equipments
associated thereto shall be RMB1,376,986.40
per month. The monthly rent is determined after
arm’s length negotiations with reference to the
monthly rental costs of other similar equipments
used in the Production Line in the PRC.

Supplemental Technology Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental
Technology Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy shall
upon the request of Fujian Apollo to provide
relevant equipments, material and facilities to
allow Fujian Apollo to carry out research on thin
film solar energy technology development. In
particular, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon request
of Fujian Apollo to provide PECVD furnaces
for research to be conducted by Fujian Apollo.
The term of the Supplemental Technology
Agreement shall commence from 17 March 2014
to 9 March 2017. The consideration payable
by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy shall be
at RMB12,000 per PECVD furnace. Assuming
that the maximum number of PECVD furnaces
to be utilised by Fujian Apollo shall be 2,600,
the maximum aggregate consideration payable
by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy under the
Supplemental Technology Agreement shall be
RMB31,200,000. The consideration payable by
Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy is determined
after arm’s length negotiations with reference to
the costs and expenses to be borne by Sichuan
Hanergy in respect of each PECVD furnace.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BERXS REFEBEXS (#)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

() Supplemental agreements with Sichuan Hanergy (lll)
(continued)

(iii) Supplemental Technology Agreement
(continued)

Based on the monthly rental payment under
the Supplemental Tenancy Agreements and
Supplemental Equipment Lease Agreement
and the maximum anticipated consideration
payable under the Supplemental Technology
Agreement, the maximum aggregate annual
amount payable by the Group under the
Supplemental Agreements will be approximately
RMB51,860,952.

The details of the above transactions from (i) to
(iii) were set out in an announcement dated 18
March 2014.
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(IV) Sales of Spare Parts (IV) tHEEH

On 2 April 2014, Fujian Apollo entered into a Spare
Parts Sales Agreement with Hanergy Holding for
the sales of Spare Parts by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy
Holding (including any of its subsidiaries). Pursuant to
the Spare Parts Sales Agreement, Hanergy Holding
has agreed to purchase from Fujian Apollo, and
Fujian Apollo has agreed to sell to Hanergy Holding
(including any of its subsidiaries), the Spare Parts.

The selling price and payment terms for the sales of
Spare Parts are to be separately negotiated for each
Purchase Order by Fujian Apollo and Hanergy Holding.
The selling price and payment terms will be arrived at
after arm’s length negotiation between Fujian Apollo
and Hanergy Holding.

Pursuant to the Spare Parts Sales Agreement, the
price of the Spare Parts cannot be higher than the
prevailing market price of spare parts.

Pursuant to the Spare Parts Sales Agreement, the
total consideration for the sales of Spare Parts by
Fujian Apollo to Hanergy Holding (including any of
its subsidiaries) for each of the three financial years
ended 31 December 2014, 31 December 2015 and
31 December 2016 shall not exceed RMBG60 million,
RMB120 million and RMB120 million respectively

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(V)

(V)

(V)

Sales of Spare Parts (continued)

The Spare Parts Sales Agreement shall be effective
from the date on which the Spare Parts Sales
Agreement is signed and sealed by both parties up to
31 December 2016 (both dates inclusive), after which
it may be renewed on mutual agreement subject to
compliance with the Listing Rules requirements.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 3 April 2014.

Charter Flights Agreement

On 22 July 2014, Beijing Hanergy, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Charter
Flight Agreement with Hanergy Civil Aviation
Company Limited (“Hanergy Aviation”), pursuant to
which, Hanergy Aviation agreed to provide charter
flights and related services to Beijing Hanergy for
a term of three years from 23 July 2014 to 22 July
2017 (both dates inclusive).

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 23 July 2014.

Transfer of Assets and Leases and Operational
Support

On 29 October 2014, Solibro Hi-Tech, a subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the Solibro Cooperation
Agreement with Solibro, a subsidiary of Hanergy
Holding, pursuant to which (i) Solibro will lease
certain office space to Solibro HiTech; (ii) Solibro will
provide certain operational support to Solibro Hi-Tech;
(iii) Solibro will sell certain IT hardware and CIGS
machinery to Solibro Hi-Tech; (iv) Solibro Hi-Tech
will provide certain operational support to Solibro; (v)
Solibro Hi-Tech will sell certain machinery to Solibro;
and (vi) Solibro Hi-Tech will lease certain equipment
to Solibro.

Pursuant to the terms of the Solibro Cooperation
Agreement, Solibro leases to Solibro HiTech 1,600 sq.
m. of office space with 50 parking lots.

The lease shall run until 31 December 2016. The
monthly rent for the lease with applicable VAT shall
be EUR19,649.51 in total and the amount of the
annual rent for the lease shall be EUR235,794.12.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BERXS REFEBEXS (#)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(VI) Transfer of Assets and Leases and Operational (VI) EESERAEREELEE)

Support (continued)

The maximum annual fee for the lease shall not
exceed (i) EUR40,000 for the financial year ended
31 December 2014, (ii) EUR240,000 for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015, and (iii) EUR260,000
for the financial year ending 31 December 2016. The
amount of the monthly rent was determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the parties with
reference to the monthly rent of similar properties in
the area.

Pursuant to the Solibro Cooperation Agreement,
Solibro agrees to provide to Solibro Hi-Tech certain
operational support (“Solibro Operational Support”)
in IT services, laboratory and lab equipment use and
testing, sales support, telecommunication services,
payroll services and other support services. The
Solibro Operational Support shall run for a maximum
term until 31 December 2016.

The maximum annual fee for the Solibro Operational
Support with applicable VAT shall not exceed
(i) EUR107,059.88 for the financial year ended
31 December 2014, (ii) EUR898,205.16 for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015, and (iii)
EUR898,205.16 for the financial year ending 31
December 2016.

Pursuant to the Solibro Cooperation Agreement,
Solibro will dispose of certain hardware and CIGS
related production tools to Solibro Hi-Tech for a
consideration of EUR904,184.18, which shall be
settled in cash by Solibro Hi-Tech.

Pursuant to the Solibro Cooperation Agreement,
Solibro Hi-Tech agrees to provide certain operational
support to Solibro for IT services and production
quality enhancement support, product management
services and troubleshooting services (“Hi-Tech
Operational Support”).
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ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(VI) Transfer of Assets and Leases and Operational
Support (continued)

The Hi-Tech Operational Support shall run for
a maximum term until 31 December 2016. The
maximum annual fee for the Hi-Tech Operational
Support with applicable VAT shall not exceed (i)
EUR248,228.04 for the financial year ended 31
December 2014, (ii) EUR2,040,900 for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015, and (iii) EUR2,040,900
for the financial year ending 31 December 2016.

Pursuant to the Solibro Cooperation Agreement,
Solibro Hi-Tech will sell the Prototype to Solibro
and install the Prototype for a cash consideration of
EUR5,542,370.26.

Pursuant to the Solibro Cooperation Agreement,
Solibro Hi-Tech shall lease certain tools and systems
for the production of CIGS photovoltaic modules to
Solibro at a monthly leasing rate of EUR67,989.44.
The lease of Leased Objects shall run for a maximum
term until 31 December 2016. The maximum leasing
rate for the lease with applicable VAT shall not
exceed (i) EUR105,400.63 for the financial year ended
31 December 2014, (i) EUR816,000 for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015, and (i) EUR816,000
for the financial year ending 31 December 2016.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 30 Ocotober 2014.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND BERXSRSERERS &)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(VII) Engineering Trial Run Agreement (VIl) TRBHERBE =

On 28 November 2014, Solibro Hi-Tech, entered into
the Engineering Trial Run Agreement with Solibro,
pursuant to which Solibro shall provide production
services to and conduct manufacturing test runs on
Solibro’s production lines, upon orders with specific
technological parameters provided by Solibro Hi-Tech,
to support the settings and applications in the future
production process of Solibro Hi-Tech.

Pursuant to the Engineering Trial Run Agreement, it
is envisaged that Solibro shall provide approximately
4,000 substrates/modules for full engineering trial
run each month. The parties agreed that Solibro
Hi-Tech shall make monthly instalments of
EUR511,800 plus applicable VAT on the first working
day of each calendar month.

The maximum annual fees payable by Solibro
Hi-Tech under the Engineering Trial Run Agreement
with applicable VAT shall not exceed EUR7,308,480
for each of the financial years ending 31 December
2015 and 2016.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 28 November 2014.
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ESEEHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
had reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
(I) — (VII) and confirmed the transaction had been entered
into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(2)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there were
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they were on normal commercial terms, on
terms no less favourable to the Company than terms
available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as
a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor's Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION Bk

()  Share Option Scheme n
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 August 2007 (the
“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
option to (i) any director, employee or consultant of
the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
("Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
(iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose service
to the Group or business with the Group contributes
or is expected to contribute to the business or
operation of the Group as may be determined by
the Directors from time to time to subscribe for the
shares of the Company.

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose
of attracting and retaining quality personnel and other
persons and providing incentive to them to contribute
to the business and operation of the Group. To this
end, the Directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or the
performance targets, if any, that must be achieved
before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment for the share options at an exercise price
(subject to adjustments as provided therein) equal
to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(ii) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEEHRE

SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1

Share Option Scheme (continued)
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the company shall not exceed
10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme, unless a refresh approval of
the shareholders is obtained. At a special general
meeting of the Company held on 11 June 2010,
the shareholders of the Company have approved to
refresh the 10% limit. As at the date of this report,
the total number of shares available for issue upon
the exercise of all options granted or to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is 461,224,947
(representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of passing the resolution to
refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the share capital of the Company in issue on the
last date of such 12-month period unless approval of
the shareholders of the Company has been obtained
in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007
and has a life of 10 years until 27 August 2017. The
exercise period of an option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not be more than ten years
from its date of grant and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which such option must be held
before it can be exercised.
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ESEEHRE

SHARE OPTION (continued)

(I)  Share Option Scheme (continued)

Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued)

The exercisable period of the share options granted
was determined by the directors of the Company
each time when the options were granted. Holders
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of share options granted under the Share Option FEIR T EAB AR -
Scheme may only exercise their options during the
exercisable periods as follows:
Maximum
percentage of
exercisable
Date of grant Exercisable period share options
AT RERB IR RE MY
g l=p 1THEH ERESLH
27/10/2014 27/10/2014 31/10/2015 10%
—ME+A=Z++EAR —mMFE+A=++EtAE-ZE—AFTA=+—AH
1/11/201531/10/2016 10%
—E-RFt+—A—BE_ZE—X"F+A=+—H
1/11/2016-31/10/2017 10%
—E—RXFt—A-HBHE-_ZT—+F+HA=+—8H
1/11/2017-31/10/2018 10%
—T—+F+—A—HB=2_FT—\F+A=+—H
1/11/2018-31/10/2019 60%
2 N\F+—A—HEZZE-NAFT+A=1+—H
30/1/2015 30/1/2015 29/1/2016 10%
S —hF—A=+H —hF—A=tHZz=-_ZE—X"F—HA=-+NH
30/1/2016 29/1/2017 10%
—E-RF-A=t+BHE_ZE—+F—A=1+N1H
30/1/2017-29/1/2018 10%
—E—+tF-A=tHEZZE-N\F-AZ+NH
30/1/2018-29/1/2019 10%
—E-N\F-A=ZtHEZE-NF—A=+NIH
30/1/201 9-29/1/2020 60%
—hWF—A=+tHE=ZZE=FF—HA=+NAH
16/4/2015 16/4/2015-15/4/2016 10%
—hFMA+RA ZE-RAFWMA+ANAEZZE—RFWOA+HEA
16/4/2016-15/4/2017 10%
—E-RFNA+ABEZZE—+FWNUA+HEH
16/4/2017-15/4/2018 10%
—E—+FUAt+ABE_ZE-N\FNA+HA
16/4/2018-15/4/2019 10%
- A\FNUA+NBE-_ZT—NAFWNA+EH
16/4/2019-15/4/2020 60%
—E-NAFWNA+BEEZ TFEMA+EHA
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SHARE OPTION (continued) BREE)

() Share Option Scheme (continued) () EBRKRESTEE)
Movements of share options BRENEE
Details of the movements in the share options FRBIEERETZR D ERENE S
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the EIORNE

year are as follows:

Outstanding as Movement of share options during the year Outstanding as
Exercise at ERERENED at
Eligible persons Date of grant price Exercise period 1112015 Granted Exercised Lapsed 311212015
R-E-1f RZ5-1%
-B-H tZA=1-H
AERAL RiLAH ke S R ER BfTR BAH HATE
(HKS)
(81)
Director
EE
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie ~ 27/10/2014 1.716 27/10/2014-31/10/2019 2,000,000 - - (200,000) 1,800,000
i iichn “E-ME ZB-BETAZTHAZ
+A- 148 “E-AETAZT-R
Other employees 2711012014 1,716 27/10/2014-31/10/2019 61,100,000 - (4,905,000) (12,275,000) 43,920,000
EftEE Z3-mF ZE-METAZTHAZ
tA-t++H ZZ-NETA=T-8
30/1/2015 361 301/2015-2911/2020 — 17,800,000 (1,065,000) — 16,735,000
ik ZZ-nE-AZTHE
—-A=1H ZRCTE-fTNE
16/4/2015 6.91 16/4/2015-15/4/2020 — 24,400,000 - (800,000) 23,600,000
Z3-1f ZE-RFMATARE
mA+7HA ZTZFEMATERA
63,100,000 42,200,000 (5,970,000) (13,275,000) 86,055,000
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SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

EEEEREEEEBRALT

Other Options

The Company has also granted other options to
certain consultants upon completion of acquisition
of Apollo Precision Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Solar
Business”) in November 2009 as incentive of their
contribution to the development of Solar Business
(the "Other Options |”). The Other Options | were not
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Principal terms of the Other Options |

The Other Options | entitled the consultants to
subscribe for an aggregate of 320,000,000 shares of
the Company as adjusted after the share subdivision
effective from 5 November 2009 at an exercise price
of HK$0.25 after the share subdivision effective from
5 November 2009 for a period of 5 years from the
date of granting of the Other Options |I. The vesting
period was 1 year from the date of grant. Details of
the Other Options | are set out in the circular dated
29 October 2009. The Other Options | was expired on
24 November 2014.
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ESEEHRE

SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

Other Options (continued)
Principal terms of the Other Options Il

On 18 September 2011, the Company entered into
the 2011 Option Agreements with each of Hanergy
Holding and Apollo Management respectively
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed
to grant the 2011 Options to Hanergy Holding (or
its designated individuals or entities) and Apollo
Management (the "“Other Options [I”) . On 16
December 2011 (the “Date of Grant”), after fulfilment
of the conditions precedent to each of the 2011
Options Agreements, the Company had granted
the Other Options Il to Hanergy Option Limited
(Hanergy Holding's designated entities) and Apollo
Management. The Other Options Il were not granted
under the Share Option Scheme.

The Other Options Il entitled Hanergy Option Limited
(Hanergy Holding's designated entities) and Apollo
Management to subscribe for an aggregate of 1.3
billion shares and 100 million shares of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.1664 respectively. They
will lapse upon the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant. For the Other Options Il granted to Hanergy
Option Limited on 16 December 2011, the exercise
periods are as follows:

(i)  Options to subscribe for 610 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the Date of Grant and ending on
the day immediately prior to the fifth anniversary
of the Date of Grant;
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SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

EEEEREEEEBRALT

Other Options (continued)

Principal terms of the Other Options Il (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Options to subscribe for 310 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the first anniversary of the Date
of Grant and ending on the day immediately prior
to the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 310 million shares
of the Company are exercisable during the
period commencing on the second anniversary
of the Date of Grant and ending on the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 10 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the third anniversary of the Date
of Grant and ending on the day immediately prior
to the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant; and

Options to subscribe for 60 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the fourth anniversary of the
Date of Grant and ending on the day immediately
prior to the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant.

BREZ)
At B B W (4F)
BEREN > EERES(E)

(1

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

ARE3 1 ERARRRN 2 BR
BAREL A —RAFREERRR
HEHAEFR 2 A IEBREATT
&

AR ERARRRN 2 BR
BAIRE L A MAFREERERR
HEHAEFR 2 A IEBHEATT
&

AR 8% 1,000 & AR AR A Bl D 2 B
AREER R A B = A e = B
R BERBFA 2 B IEARATT
2 &

A28 6,000 8 IR AR R 2 BB
PeAg Rl IR L B BT E R B R
B BMABFA 2 A IERE AT
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SHARE OPTION (continued) BREE)

(1)  Other Options (continued) () HunlEmeEZ)
Principal terms of the Other Options Il (continued) HBREI 2 EEZMH5(E)
For the Other Options Il granted to Apollo BHYRbEEE s EMmBEREN 217
Management, the exercise periods are as follows: BRgnR -

Exercise periods
s
From the From
From the first second  From the third the fourth
anniversary anniversary anniversary anniversary
From the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date
of Grantand  of Grantand  of Grantand ~ of Grantand  of Grant and

ending on ending on ending on ending on ending on
the day the day the day the day the day
immediately ~ immediately ~ immediately  immediately  immediately
prior to prior to prior to prior to prior to

the fifth the fifth the fifth the fifth the fifth

anniversary of anniversary of anniversary of anniversary of anniversary of
the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date of
Grant Grant Grant Grant Grant Total
b MBI RS miti B H ML A H MR RS
REEE -REEE WREFEE ZRFRE MEFEE
SERLAE PERURH BERURE BERYURE  ZERUEH
Name of grantees ~ RBAHS IEFACAL E@EEAcAL EEFACAL EEEFACAL EEEFACAL &it

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai  Frank Mingfang Dai

E 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 16,800,000 28,000,000

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, HRERE

Ronnie J.P. AFHT 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000 14,400,000 24,000,000
Dr. Li Yuan-min ZNREL 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 7,200,000 12,000,000
Dr. Xu Xixiang LEAEL 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 7,200,000 12,000,000
Dr. Shan Hongaing BIERET 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 7,200,000 12,000,000
Mr. Li Guangmin ZEREE 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 3,600,000 6,000,000
Mr. Xu Xiaohua REERE 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 3,600,000 6,000,000
Total @t 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 60,000,000 100,000,000
Details of the Other Options Il are set out in the HEmEREICFEIRBRAR_ZE
circular dated 14 November 2011. ——F+—A+TMBEZBHK -
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SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

R EREEEEARAR

Other Options (continued)
Principal terms of the Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012 (after the trading hours), the
Company and Hanergy Holding entered into the
Option Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to grant Hanergy Holding
(or such person(s) at its direction) the Options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 600,000,000 Option
Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.25 per Option
Share (the “Other Options Il1"). On 31 December
2012 (the “Grant Date"),
conditions precedent to Option Agreement, the

after fulfilment of the

Company had granted the Other Options Il to
Hanergy Investment Limited (Hanergy Holding's
designated entities). The Other Options Il were not
granted under the Share Option Scheme. They will
lapse upon the fifth anniversary of the Grant Date.

For the Other Options Ill granted to Hanergy
Investment Limited on 31 December 2012, the
exercise periods are as follows:

(i) 300,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the Grant
Date to the day immediately prior to the fifth
anniversary of the Grant Date;

(i) 150,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the first
anniversary of the Grant Date to the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Grant Date; and

(iii) 150,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the second
anniversary of the Grant Date to the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Grant Date.

BREZ)

(1

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Hivfg i (%2)
HtiEREI 2+ B M7

RZZT—Z—FNLAXNB(RIEERE) -
RRNE EEREERET LB E R E - &
b ANARE B GG HEE R =
BRKEFMERZBEBALT)REER
o AETRERERMD25E L Z
771 ERE A 600,000,000 % B8 i 4
BGOTEBEREN]D - R —=
FHZA=+—RA(REBEH]) - #EKX
B RS 2 TR G R - ARRIEM
Hanergy Investment Limited (G gg$2
BiEE s ER)REHEMBREIN - &
fth B AR 4 111 30 3EAR IR BB AR AT IR -
W BB REF R o

WN-_B——f+-_A=+—BEF
Hanergy Investment Limited 2 B fthfg
PR Nl 2 TEHII T

(i) 300,000,000 & & R fE A% 1 P A 5%
HAMEEERRE BMTRFA
Z B IEHERITE

(i) 150,000,000 % B& P& 48 IS 1 AT A%
CTHE-AFEEZEREREEHA
HEF Z BIEEBARIAITE - &

(iii) 150,000,000 % B& & 42 A& 1 AT A%
THEMAFEEZZREREBEHA
HEFFIZ B IEEEAITE ©
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SHARE OPTION (continued) BREZ)
(1)  Other Options (continued) () HunlEmeEZ)
Movements of Other Options BmBRELZE

FART2EENHEBERENZ S

Details of the movements in the Other Options

granted to the participants during the year are as

BuR

follows:
QOutstanding Exercised QOutstanding
Exercise as at during as at
Name Date of grant price  Exercise period 1112015 the year 311212015
RoE-1f R-F-1f
-A-H tZR=1-H
£H RiAH ke i WA Bnig HRITE
(HKS)
(E1)
Other Options Il granted to -~ 16/12/2011 0.1664  16/12/2011-15/12/2016 71,800,000 (6,000,000} 65,800,000
Apollo Management
RTHBEREL ZE—F ZE—FTZATREE
HiRREN TZRT7E ZE-NETZATERE
QOther Options Il granted to~~ 16/12/2011 0.1664  16/12/2011-15/12/2016 156,900,660 (86,779,020) 70,121,640
Hanergy Option Limited
& FHanergy Option Limited ~ —F——F ZE2——F+ZAtREE
LEMBREN TZRT7E ZE-RETZATHE
Other Options Il granted 311212012 025 31112/2012-30/12/2017 335,122,000 (48,466,600) 286,655,400
to Hanergy Investment
Limited
7 F Hanergy Investment “F-F “5-F{-A=t-RZ
Limited 2 E BRI +-A=1-H ZE-+ETZAZTE

BaE - FRWEAMBREERD - FEHR
R -

Note:No other options were granted, cancelled or lapsed
during the year.

FAREMBAREETHMmEITIRMD K
Bz R{EXE27,555,0798 T °

The consideration received from issued of shares
upon exercise of other options is approximately
HK$27,555,079 during the year.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the consolidated financial statements set out on
pages 106 and 107.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December
2015 were as below:

e

AEEZFBENFAZEBIFERENE 106 &
107 BRAMBHRERPGRERaESHRA -

BERAE ARAR_ZE—RHE+_A
—t+t—HAHEIETFREZEEBDT

2015 2014

—E-RF —T—F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Contributed surplus BEHAEHG 33,132 33,132

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
in prior years and reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2009 which, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), is available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

ARBZEGRAKEBRKBME AR ZRE
BEEREHARANBAEFESHITRN ZEHE
ZEBMBE_TETAFT-A=1+—HL
FEAZERER  AARE-NAN-FA
REQAREEE) DK TARBBR - R
o WEIRATIER  BIARRB T BE ML
IREBEHEEHRBRDIK

() KR ARARTREERIPZEE:
B4

(i) HEEZZREEEAMINEAGBR
HEBTRAMBMDRER B8 -

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (“Bye-laws”) although there is no
statutory restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Details of the borrowings of the Group outstanding at 31
December 2015 and the amount of capitalised interest are
set out in note 14, note 17 and note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2015 are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five year financial summary is shown on pages 287 and
288.

BrRBERE

BEAREEVHELBERYLEELER
B AaBlz REAR(TARMEA DAL ES
FALL SR 2 RE -

AEBZME  BEERBRFAZEEHHF
BER A M BHRERME 14

ERREREFE

R-ZB-AF+-_A=+—8 XEEH
BERRENMN BB FBRENGZA M
HRMEE14 - BIFE17 KMIRE26 -

FENRBLF

R-_E—RE+-_A=+—H AQRRTE
MR R 2 IEE N A ISR RMIET -

B E
AFE S ES N 287 X288 H °
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Hejun (Chairman)
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai
(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Feng Dianbo (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Chen Li (Executive Vice-President)
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie
Mr. Huang Songchun (Financial Controller)
(appointed on 21 December 2015)
Mr. Si Haijian
(appointed on 21 December 2015)
Mr. Zhang Bo
(appointed on 21 December 2015)
Mr. Liu Min (resigned on 1 October 2015)
Mr. Li Guangmin
(resigned on 21 December 2015)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Zhao Lan

Mr. Wang Tongbo
Professor Xu Zheng
Dr. Wang Wenjing

In accordance with the bye-law 86(2) of the Company's
Bye-Laws, Mr. Huang Songchun, Mr. Si Haijian and Mr.
Zhang Bo will hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the bye-law 87(1) of the Company's
Bye-Laws, Mr. Chen Li, Ms. Zhao Lan and Mr. Wang
Tongbo will retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

=¥
FRAREEARERRZEEMT :

BITES

THNBLEEEE)

Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4

(B F EFITHARZ)

BERELT(FEE)

RN F (B HEI4EE)

M—ISiE+

\mINE (AR
(R—F—AFE+ A —+—HZF)
AEREEE
(RZF—AF+H=-+—HZHE)
RS
(R—FB—HFE+ A —+—HZF)
BIRFEAE(R=ZF—AHF+H—HET)
FEREA
(R-—FB—HF+—H—+—HEHTF)

BYFBITES
HEZL
TRBLE
RIEEIR
EXFEFEL

RIEBEAQNB ZAGIMMANES6(2) & FNEL
A REREERRESETHERARART
ERRBFERE AL TAERBERET-

RIEBARA 2 ABMARNES7() K RO %
£ MR RERB LA EERRE
FRELERME HAERUMBERET -
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2015, the directors or the chief
executive of the Company had interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQO")) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange")
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as
follows:

underlying shares
under derivatives

EEZzROER

R-ZE—AF+_A=+—H ARQRA&E
EXEZTHABEARNR RS E E AR
E(EERBAFARBERAITES RBEK
BIDEXVES) 2 Bfn - HERGD S ES R
EAMTHERARTREFS RHAEKRNE
352 GBI E 2Bt o EmdkE - HIRIE
EEBERZMERARFEF MR E
MRA DS TFrE 2 EmEEiT AZEEETT
BHERHMIFESTRI([ZF2ESFR ) BME R
NAIRBABER AR A ([BRAT])
ZERICABHIIAT

Number of
Percentage of
issued share

Number equity/share capital

Name of Director Capacity held of shares options Total interests (%)

frETERR HERT

BT 2 HERS/ RAFAL

BEiR BEEH RG#E EREZA ARER (%)

Mr. LI Hejun Interest of controlled corporation  31,057,190,297(L) 150,588,000(L)  31,207,778,297(L) 74.75

FEEE FEHAE 2 o (Note 1)
(Ht1)

2,722,000,000(S) 2,722,000,000(S) 6.52

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Beneficial owner 8,400,000(L) 19,600,000(L) 28,000,000(L) 0.07
Frank Mingfang Dai 6 E&fEA

Dr. FENG Dianbo Beneficial owner 46,159,000(L) — 46,159,000(L) 0.11
RERET ERlAA

Dr. LAM Yat Ming Eddie  Beneficial owner - 1,800,000(L) 1,800,000(L) 0.005
H—IB%HE ERlAA

Mr. HUANG Songchun Beneficial owner 1,162,500(L) 418,500(L) 1,581,000(L) 0.004
/S ERlAA

Mr. SI Haijian Beneficial owner — 1,500,000(L) 1,500,000(L) 0.004
ks S e ERlAA

Mr. ZHANG Bo Beneficial owner 738,900(L) 296,100(L) 1,035,000(L 0.002
RREE ERlEAA

L — Long positions 4f&
S — Short positions X &

—Z—REFH  ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES (continued)

Note:

1. These shares comprise the Second Tranche of
1,473,458,688 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price
of HK$0.12 per Subscription Share and the Third Tranche
of 1,473,458,688 Subscription Shares at the Subscription
Price of HK$0.10 per Subscription Share will be issued and
allotted pursuant to Subscription Agreement dated 20 May
2010 and the subsequent Supplementary Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in
the report of the Directors and note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements, no contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed Share Option
above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

BEEoROERE)
Hiat -

1. ZEREBROEERBE-_Z—TFREA=-+
BRIz REWERERZHRBE TR
BN EIT 2B —H A ££1,473,458,688 % iR
B SRABBRMI2ETERE=MA
# 1,473,458,688 IR RME D - T A% RHE %
% 0103 7T »

BREXPBEEREEN RZT—-—RAF+A
=t—RH ARFRZEERFETHAEHR
BEADRHEMBBER RN - HERD
HEFRECEATAACHENARARE
B MEERIIEI2IGAFE ZBELMZ#E
HIAR  IRBFETRRMEARAR
BEX P 2 B SOK B o

EENEXREGRzER

REFEREHEXFIREEBERS | R
RAMRMEITREN  RFLERLFRE
B AR R SR AR S A R ERT S
ERAETEEIRARMBEAEARRCE

FAR o

BEROSIESF 2L

b X RR S PTREE S  REARTMA
R ARBREEAMBRBLERTZE
MZy WEEFTEABEARARA HEME
fEANE R Z B K EFMEMA &

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement scheme are shown in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’'s retirement scheme contributions charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year amounted to
approximately HK$59,714,000 (2014: HK$32,599,000).

EEREREERE

FAL BT LS FEEMEEARR2E K
ERAERMARBZEAEEXITHAR -

BREZERERRBEAS LEECESEM
BEANRLETMAME AR ZERRF
PHE-FANTRECIERERIN MK
L ZBREER -

B EHE
AKE 2R GT Bl BN & B 75 T & P
F24-

AEE  EFeEakEM2mKERNE
Z AR BIRIRGT &) 2 53K 4) /3 69,714,00078
T(ZZE—M4 : 32,699,00087T) °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS E 3

As at 31 December 2015, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO shows that other than the interests

executives of the Company, the following shareholders had
notified the Company of relevant interests in the issued

ERR

R-ZE—RE+_A=+—8  AQARE
BHERHAEKGIEICIETE 2 FEREAM
BHR BREXNFEBEEHEETESRALQA
disclosed above in respect of certain directors and chief F Z4THA B KRR -

NEFARARFD EITIRAN Z 1EREE -

THIRRD BAMA

share capital of the Company.

Number of Percentage of

underlying shares issued share

Number of  under derivatives Total capital

Name of shareholder Capacity Shares equity interests (%)

fIETAERET HER

RRE® BiftE RAEE ZHBRAHE ARER TRABA

Mr. Li He Jun Interest of controlled corporation  31,057,190,297(L) 150,588,000(L)  31,207,778,297(L) 74.75
FUEEE g VRE g (Note 1)
(Wit 1)

2,722,000,000(S) 2,722,000,000(S) 6.52

LREHRHEZERRAE  Interest of controlled corporation  29,995,830,297(L) 150,588,000(L)  30,146,418,297(L) 72.21
FrEfEE 2 s (Note 1)
(Hzt1)

2,422,000,000(S) 2,422,000,000(S) 5.80

HRREENREEBR NG Interest of controlled corporation  29,995,830,297(L) 150,588,000(L)  30,146,418,297(L) 72.21
FrEEE 2% (Note 1)
(Hizt1)

2,422,000,000(S) 2,422,000,000(S) 5.80

Hanergy Holding Beneficial owner & Interest of 29,995,830,297(L) 150,588,000(L)  30,146,418,297(L) 72.21
Bk controlled corporation (Note 1)
BB ARMIEGEE R (1)

2,422,000,000(S) 2,422,000,000(S) 5.80

ERERIENFALERAA  Interest of controlled corporation  29,995,830,2976(L) 150,588,000(L)  30,146,418,297(L) 72.21
PRl AR e (Note 1)
(1)

2,422,000,000(S) 2,422,000,000(S) 5.80

Hanergy Investment Beneficial owner & Interest of 19,654,500,921(L) 150,588,000(L)  19,805,088,921(L) 47.44

Limited controlled corporation 2,422,000,000(S) 2,422,000,000(S) 5.80

BRlAARFEEE S

EEERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERR#E)
Number of Percentage of
underlying shares issued share
Number of  under derivatives Total capital
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares equity interests (%)
fTETAEHET HER
BRRE®E BaftE RAEE ZHBRAHE ERER TREB AL
Hanergy Option Limited ~ Beneficial owner 2,966,785,603(L) — 2,966,785,603(L) n
ERRAA
GL Wind Farm Investment Beneficial owner 1,973,684,104(L) —  1,973,684,104(L) 4.73
Limited ERlAA
China Genco Investment  Beneficial owner 1,917,937,219(L) — 1,917,937,219(L) 4.61
Limited EnlAA 982,000,000(S) 982,000,000(S) 2.36
BTREATMMERRE  Interest of controlled corporation  1,067,360,000(L) —  1,061,360,000(L) 2.54
BRERAH FrEHAEL B 300,000,000(S) 300,000,000(S) 0.72
TRESERRABRAT  Interest of controlled corporation  1,061,360,0001(L) —  1,061,360,0001(L) 2.54
it EE e 300,000,000(S) 300,000,000(S) 0.72
ERARBRERAR Beneficial owner 1,061,360,000(L) —  1,061,360,000(L) 2.54
ERlAA 300,000,000(S) 300,000,000(S) 0.72
L — Long positions &
S — Short positions %2
Note: Kzt
1. These shares comprise the Second Tranche of 1. ZEHEBROEERE-—_Z—ZFRA-1+

1,473,458,688 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price
of HK$0.12 per Subscription Share and the Third Tranche
of 1,473,458,688 Subscription Shares at the Subscription
Price of HK$0.10 per Subscription Share will be issued and
allotted pursuant to Subscription Agreement dated 20 May
2010 and the subsequent Supplementary Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
as at 31 December 2015.

Bz RBEHEREB 2B ZE T UE
B REEIT 2B —HE 2£1,473,458,688 K R
BG  SRABBBRGHI2EBTLEREZME
$£1,473,458,688 IR RIBAX 15 + TR R
1% 0.1087T »

BREXFHBEEN RZFT—AF+ A
=+—H ARAAEZREBNETMARRF
B fn SR BE A0 2 #Ean SOR B B I ARIERE
H LG HPIFE I EAFE ZE M -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the corporate governance practices of the
Company is set out on pages 79 to 91 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct
audit on the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2015. A resolution will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to
reappoint Ernst & Young as the auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Hejun
Chairman

Beijing, the PRC, 31 March 2016

AWERERRE
READAMEGZAHENTREEHMA
RAHRE S AATC#E ETRAFA
EZRRARHRE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CEEREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is dedicated to provide effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of
the Company and its shareholders.

The Board has established the following committees to
oversee different areas of the Company’s affairs. The
composition of the Board and the committees are given
below and their respective responsibilities are discussed
later in this report. The terms of references of these
committees adopted by the Board are published on the
Company’s website (www.hanergythinfilmpower.com).

As at 31 December 2015, the members of the Board and
the committees are as follows:

Board BEExg
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Hejun FAERE
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai
tas
Dr. Feng Dianbo HEREL
Mr. Chen Li BR A&
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—ISEL
Mr. Huang Songchun EINELE
Mr. Si Haijian AR A
Mr. Zhang Bo SRR ST

Independent non-executive Directors B IEHITES

Ms. Zhao Lan R+
Mr. Wang Tongbo TR EAE
Professor Xu Zheng BArER
Dr. Wang Wenjing T XEEL

* Chairperson of the committee ZE &+ /&

TERERER
EERABARRARKARRERELE
- BEVABMRARARETE  UAR
R RS 2 SR B -

BN TREGRELR
B -BERRELEGZKEH
& B ZBERRARE T 3GR %Z%i/\ 2
BERECESSRM  WERNARRMEIE

(www.hanergythinfilmpower.com) °

RZE—RAF+ZA=1+—H EFgk%
ZEGIKENT
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
ENEZE" ¥HZEEE REZES
4
4
V& v* v/
v/ v /¥
v/ 4 v/
v/ 4 v/
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies
and monitors its performance. The Board also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, major
transactions, director appointments, dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of managing and overseeing the Group's
day to day operations to the Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Directors of the Company and respective
directors of principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Li Hejun is the Chairman of the Board and Mr.
Frank Mingfang Dai is the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. There are clear divisions among their
responsibilities with a view to achieving a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman provides leadership to
the Board in terms of formulating policies and strategies.
The Chief Executive Officer of the Company has the overall
responsibility of implementing the decisions, policies and
strategies approved by the Board, and overseeing the
Group's business and operations.

The Company had received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards
their independence to the Company and based on the
contents of such confirmations, considers that each of the
independent non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

The company secretary of the Company assists the
Chairman in setting the agenda of board meetings and
each Director is invited to present any businesses that they
wish to discuss or propose at the meetings. All Directors
have timely access to all relevant information of the
meetings and may take professional advice if necessary.

TEERER®)

EXEERTEAKEZEFERRE  TEEH
KR -EFFNEHARFENRTHERE
ITERG BFREME URKREREFBE
FHRE BFEHREEREBAKEAR
LBEZENRAEERETARBITRER R
HITEERAKETIZMBRARSTEZES -

A E LA BN QR EF M Frank Mingfang

Dai R RIRARBZBFAITE - REZB

EBEBME S NEZRHNRERTEZ Y

B - FFAREREESTIHITHR IR -

AARTTRAERZHAERTEESSHIE

BRI RER  UREBREEER
g o

ARRDEESEBUFFATEZTHERAR
AZBIEIER 2 FERER - LIRIES B
RLZABTRREBUIFRTEFTABILNA

NG

ARRZARNNERDEEREEFTEE

BEBR - MEEFYEERR L AR
ERNE LRSI BT 2REEY
TREMEHEGHZIENER  NATRE
ERBFHLEL -
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THE BOARD

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Board meeting

and general meeting were held with details of the

Directors’ attendance set out below:

Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Hejun

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai
Dr. Feng Dianbo

Mr. Chen Li

Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie
Mr. Huang Songchun

=

HITES

THELE

Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4
HERELT

PRk E

M—I5EL
BNEEER-_F—AF

(appointed on 21 December 2015) + = A —+—H#EZ/(T)

Mr. Si Haijian

ABREE(R=F—0F

(appointed on 21 December 2015) +—=H —+—HEZ/(T)

Mr. Zhang Bo

RREE(R-_F—AF

(appointed on 21 December 2015) +—=H —+—H¥EZ(T)

Mr. Liu Min

(resigned on 1 October 2015)
Mr. Li Guangmin

(resigned on 21 December 2015)

Independent non-executive
Directors

Ms. Zhao Lan

Mr. Wang Tongbo

Professor Xu Zheng

Dr. Wang Wenjing

ARAE(R-_F—HF
+A—HEHE)
FEREER-F—0AF

TZAZ=+—HEHE)

BIFHITES

BHEZLT
FREEE
R
FXEEL

Under the Bye-laws, all Directors are currently required to

offer themselves for re-election by rotation at least once

every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual

vacancy should be subject to election at the first general

meeting after their appointment.

Exg

BE_T-AF+_A=+T—"HUILFEEE

TEFEEGER
T

RERXE  EFHEFB

Attendance/No. of meetings

HERE, BBERE
Board meeting General meeting
EseeR BRRAE
4/4 0/1
4/4 1Al
4/4 11
4/4 1Al
4/4 1Al
3/4 0/1
4/4 11
4/4 1Al
4/4 11
4/4 11
4/4 1Al
BIEBEARMEE - 2RBEFREEARLE=F
WREX—RNEE - TBRE/MBRRZEMRM
BEACZESFEEERZAREBEARERE

FHEETTIESR -
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THE BOARD (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors were appointed
for one year up to the date of the next annual general
meeting. During the year, the Chairman had at least
annually held meetings with all independent non-executive
directors without the executive directors present.

The chairman of the Board was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 20 May 2015.
However, most executive Directors, the chairpersons
of the audit, remuneration, and nomination committees,
and the external auditor of the Company were present to
be available to answer any question to ensure effective
communication with shareholders of the Company.

Every newly appointed director of the Company had
received a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on appointment. Subsequently any briefing or continuous
professional development will be provided to ensure that
Director has a proper understanding of the Company’'s
operations and business and is fully aware of his
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing
Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company's business and governance policies.

BEES )

BIYFKTEZZERA—F EETER
RBEFAEBTAMBL - TR EFED
BE-RE2EBUIFNTEFTRITHTE
ETBHEZRE -

EERTFAREFEARRE_Z—AFH
AZTHRTZRRBFEARE - Al - K%
BHTES BEHRZES FHZESRE
FREBEIR  UWRARAZIINEZEES
BHFEERER - RERD R IRRZEH
BRUEE

BHZEZARRETHEFE2ME - EA5R
BB RRET 2 AR B o BE 1R IEIR TR 3R
HIFBEEXER  AEREFTTHARRZ
BEREE YHEARBEZZZNRES
AR EMARA  AEREMEERTE
ARARRR 2 B REEBRZEL °
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. During the year, in-house seminar
was conducted covering the topics of directors’ duties
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Directors
participated in the following trainings:

EEg(H)

ARABBEZ2EFREEXUREF LR
o o R AN K R BE o B ETT R ERRT A
€ NABMEBEZFLRPEGRITEFT 2R

%o ERE2ETIE

Types of Trainings

Directors 2= EIIER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Li Hejun FELE S, R
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4 S, R
Dr. Feng Dianbo BERIE L S, R
Mr. Chen Li BRANEHE S, R
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—ISiE T S, R
Mr. Huang Songchun EINHFIAE |
Mr. Si Haijian AEREE I
Mr. Zhang Bo SRR |
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHTES

Ms. Zhao Lan R T S, R
Mr. Wang Tongbo F R EA S, R
Professor Xu Zheng BRAEEUIE S, R
Dr. Wang Wenjing T FEELT S, R

S: Attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
relating to directors’ duties

R: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the
economy, general business or directors’ duties, etc.

I Induction training provided by lawyer on new appointment

To the best of knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

Appropriate insurance to cover against liability of the
Directors and officers of the Company was arranged and
will be renewed annually.

S HEREERSEEORNE R SgH

/RiwiE

R: HERARKE  REBAESHY
B T EREHER
HEER R 2 ARIE

K

s &

B

LARRIFTA - EFEKE 2RI EIF -

7% - RES HE AN

ARAREREZENSABERREMERE

ENEERR  YETFED -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established to
review the Group's financial reporting, internal controls
and corporate governance issues and make relevant
recommendations to the Board. As at 31 December 2015,
the Audit Committee comprises of four independent non-
executive Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee
possess appropriate professional qualifications, accounting
or related financial management expertise as required
under the Listing Rules. Please refer to biography section
of Directors for further details of the committee members.

The Audit Committee may elect to ask the external
auditors to attend its meetings. During the year, the Audit
Committee has met with the external auditors with no
executive Directors present.

Ms. Zhao Lan (Chairperson) WEZE(FEE)
Mr. Wang Tongbo TR LA
Professor Xu Zheng RIEHE

Dr. Wang Wenijing EXEBLT

BEREES

RRBZEREZEEG KM AEHNAEE
R ®R - AMEEMDCEERET Y
EEgREEBMEZ R —HF+ A
=t+—RH BEXZEeeREEEBBEIIFERIT
EE-ERZERFRAGLTARAMRTE
ZHEEEXER  SANERYBERREX
M- ZEEGXEZE—FHFFFEL2HES
JERE —Ef ©

%¢?§/\E EEERIIMNERBMEERLS
cMAFE  BERZBEC HBINEZEE
éﬁéﬁﬂﬁﬁi%ﬂﬂ%%ﬂfZQE% °

No. of meetings attended

HESRRH

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The services provided by Ernst & Young and other audit
firms and the fees thereof for the year ended 31 December
2015 and 2014, respectively, were as follows:

BB =
LKGEMMEBAMEEMEMEFANE
E_E—AFRZZFE-NMNE+_A=+—H
IFFEDRIRH 2 RELEEBERNT

2015 2014

—E-If —ZT-mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Statutory Annual EEFE FET FET

Ernst & Young LK E TR BT

— Agreed upon procedure — HRHEIEEMN TR R 2,242 631

— Annual audit — FEEZ 12,458 5,679

— Other service — EMAR% 74 139
Other audit firms for the audit and other ~ H b &HEIERT B ME

related service th B 78 AR 7% 1,484 5,432

16,258 11,881

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was
established to review the remuneration of Directors and
the Group’s salary policy. A majority of members are
independent non-executive Directors. To minimize any
conflict of interest, any member who is interested in
any given proposed motion is required to abstain from
voting on such motion. During the year under review, the
Remuneration Committee had reviewed the Group's policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management.

FMEES

ARABZHFEMEEEXNINEHESTHE M
REBEH MK - KEBo KB RIBIIEMTT
Ex- RBNEERRERE  EAKEN
RPETR  EMBETRAERD - A X
HYRENERE -ROEFE  FHZES
EEMAEEEENRSNERABZMEH
MR 2R Ko 2848

No. of meetings attended

HESBEXE
Ms. Zhao Lan (Chairperson) MR (FEE) 3/3
Mr. Li Hejun FAEKE 2/3
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai 5t 4 3/3
Mr. Wang Tongbo TR LA 3/3
Professor Xu Zheng RIEHE 3/3
Dr. Wang Wenijing EXEBL 3/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

With reference to the respective duties and responsibilities

of Directors in the Group as well as the prevailing market

condition, the monthly remuneration (including salary and

director’'s fee) of the following Directors were adjusted as

follows:

Director

B

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai
Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4

Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie
M—IRE L

Mr. Chen Li
fR

Mr. Li Guangmin
(resigned on 21 December 2015)
FERESE
(R=—Z—FEF+-_A-+—HEMT)

Effective Date

£ EH

1 January 2015

—E-—RF—A—

1 January 2015

—E-—hF—A—

1 June 2015

“E-—RFNA—

1 January 2015

—E—RF—A—

1 January 2015

—E-—RhF—A—

FNEES #)

REEZEEZARAKE 2B RBENR
ERHRE  ATEFZ2EAM(BEFHE
NREZWRE)IHEBEWNT

Monthly Remuneration
(Including Salary and
Director’s Fee)

SAME
(BEHFERESHS)
HK$
BT
337,693

H
268,000

H
318,000

H
218,000

H
133,385

H
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was
established with specific written terms of reference to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board
at least annually, to make recommendations on the
procedures and criteria for appointment of Directors and
to implement those that are adopted by the Board. All
members are independent non-executive Directors.

Mr. Wang Tongbo (Chairman) FRBDEE(EE)
Ms. Zhao Lan i) e
Professor Xu Zheng BRI

Dr. Wang Wenjing FXFEELT
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results announcement of the
Company are published in a timely manner and within
three months and two months respectively of the year end
and interim periods.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. It should be read in
conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 98 to 101 which acknowledges
the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditor.

Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and financial statements
of the Company to ensure that these financial statements
give a true and fair presentation in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

REZEE
ARBEKIIRHZEGUWUE@MATAELR
RE# E LAE’“#ﬁ%’@*VX%%@Z%
B RERENX  UREEEZEZERFR
AER HE R “f’fi%AﬁﬂmﬁWZ&F&/i
A - 2ENEARELIFNITES -

No. of meetings attended

HESBRH
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
B EMREEX
Bt ER 3R

ARBFEMPHEELMONRFELZRAR
hHIHRE A RZE BN =E A kM E A &R
PR T 2% -

E=ZRMBRRMAZZEERINNT - T
NEEIBEEFE 101 EMEB L Z MRS
AAREEZBEEREREEETEATR
BMEE—HIBIE -

FHREIRE

EEHAEEEEREARAZFREMB
WK NERUEFVBRRERBEBTERTA
RO BEERE ARG ER  BEEMA
T2 HIER o
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial
position of the Group upon which financial statements
of the Group could be prepared in accordance with
the Group's accounting policies while monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company's performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail had been provided to all Directors.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within
the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors draw attention to note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements which indicates that the
Group incurred a net loss of HK$12,233,542,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2015. This condition, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The
directors of the Company are considering on monitoring
and improving the cash flows of the Group, which included
but was not limited to the expansion to downstream
business and the execution of other manufacturing
business with individual customers. The Directors are
of the view that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

BEMEEZE)
I EE

E=ZAR AEEERAEMBBRECER
—ERMZBEESHRE  LRBERAZE
FHERIMER &1 MBE 2 HIi R

Bites

EXAARRAKERT A REANEEMIK
MRz Ftresr  MELFRE  AEERF
RSB 2 @t BRREM B RE - 2
RE=SAVEREARFARI - AR NKAT
RV MR RE AT o

REEE

EFRERDNYaBE RO B ZERRER
SEEE YHBRERAEENRNZFRT
RREMERER -

FEgE

EEENAARAMEHRENT2.1 B R
MAREBREE-_ET-—RAFT+_A=+—H
I FEELEBIEL12,233,642,000/8 7T © #%
EARNEBER A ISR ER W5 2.1 AT A9 E b
EE—BEE KPFEERTEEMN - 7
BESARRIZHERLERNEEEXNERR -
RARESZRERAMERAERR SR
2 BREETRENERE TIESXEEH
EPETEMBEXR ZEFRAE  A&H
BEARBERENR B REERELE  BE
R REBIRBELE A ERYARY B R
xBAHE -
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system (the “System”)
of the Group. The System is designed not only to achieve
the Group's objectives with facilitating an effective
and efficient business operation to ensure a reliable
financial reporting and compliance with applicable rules
and regulations, but also to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance on preventing material misstatement
or loss as well as managing and minimizing risks of failure
in operational system.

The Board should at least annually conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the System including all relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee and the
internal audit department, have continued to review the
effectiveness of the System. The System is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Controls are monitored by management review and
by a programme of internal audits.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2015.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Model
Code") regarding securities transactions by the Directors
on terms no less exacting than the required standard set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company.

AR EE 2

EEepERAKREREME R NAPEE
ZFo((ZBEDA2E - ZREEEBRE
BHR Rz EBEE  BRA FEZ2HBER
& REERE ST S EERBRADESR A ZBARE
B2 BE RARTEERH‘GIEEFBHR
& ABERRERAMKIER - ANEIR
KRR ERGARBZER

EFeRRIEBFHEAR(BEMEHREM
% BERAREHRRARERE) ZBR
HHET—RIEE -

EXHEBBERZBEMNANES DR
EMZBYUME - R E EERETEHER AR
BEEXREBERZRER - AEARHESEE
B BERERMALBRRE - B2
HiEAEEABRRS REBANBESRFE

= EE AR
1TEE -

RBE_Z-—AF+_A=+—HILFE"
ARB—EHETETRRNME Mz
EEIASTRIFTELZ TR -

ARRAESETESRZNEEST
2l

ARARCHEFTETERRIRA—ERTL
BT RIS T A ER E BRI R
TRSFAEESTA) - EAE2BEF(FL
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AL T EARARRIREFTETEFRR
DR ZITRSTA
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share capital of the Company and the securities being held
carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the
Company. The shareholder shall make a written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company
at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal
regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting
within two (2) months after the receipt of such written
requisition. The Company shall serve requisite notice of the
general meeting, including the time, place of meeting and
particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business.

If within twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of such
written requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do
so pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act of Bermuda.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to
put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

e RAER
BRRBARRRZHAS

RIFBABMAUFESGE  HEAFAERNLQA
AOR+0 2z — B HEITBA P& 55
ARARBEMRRASRENRRELE
Ko BEZGUARBRRENIAE - ZBERE
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5/ EENBERBEXM -
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SHAREHOLDERS’" RIGHTS (continued)

Making Enquiry to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post,
by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressing to
Board of the Company at the following address or facsimile
number or via email:

Suite 7601A & 7607-08, Level 76, International Commerce
Centre

1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2635 1337

Email: ir@hanergythinfilmpower.com

All enquiries shall be collected by the Company Secretary
who shall report to the Executive Directors periodically
on the enquiries collected. The Executive Directors shall
review the enquiries and assign different kinds of enquiries
to appropriate division head/manager for answering. After
receiving the answers of all enquiries from the relevant
division head/manager, the Company Secretary will collect
the answers for the Executive Directors’ review and
approval.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company’'s shareholders communication policy aims
to enhance the corporate communication effectively
between the shareholders, and the Board and the
senior management of the Company through various
official channels so that the shareholders can access the
Company’s public information equally in a timely manner.

B RERM (2
BESEEN

BRTUBS  EELEH A0 T
i BEREAEBAALNEESRLE
mEANBEHY  ERREASHANE
ap

EBNERNLEERE R

RIE 5 ES 7618 7601A 2 7607-08 =
{85 : (852) 2635 1337

B : ir@hanergythinfilmpower.com

RAWBREMEER  AREHARITE
ERE WOTEFUENMAETH  XRE
BRI BEEBAIEE EBRE - RF)
WEREEBBLITE R ORER M
WRT EXAITESERZRELL -

REFBBEE

ARARZBERBBEREEEBEBRIEAR
BREARFAKR ZEZGHRAEEEZ
MEMEE  NERREBFEZELART
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Hejun (“Mr. Li"), aged 48, a vice chairman of All-
China Federation of Industry and Commerce, a member of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, and
the chairman of China New Energy Chamber of Commerce,
was appointed as the Chairman, Executive director and
member of Remuneration Committee of the Company on
15 May 2014. Mr. Li studied in Beijing Jiaotong University
and is the founder, the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of ZREILEREB AR A (Hanergy Holding Group
Limited*) (“Hanergy Holding”). Hanergy Holding is the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai (“Mr. Dai”), aged 52, is the
Deputy Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, a member of
Remuneration Committee and an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Dai joined the Company on 13 August 2010.
He is an executive vice president of Hanergy Holding. Mr.
Dai has extensive experience in asset restructuring, merger
and acquisition, international financing and development of
photovoltaic business. Before joining Hanergy Holding, Mr.
Dai had been engaged in business management and market
development in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States
of America (“USA") for many years. Mr. Dai graduated
from the faculty of industrial economy management of &
[5 K2 (Shenyang University) in 1984 and later obtained a
master’'s degree in business administration (EMBA) in 2000
from the University of Texas at Dallas, USA.

Dr. Feng Dianbo (“Dr. Feng”), aged 56, has appointed
as Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director of the
Company on 15 May 2014. Mr. Feng has years of
experience in business management and investment
management. Dr. Feng holds a doctorate degree in
Institutional Economics from Jilin University and is
a Professor of Engineering. Dr. Feng is currently the
Executive President of Hanergy Holding. Prior to joining
Hanergy Holding, Dr. Feng has worked at CITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. and possesses years of experience in financial
management, business operation and investment
management.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chen Li (“Mr. Chen”), aged 43, has years of
experience in finance management, risk management and
arranging for financing. Mr. Chen, who joined the Company
on 12 December 2011, is currently the Executive Vice-
President and Executive Director of the Company. He
obtained a master degree in business administration from
the University of International Business and Economics in
2006. He is also the senior vice-president and the chief
head of finance unit of Hanergy Holding. Before joining
Hanergy Holding, Mr. Chen has worked in the Jinan branch
of the Bank of China and been responsible for the credit
business.

Dr. Lam, Yat Ming Eddie (“Dr. Lam”), aged 47, joined
the Board of the Company on 15 May 2014. Dr. Lam has
years of experience in banking and financing. Dr. Lam is a
post-doctorate in Financial Engineering from the Shanghai
Jiaotong University and holds a doctor of philosophy
degree in Finance from the Hong Kong Chinese University.
Dr. Lam is also a Chartered Financial Analyst, Certified
Financial Planner and Fellow of The Institute of Financial
Accountants. Dr. Lam has worked at various financial
institutions, including CITIC Securities International, China
CITIC Bank International, BCT, Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation, and Standard Chartered Bank.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Huang Songchun (“Mr. Huang”), aged 50, was
appointed as an Executive Director and Financial Controller
of the Company on 21 December 2015. Mr. Huang
obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from Northern
Jiatong University (3t 77 22 8 K 2 ) (currently known as
Beijing Jiatong University 1t @ K2 ) in 1988. Mr.
Huang had worked in Guangshen Railway Company (/&
7 8 B8 422 7)) (currently known as Guangzhou Railway
(Group) Company BEM K (£BE)AF]) from 1988 to 2004
and joined JEZEEIEIEB AR AT (Hanergy Holding Group
Limited) (“Hanergy Holding Group”) in 2004. Mr. Hunag
currently serves as the management in Hanergy Holding
Group and certain subsidiaries, including (i) the supervisor
of EE R FINE S % EHF R A A (Ningxia Tianjing
Shenzhou Wind Power Co., Ltd*); and (ii) the supervisor
of WrT & B2 82 58 JE X [5 8E B BR 2 & (Zhejiang Changxing
Hanergy Film Solar Power Co., Ltd*).

Mr. Si Haijian (“Mr. Si”), aged 38, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company on 21 December
2015. Mr. Si obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting
from Shandong College of Economics (IUE&LBERT) in
2002 and an MBA degree from Beijing Jiaotong University
(At mZMAE) in 2008. Mr. Si is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a
Certified Internal Auditor and a Certified Public Accountant
of the PRC. Mr. Si has extensive experiences in financial
management. He joined Hanergy Holding Group in April
2014 and currently works as vice president of Hanergy
Holding Groups. Mr. Si currently works for Hanergy Global
Solar Power & Applications Group as chief executive
officer.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Zhang Bo (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 46, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company on 21 December
2015. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in electronic
engineering from Beihang University (46 &= it 2= i1 X K
) in 1993. Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of experience
in procurement. He joined Hanergy Holding Group in
December 2010 and currently works as the management
in various departments in Hanergy Holding Group, including
(i) the director of the global purchasing department of the
Group; (i) the chief executive officer of JEREF MK AT
(Hanergy New Materials Company*), and (iii) the vice
president of Hanergy Holding Group. Mr. Zhang currently
works as a chief executive officer of the flexible consumer
business group of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhao Lan (“Ms. Zhao"), aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairperson of
each of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
of the Company on 23 August 2011 and a member of
Nomination Committee of the Company on 29 March
2012. Ms. Zhao obtained the Bachelor of Economics
from Renmin University of China, the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC"), in 1996. Ms. Zhao is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Beijing City Certified Tax Agents Association. Ms. Zhao
is experienced in auditing, accounting and corporate
management.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Wang Tongbo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 65, has years of
experience in foreign import and export. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
a member of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 12 December 2011 and
Chairman of Nomination Committee of the Company on
15 May 2014. He obtained a master degree in Economics
from Liaoning University GE % K 2 )in 1995. Mr. Wang
is currently a partner of E£F — FREKKES (American-
China Growth Fund*). Before joining American-China
Growth Fund, Mr. Wang has worked in EBR{EZREALQ
7] (Etech Securities, Inc*) as an executive director from
2005 to 2009; &G4 M 522 (Shenyang Wilke Medicine*)
as a director from 2003 to 2004; BT HNHEEZH=
& (Shenyang Municipal Government Offices*) as a chief
representative of the United States of America from 1996
to 2002; EREMHINMEEEZ 5Z 82 (Shenyang Foreign
Economic and Trade Commission*) as deputy chief from
1990 to 1996; ESG A LBEL L O AR
and Minerals Import and Export Corporation*) as general
manager from 1988 to 1990; and FEASEEEL AR
B] (China National Metals and Minerals Import and Export

(Shenyang Metals

Corporation*) Shenyang branch office as general manager
from 1985 to 1988.

Professor Xu, Zheng (“Professor Xu”), aged 57, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
member of each of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
on 15 May 2014. Professor Xu has years of experience
in research and development. Professor Xu is a post-
doctorate in Optical Engineering of Tianjin University holds
a doctor of science degree in Solid State Physics from the
Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Sciences and is
currently professor of Beijing Jiaotong University.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continuead)

Dr. Wang Wenjing (“Dr. Wang”), aged 56, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, member of
each of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 13 August
2014. Dr. Wang has years of experience in research and
development. Dr. Wang is a post-doctorate of the Institute
of Chemistry at the Chinese Academy of Sciences. Dr.
Wang was a director of Beijing Sunda Solar Energy
Technology Co., Ltd. between 2002 to 2005 (It R A%
BetfiFt AT AR A A]) . Dr. Wang currently is the head of PV
research group in the Institute of Electrical Engineering at
the Chinese Academy of Sciences.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BYZHMRES

EY =x

To the shareholders of Hanergy Thin Film Power Group
Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 102 to 286, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’'s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group's trade receivables and
gross amount due from contract customers were mainly
related to contracts with Hanergy Holding Group Limited
(“Hanergy Holding”) and its affiliates (collectively referred
to as “Hanergy Affiliates”) and a third-party customer.
As at 31 December 2015, the Group's trade receivables
from Hanergy Affiliates was HK$2,596,781,000, the
Group's other receivables due from Hanergy Affiliates was
HK$200,835,000 (note 20), the Group's trade receivables
from the third-party customer was HK$995,194,000 and
the gross amount due from contract customers related to
both of them was HK$2,930,836,000. As disclosed in note
22 to the consolidated financial statements, part of the
Group’s prepayments related to contracts with Hanergy
Affiliates for purchase of photovoltaic modules. As at
31 December 2015, the Group's prepayments made to
Hanergy Affiliates were HK$663,943,000. We were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the
recoverability of the Group's trade receivables and gross
amount due from contract customers for contract works of
Hanergy Affiliates and the aforesaid third-party customer
of HK$4,926,759,000, the other receivables due from
Hanergy Affiliates of HK$6,441,000 and prepayments made
to Hanergy Affiliates of HK$663,943,000. Consequently,
we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to
these amounts were necessary. Any under-provision for
the recoverability of these balances would reduce the net
assets of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and increase
the Group’'s net loss for the year ended 31 December
2015.
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QUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for qualified opinion paragraph,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention
to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$12,233,542,000 during the year ended 31 December
2015. This condition, along with other matters as set
forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. As explained in note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which is dependent on the
Group's ability to monitor and improve the cash flows of
the Group.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

31 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RERERkHEMGEEIER

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —_Z—HAF+-_A=+—HILFE)

2015 2014
—E-AHF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
REVENUE A 6 2,814,668 9,615,028
Cost of sales SHE AN (1,441,439) (4,110,380)
Gross profit EF 1,373,229 5,504,648
Other income and gains H AU A iz 7 362,675 323,492
Selling and distribution expenses DX (629,129) (179,287)
Administrative expenses TEFEX (1,843,873) (900,947)
Research and development costs I Bk AR 9 (825,427) (513,966)
Loss on disposal of an available-for-  H & Al it H £ E
sale investment el kit 9 - (12,274)
Impairment of goodwill SESNERED 9 (7,915,318) =
Impairment of property, plant Y -~ WE RS
and equipment A 9 (770,022) —
Impairment of intangible assets mEERE 9 (969,727) —
Impairment of an available-for-sale AHEHERERE
investment 9 — (23,610)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEWB A REE 9, 34 (11,499) =
Other expenses HiAx 9 (786,259) (4,269)
Finance costs B 75 A AN 8 (72,063) (7,095)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BiAl (E518) 5 R 9 (12,087,413) 4,186,692
Income tax expense Frig R % 5 2 10 (146,129) (983,074)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEE (BEB), B (12,233,542) 3,203,618
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS REZHBENSE
TO BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT ERmHMEE
OR LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT B8 -
PERIODS:
Exchange differences on translation  #EINE S 7 [E 5,
of foreign operations =5 (523,533) (18,299)

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

REREEREMEZERERE)

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE —Z—AF+-_A=+—HILFE)

2015 2014
—E—FHE —T—OF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 FET F&T
(Restated)
(EF)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEHMEEES
FOR THE YEAR, B {IBRFE
NET OF TAX (523,533) (18,299)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ AEERHE(EE),
INCOME Wiz
FOR THE YEAR (12,757,075) 3,185,319
(Loss)/profit for the year FELAEE (BE),/
attributable to: i/
Owners of the parent ISYNEIETF-PN (12,233,564) 3,203,696
Non-controlling interests EIS A 22 (78)

(12,233,542) 3,203,618

Total comprehensive (loss)/income EhEAEE2E(EE)

for the year attributable to: W ssaEE
Owners of the parent ISNCIEZZEN (12,757,097) 3,185,397
Non-controlling interests e i 22 (78)
(12,757,075) 3,185,319
HK cents HK cents
Bl JEN
(Restated)
(E31)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ISENCIE¥-PN 2
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS #&R(&#E) 27
OF THE PARENT 12
Basic HAR (29.3) 9.7
Diluted B8 (29.3) 7.3

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note AEERBEZFBREA VSRR 11
11 to the consolidated financial statements. 5= o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BT RS AR R

(As at 31 December 20156 R=—Z—HRF+-_F=+—8H)

2015 2014
—E2-HF —T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
izt FET FET
(Restated)
(E%)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KRR E 14 342,707 766,781
Goodwill RS 15 — 7,915,318
Intangible assets | EE 16 16,597 1,181,777
Deposits paid for acquisition IWEEYIE -« BRE K&
of items of property, #HIEE 2BEN%e
plant and equipment 30 32
Deferred tax assets BEEFITREE 29 — 76,404
Restricted cash PR HIER & 23 6,071 4,072
Other non-current assets HIERBEE 245,059 =
Total non-current assets JEMENE ELRTE 610,464 9,944,384
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 17 2,358,290 659,023
Trade receivables Z 5 W GRIE 18 3,695,639 6,078,695
Tax recoverable AT R TR 6,303 —
Gross amount due from contract B A R BT
customers 19 2,930,836 3,278,508
Other receivables H At & W kIR 20 518,989 399,634
Bills receivable eSS 21 2,805 101,411
Deposits and prepayments e RIBNRIA 22 1,688,108 1,636,919
Restricted cash ZREIRE 23 212,438 76,689
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 23 447,826 3,056,916
Total current assets MENE EAREE 11,861,234 15,287,795
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and bills payables B 5 REBENKIA 24 1,110,827 435,817
Other payables and accruals H Ath FE T SRIE K
fEZtE H 25 1,606,923 1,484,606
Interest-bearing bank and other RIT R E M B
borrowings 26 279,385 484,190
Tax payable FEfSFIIR 647,611 860,908
Deferred income FIEWA 18,780 —
Finance lease payables FERTR B ERIE 28 8,147 7,875
Total current liabilities B A B 3,671,673 3,273,396
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEERE 8,189,561 12,014,399
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBERE
LIABILITIES 8,800,025 21,958,783

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

(continued)

mEMBRRE(E)

(As at 31 December 20156 R=—Z—HRF+—-_F=+—8H)

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2015 2014
—E—FF —FE—JUF
Notes HK$’000 HK$°'000
izt FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIHA R 29 417,406 561,995
Interest-bearing bank and R1T R E AR BAER
other borrowings 26 903,573 871,255
Finance lease payables JE R E R ERIE 28 28,769 37,015
Other non-current liabilities HEMIEmsaE 2,675 2,880
Total non-current liabilities JEmE B ELRE 1,352,423 1,473,145
Net assets BEFE 7,447,602 20,485,638
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the owners BAREE AEN
of the parent =
Issued capital B EBITRA 30 104,367 104,084
Reserves i 32 7,342,626 20,380,967
7,446,993 20,485,051
Non-controlling interests B 609 587
Total equity - G 7,447,602 20,485,638

Frank Mingfang Dai

Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

L EARITIRARE,

Huang Songchun

ENE
HITEFFYEAE
—Z—h
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—_ZE—AF+-A=1+—HILFE)

Attributable to owners of the parent

SATRR ABK
Share Capital Convertiole Share Non-
Issued premium — redemption Reserve  Contributed  Bonds equity Exchange option Retained controlling
capital account* reserve* funds* surplus* eserve* Teserve’* Teserve* profits* Sub-total interests Total
THERS

BEfilE  ROERE A4EEGR BRS  EAEN  EaRR  EMER  BRERE  AmE hi o FERER b4
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
13 i3 i3 i3 i {24 {2 AT AT AT &L 1

At1 January 2014 RZF-BE-A-A 410 8,963,135 7,600 2309 282,5% 895,686 343,924 20,563 5,033,242 15,841,306 — 15841306
Proitforthe year (ss previously reported) SRR (10E12%) - - - - - - - — 33 3307748 18) 3307670

Adjustments in refation to acquisiton of A AaFifE 2 B

Alta (note 4) (hie) = = = = = = = = (104,062) 104,062) = (104,052)
Proit for the year (e restated) HERARIES) - - - - - - - —  336% 320369 18 323618
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ EEEEM2EER:

Exchange differences on transhtionof ~ AZHEEZ

forsign operations fes previously 3523
reported) (mH28) = = = = = = 18.319) = = 18,319) - (18,319)
Adiustments in relation o acquisiton kAl AR
of Ala (rote 4) ) - - - - - - 0 - - 0 - 0
Exchange differences on translaion of & STV EN 2R

foreign operation (as restated) (E51) - - - - - - [18.299) - - [18.299 - [18.299)
Total comprehensive income for the FEEeAhEsE

period = = = = - - 18,299) = 3,2036% 3,185,397 (78] 3,185,319
Aporopriation of reserve funds RGES - - - 28943 - - - - 28.943) - - -
Deemed contribution from the then BleAERRRLE

shareholder of Alta note 4] (hiz4) - - - - 9,995 - - - - 9,995 - 9,9%
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi -EHBAT - - - - - - - - - - 65 65
Cancelation of share premium and iRhEERERE

transfer to contributed surplus EaRs = 20,0001 - - 200,000 - - - - - - -
Dividend declared BERRS = = = = (429,300 = = = = 429,300) = 429,300
Exercise of share options fiFERE 613 388 - - - - - [3,155) - 41,382 - 031
Share option expense BRiERx - - - - - - - 2431 - 2431 - 2031
Subscripton of shares ZERA 250 877,500 - - - - - - - 90000 - 900,000
Exercise of Convertiole Bonds RS 9,501 1,733,064 - - - (895,685) - - - 846,880 - 846,680
At 31 December 2014 (as restated] it

t2f=t-8
(3l) 104,084 11,417,583 7,600 52,035 150,290 - 325,65 19839 8407,99 20,485,051 57 20,485,638

ZREEREEEER AT HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(continued)

mEERBER(

=1
=

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ—F—HF +-_A=+—HIFE)

Attributable to owners of the parent

30785 AR
Share Capital Convertible Share Non-
premium  redemption Reserve  Contributed  Bonds equity Exchange option Retained controlling
account* reserve* funds* surplus* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Sub-total interests Total
TERES
RORER: EARERE: BRer  REEM  BERR  ENRR  RRERE  EpER: Nt FEREE a8
HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKs'000
72 bz:23 723 &R &R &L 7EL 7EL 7ER &R 7.3
A1 January 2015 [as restated) RZE-1§-A-8
(E5l) 104,084 11,417,583 7,600 52,035 150,290 - 325,626 19,839 8,407,995 20,485,051 587 20,485,638
Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - - - (1033864 (12233564) n 1354
Other comprehensive loss for the year  AEFZB2EAE
Exchange differences on transhationof ~ BESHEH7
foreign operations Eiz2 - - - - - - (523,533 - - (523,533) - (523,533
Totl comprehiensive loss for the year ~ ZEE2EEESE - - - - - - (623,833} - (12283564 (12757,097) o (12767078)
Aporopriation of reseve funds i - - - 69,031 - - - - (69,031) - - -
Repurchase of own shares BEARSRA (B4 (243063 8 - - - - - - (243,083) - (243,063)
Exercise of share options fnote 30l TEERE(FE06) 37 43,14 - - - - - [3,696) - 3815 - 30815
Share aption expense (note 42) BRERR(FY) - - - - - - - 19,282 - 19,282 - 19282
Degmed contrbution fiom the then BleAwERRRLE
shareholder of Alta - - - - 19,254 - - - - 19,254 - 19,254
Deemed distrbuton to th then BiERNERRRAR
shareholder of Alta - - - - (116,249) - - - - (116,249 - [116,249)
At 31 December 2015 RoE-1E
t2A=t-8 104,367 11,217,664 7,684 121,066 53,205 - 197,908) 35,425 3,894,600) 7,446,993 609 7,441,602
o These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves — * ZEREREERREAMBRRAR ZHKE

of HK$7,342,626,000 (2014 (restated): HK$20,380,967,000)
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

i 157,342,626,00078 To(= & — 0 F(E 5 ) :
20,380,967,000787T) °

—T—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERE®mE

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF —

AFE+-_A=1+T—HILFE)

2014
—T—EF
Notes HK$'000
Hitat FEr
(Restated)
(&%)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEFRHESRE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax: %RHI (B#) Vel (12,087,413) 4,186,692
Adjustments for:
Finance costs ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ»‘ 8 72,063 7,095
Interest income from banks, on overdue =75 Ere B AR
trade receivables from Hanergy Affiliates fﬁﬁﬂ guﬁlk&ﬂﬁfﬂ
and other interest income from third Z S EWFIE 2 F B
parties 7 (258,103) (212,864)
Amortisation of intangible assets T A EE S 9 158,956 151,148
Impairment of goodwill B RE 9 7,915,318 —
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4% - fiE k& ERIE 9 770,022 =
Impairment of intangible assets B EERE 9 969,727 —
Impairment of trade receivables B S W IERE 9 202,817 —
Impairment of other receivables H e SR IE R B 9 247,454 —
Impairment of an available-for-sale investment ] fit H &% &R (E 9 - 23,610
Depreciation of items of property, ME - BERZETE
plant and equipment 9 156,867 111,936
Write-down of inventories to net realisable  1F&#UE = Al & 37 H(E
value 9 218,265 —
Write-off of leasehold improvements to HEMEREWREER
profit or loss included in administrative STATTHAX
expenses 9 115,506 —
Loss on disposal of equity investment at HEZRQATEHERRER
fair value through profit or loss KN A 2 18 9 - 4,269
Loss on disposal of an available-for-sale HEMHEERE CEER
investment 9 — 12,274
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HE%¥ - ME &R
and equipment BEHZER 9 6,837 39
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HER B A REE 9 11,499 —
Equity-settled share option expenses DARE 2R A5 E RO RR (7 HA M
A 9 19,282 2,431
(1,480,903) 4,286,630
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGLm),/ (2,031,189) 1,012,698
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 2 BRI (38 0) 2,166,826 (5,184,230)
Increase in other receivables H i U FRIBIE hN (195,198) (109,222)
Decrease/(increase) in bills receivable FERE R /(38 0) 94,606 (101,411)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and Ze RFENFIEAEM),
prepayments s (157,988) 367,747
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SR EIE SR, (g ) 5,791 (17,735)
Increase/(decrease) in trade B o REBENTKIEA
and bills payables #m, Crd) 719,992 (181,892)
Increase in other payables Hi NI R ETE R
and accruals AN 212,434 407,445
Cash (used in)/generated from operations REIEE (R EEZ
e (665,629) 479,930
Interest paid EENEESS (73,787) (14,066)
Income taxes paid EFTEE (433,914) (220,573)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating KEIEE (A EEZ
activities Rene#*8 (1,173,330) 245,291

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSgeontinue)
HRERTRERR(E

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE —Z—AF+-_A=+—HILFE)

2014
—T—F
Notes HK$'000
Hitat FEr
(Restated)
(&%)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating KEEE (R /EE2
activities RemeRe (1,173,330) 245,291
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, plant and EEYE - BEREREEE
equipment (899,662) (460,173)
Decrease in deposits paid for acquisition WY - E REREIEE
of items of property, plant and equipment ZEReR D 2 461
Purchase of intangible assets R = (5,728) (7,059)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —EE AR 33 (3,241) 12,674
Advance to the ultimate holding company RIS A BEL 2 B — 458
Advance to related parties MIEAE R AEL 2 B3R — (25,146)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR 34 4,784 =
Interest received SIS 63,709 6,976
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE « ME k& EEB
plant and equipment Z P13 5k1A 35,397 418
Proceeds from disposal of an available-for- &R HERE 75
sale investment FRIE - 49,916
Proceeds from disposal of an equity HEREAFEYIRNERZ
investment at fair value through profit BmRE S 5IA
or loss — 7,429
Net cash flows used in investing activities Txﬁﬁé@]ﬁﬁﬁ ZIRERE
SHEF (804,739) (414,046)

T-RHEF¥H ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

REBRTRE®WKR(E

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ —

—hAFt-A=1T—HLEFE

2014
—T—EF
Notes HK$'000
Hitat FEr
(Restated)
(&%)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Subscription of shares R HE A - 900,000
Advances from the ultimate holding company FARIEIR A &) 2 3k — 391,443
Advance from related parties B AL 2B - 33,528
Proceeds from other borrowings due to HEREABEAT 2 EMERZ
related parties Fr{S 3k38 123,446 97,795
Repayments of other borrowings due toa  EBEHMER T —Z2HE
related party AL (744) (242)
Proceeds from other borrowings due to HRE=ZF2EMERZ
third parties Fr{S 3k38 - 573,605
Repayments of other borrowings due to BEHMERTE=S
third parties (231,491) (157,187)
Dividend paid to the shareholders EATIRE 2R B — (429,300)
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank RITHT EAEFZ FT1S50I8
borrowings 445,449 385,130
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BB IRITHT S A K
borrowings (469,749) (396)
Increase in restricted cash N PR HI3R S 2 IR (143,539) (54,499)
Repayment of finance lease payables BEEMNREEERIE (7,974) (9,220)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon TR IR 21T D
exercise of share options FT{S 3005 39,815 41,342
Deemed contribution from the then BRAEAIta EHFARE T E
shareholder of Alta 19,254 96,995
Deemed distribution to the then shareholder i8{E Alta & %5 2 5% 7
of Alta (116,249) —
Payment for share repurchase HEE B BT 38 (243,063) =
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing MEBE(FEA) EEZ
activities Re M= FE (584,845) 1,868,994
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND iﬁﬁwﬁﬁ%{smz
CASH EQUIVALENTS M), R (2,562,914) 1,700,239
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning i%ﬂzﬁé&ﬁé%@%
of year 3,056,916 1,367,836
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net JMNEE[E R &g 7 /& - H5 (46,176) (11,159)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END &K 2zHESRBESSEY
OF YEAR 447,826 3,056,916
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH ~ RERRAESEZENLEHZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS o
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in E"Eﬁ%#/ﬁﬁﬁfﬁé e
the statement of financial position and in PR 2 IRE MR EEY
the statement of cash flows 23 447,826 3,056,916
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Bermuda. The address of
its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is Suite 7601A & 7607-08, Level 76,
International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally involved in (i) the manufacture of
equipment and turnkey production lines for the
manufacture of amorphous silicon and Copper Indium
Gallium Selenide (“CIGS”) based thin-film power
modules (“Manufacturing”); (ii) the technological
development and production of Gallium Arsenide
("GaAs"”) thin-film power turnkey production lines
(“Manufacturing”); (iii) building ground-mounted
power stations or rooftop power stations for sale and
sale of thin-film power modules (“Downstream”);
(iv) the research, development and sale of thin-film
power application products (“Downstream”); (v) sale
of electricity (“Downstream”); and (vi) providing
engineering service (“Downstream”).

The Company’s shares are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Group’s current operations
are principally based in Hong Kong, the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"” or “Mainland China"”),
the Kingdom of Sweden (“Sweden”), the Federal
Republic of Germany (“Germany”), the United States
of America (the “United States”) and the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern lIreland (the
“United Kingdom").

RAREEER

EEREEEEEFGRAR((IARRL)
REREFMX L AEREEBRAF °
Ha s EE I A Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda' HEZEXEMIAFTEN
ENTEER—RRIKESHES 762
7601A X 7607-08 = °

RARREWBRR(FEAEE])
FARAEBREFREY R RIRE KW
(CIGSEEBHETEHHERARE
REGEERIRED (i)W &
(I GaAs | ) EIR B BR AR 4 EE AR I B 3
RAEE(RE]D : (i) BEAGEHES
uh AN E TR E vh LA 34 55 30 $H S R AR AR 1
(TN D) ¢ (v BT ~ PSR SHE IR 3%
BEAER(THRD : MHEEENTT
1) - R(vi) RETERF (T TR -

ARBBEONEEBERZAAERAF
(TBERPr D ER £ - AREBRKAE
B REARKMBE(HEIKHERA
) HAFE([HKA])  BEEHHL
AMBE(RE] - ZHEERE(E
BDRRTIEBERIEEBHBES EE
(TREDRETESEEN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

On 20 May 2015, the stock price of the Company
plunged 47% to HK$3.91 per share from HK$7.38
per share before a suspension was announced by
the Company on that day. Then on 15 July 2015, the
Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC") directed
the Stock Exchange to extend the trading suspension.
As at the date of approval of these financial
statements, the trading of stock of the Company is
still suspended.

On 21 December 2015, Mr. Li Hejun, the chairman of
the Company and the controlling person of Hanergy
Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy Holding”), sold
2,500,000,000 shares of the Company to independent
third parties. Upon completion of this transaction,
the equity interests in the Company held by Hanergy
Holding and its concert parties decreased to 72.21%
of the issued share capital of the Company.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate
holding company of the Company is Hanergy
Investment Limited (“Hanergy Investment”), which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Hanergy Holding, which is established in the PRC.

B&EBR2ATE HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

PEAREBER #)

R-ZEBE—RAERA=-1+H  ERARFR
RAEEHWEFEEAMN AAFKERH
BR738BILTH47T%EERI91E
T R=ZZE—RAFLA+HA BFK
HESBERZES([BES )IESH
RIEREEFER - RAMB®RE 2t
BERH - ARAREEBENALRE -

RZE—FRE+-_A=-+—H &2
AlEREEkEZEEREEBER AG(NE
BEERDMERALTZNE EES
2,500,000,000 f& A A &l {7 & T & 3L
BE=F - TRIERSHE  EEEREE
—HITBA TET R A R AA FIARER
EHARREEITRANT72.21% °

EEZRE ARRZHEEERABAR
EEEAHS((RBRERES])EM
BX 32 Z Hanergy Investment Limited
([Hanergy Investment]) @ 1 Z& 2 &
ZREER AR AR BN 2 E T

B e



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RARKEEER @)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries N =
Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as NEBETFTEWNB AT FHBIT
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued/
registration and registered share capital/paid
business in capital Percentage of equity
Name AMAT/BER BRf/dfRkaEE/ attributable to the Group  Principal actvities
£H £BiG Ehgx AREELRERA  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1F il
Hanergy Hi-Tech Power International BVI Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
_ Limiteg* EBRAEE L@k1,000%T REZR
RN RN ERAT
Hanergy Hi-Tech Power (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary US$77,218,880 100% 100%  Investment holding and trading
ot (BERHERAT 3 LR85 77,018,880 T of equipment and turnkey
_production lines
REBRREBRBREE
HER
Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd." The PRC/ Registered US$23,800,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
_ (2 wholly-owned foreign enterprise) Mainland China i 87523,800,000% T and turnkey production lines
REABEIREARLR hE /e R REREREELER
(2BNELE)
Apollo Precision (Beijing) Ltd. The PRC/ Registered RMBS,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
{a wholly-owned foreign enterprise] Mainland China ~ #Hfi& & AK#5,000,000 T and turnkey production lines
IREIEB L ERERRAA HE /R HEREREELESR
(2EMELE)
Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuanhong The PRC/ Registered RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
Limited" Mainland China ~~ HTHERARY and turnkey production lines
ERNBRTE R HARD &/ HER 20,000,000 RERBREELER
Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuantong The PRC/ Registered US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
Limited” Mainland China ~ Fff& 75,000,000 and turnkey production lines
(8 wholly-owned foreign enterprise) /B PERETRELES
ERARER LR AARAA
(REMERX)
Sun Reliant International Limited* BVI Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRIES LER REBR
Hanergy Global Solar Power Group BVI Ordinary US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited* ABRABS £1A0R5,000,000% 7 RERRK
ERARAREEEEERAF
HGSG-NA Land Power 1, LLC The United States Registered US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
e S A 50,0007 REBR
Xinjiang Hanergy Thin Film The PRC/ Registered RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
_Solar Power Investment Limited" Mainland China ~~ HFERARE RERK
TERN AR RERRDA hE/hER 200,000,007
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

1. RAREEER®)

MEBARZER(E)
AEBTZMBRRFBENOT : (F)

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued/
registration and reglstered share capital/paid
business |n ca ital Percentage of equity
Name AL/ ERR / HRRAEE/ attributable to the Group ~ Principal activities
£ Er Sk AREELRERA  TEER
2015 2014
“E-1F Z-E
Solibro Research AB Sweden Paid in SEK100,812,412 100% 100%  Provision of research and
it EWER 100812412 development service
HERH RUAR R AL
Guangdong Hanergy New Energy The PRC/Mainland Registered RMB300,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Co. Ltd.* China AMARARE RAZR
ER R EREARAA hE/hER 300,000,0007%
Shanghai Hanergy Thin-Film Power The PRC/Mainland Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
Co,Ltd China AMARARE HEERZY
LSRR RARAT hE/hER 50,000,007
Sichuan Hanergy Thin-Film Power Co. Ltd.* The PRC/Mainland Registered RMBE0,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
mIERERE SRR AT China AMEEARY HEEREN
hE/hER 60,000,000
Guangdong Hanergy Thin-Film Power The PRC/Mainland Reglstered RMB600,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment and Developmem Co,Ltd"  China AMERARE RERK
EREHARAEREERRRAA hE/RER 600,000,0007%
Beijing Hanergy Solar Investment The PRC/ Registered RMB50,010,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co, Ld' Manland China ~ FTTERARS RAZR
SRR R EERAT 8/ HER 50,010,007
MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp. The United States Paid in US$114,959,388 100% 100%  Manufacturing of photovoltaic
%8 EWEA 114,959,388 T products and equipment
Bt En ki
Hanergy Thin Film Power (UK) Limited ~ The United Kingdom  Registered GBP1 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
(formerly known as Hanergy Solar UK~ B A 1 B HEREEL
Limited)
(BT Hanergy Solar UK Limited)
Global Solar Energy, Inc. The United States Paid in US§23,731,737 100% 100%  Manufacturing of photovoltaic
%8 BERS 13113757 products and equipment
Rk Enkdh
Savanna Solar Limited. Ghana Registered GHC400,000 70% 70%  Construction of photovoltaic
ik FEE 7£.400,000 MBS power generation projects

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RARKEEER @)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) WEBARZ2ER (&)
Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as AREFBTEWRBATEFOR : (&)
follows: (continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued/
registration and reg|stered share capital/paid
business in capital Percentage of equity
Name HRRL/ BER Eﬁﬂ/ﬁﬂ’&ﬂ%@ﬁ/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
£ EBiG Bhg AEBELESEA Y B
2015 2014
TE-1F g
Guangzhou Qiguang So\ar Energy The PRC/Mainland Registered RMB57,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of technology
Technology Co. Ltd" China &R AR 57,000,000 marketing and application
FJHEMK% Mﬁﬁﬁ hE/RERY service
MMHEF NERRES
Alta Devices, Inc.** The United States Paid in US§23,991,384 100% —  Provision of research and
%8 BUER3,991 384 %L development service
RUTAR R AR
Beijing Hanergy Thin Film Power Electrical The PRC/Mainland Registered RMB70,000,000 100% —  Provision of engineering
Engmgermg Limited**** China AR Services
TrEwEEARRENTR hE/ERH 70,000,00070 RETERRE
ERAF**
Beijing Hanergy New Energy Investment  The PRC/Mainland Registered RMB90,000,000 100% —  Investment holding
Co., Lt China &R AR 90,000,000 REERK
SRR B EARAT hE /e R
Hubei Hanergy Huazhong Thin-Film The PRC/Mainland Registered RMB50,000,000 100% —  Investment holding
Power Co,Lid” China A AR 50,000,000 T REMK
S RABEEARAT hE /e R
o Direct subsidiaries of the Company. * AARZEEHMBAR -
**  The subsidiary was acquired on 27 January 2015. *x %Eé%@aﬁé\:?*ﬁifﬂ —t++
***  The subsidiary was acquired on 9 June 2015. *EE %W%’Aﬂﬁ’:\:g—ﬁiﬁﬂ AR=RT¢
* Unofficial English transliteration or translations for * FEEN RS2k Bl - EHER -
identification purpose only.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERINHEER AT EENFEEESE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally §§$§}ﬂ2$$@§j§§§,ﬂgﬁ4ﬁ ]
affected the results for the year or formed a NAlc BERAE  BEEEMNBATZ
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To HEeSERBRALE -

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RAEEE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group had a net loss of HK$12,233,542,000 and
net cash outflows used in operating activities of
HK$1,173,330,000 and the current assets were in
excess of the current liabilities of HK$8,189,561,000.
Included in Note 18, 19, 20 and 22, there were
trade receivables, gross amount due from contract
customers and other receivables due from Hanergy
Holding and its affiliates (collectively "Hanergy
Affiliates") and prepayments made to Hanergy
Affiliates with a total amount of HK$5,493,461,000
and trade receivables and gross amount due from
contract customers from a third-party customer with
a total amount of HK$1,894,128,000.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

HERBHRERRDBREELGFMNAE
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2B IR TIB 25+ B B 556
9 FERESESUNBEEAHEE
SEATT

REBEE-_T—AF+-_A=1+—HBLF
E AEEEEEF5E12,233,542,000
BELIREEEHMARS KL FE
1,173,330,000 7% 7T + 1M it &) & &= Lk 7k
&) & {5 8 18,189,561,000/8 T o K
FE18 1920 K% 22" B ¥ % f6 12 i%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 RBEEEE)

The directors of the Company are considering on
monitoring and improving the cash flows of the
Group, which included but was not limited to the
expansion to downstream business and the execution
of other manufacturing business with individual
customers. As at the date of approval of these
financial statements, the Company has entered into a
production line supply contract with an independent
customer for sale of a production line with a
production capacity of 1T60MW and a contract amount
of US$125,500,000. Also the Group's downstream
business undergoes substantial expansion. In addition
to ongoing proactive development of ground-mounted
power stations, as at the date of approval of these
financial statements, orders for household systems
exceeding 7,100 sets have been received, as well as
numerous orders for rooftop and small to medium-
sized enterprises (“SME") commercial systems etc.

In light of the measures of the Group described above
and based on the cashflow forecast prepared by the
Company’s management for the coming 12 months,
the directors of the Company are of the view that the
Group is able to meet with its liabilities as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company consider that it is
appropriate to prepare these financial statements on
a going concern basis.

Comparative information

Certain comparative amounts have been restated
to conform with the current year's presentation
and disclosures. In addition, certain items in the
consolidated financial statements have been restated
due to common control business combination, further
summary details of which are included in note 4
below.

RAAREFEZRERRBGEAEER
TRE BEBTERBRAETHE
BREREEFPETHEMBEER -
RALETERRERD  AQFE HB
VURFPHIVAEGHEGDN  HE
EfEABIGOMWHAER A& H
125,500,000 & 7T ° AN B 1E T i 715
IMSEIREEF - b THEBRFEH
HEL  BHEHEMBREREAEED
HBB7,100EMFARARIE  LRK
EEEERRPRGE(HNEDEAR

e

N EX P AN SR E A IE i - 1A
NEEEERARKI2EAmENRE
RERA - KRAREZA/AKEAE
NARKRNBRAEE - Ut - AR
EERRUBRRUAFELEELERH
TIBRE -

EEEH

ETHRESBEEINUAFERFENSE
5 R B 5 o BAN - R FERIESI TR
Bef GeMBHREz2ETEER
B HE—SHBZBESHNATH
4o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 RBEEE®)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control

ceases.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 RBEEEE)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and

recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or

loss. The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Business combinations under common control are
accounted for using the merger accounting method.
Detailed accounting policy is set out in note 2.4 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RERE(E)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B BRREEEREZE

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised
standards for the first time for the current year's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions
Amendments to a number  Annual Improvements to
of HKFRSs HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to a number  Annual Improvements to
of HKFRSs HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact
of Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
and Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013
Cycle, the adoption of the above revised standards
has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

(@) The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-
2012 Cycle issued in January 2014 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Details
of the amendments that are effective for the
current year are as follows:

° HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies
that an entity must disclose the
judgements made by management in
applying the aggregation criteria in HKFRS
8, including a brief description of operating
segments that have been aggregated
and the economic characteristics used
to assess whether the segments are
similar. The amendments also clarify that
a reconciliation of segment assets to total
assets is only required to be disclosed if
the reconciliation is reported to the chief
operating decision maker. The amendments
have had no impact on the Group.

B&EBR2ATE HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

° HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
and HKAS 38 /Intangible Assets: Clarifies
the treatment of gross carrying amount and
accumulated depreciation or amortisation
of revalued items of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. The
amendments have had no impact on the
Group as the Group does not apply the
revaluation model for the measurement of
these assets.

° HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures:
Clarifies that a management entity (i.e.,
an entity that provides key management
personnel services) is a related party
subject to related party disclosure
requirements. In addition, an entity that
uses a management entity is required
to disclose the expenses incurred for
management services. The amendment has
had no impact on the Group as the Group
does not receive any management services
from other entities.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-
2013 Cycle issued in January 2014 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Details
of the amendments that are effective for the
current year are as follows:

o HKFRS 3 Business Combinations:
Clarifies that joint arrangements but not
joint ventures are outside the scope of
HKFRS 3 and the scope exception applies
only to the accounting in the financial
statements of the joint arrangement itself.
The amendment is applied prospectively.
The amendment has had no impact on
the Group as the Company is not a joint
arrangement and the Group did not form
any joint arrangement during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)  (continued)

In addition,

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement:
Clarifies that the portfolio exception in
HKFRS 13 can be applied not only to
financial assets and financial liabilities, but
also to other contracts within the scope
of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39 as applicable.
The amendment is applied prospectively
from the beginning of the annual period
in which HKFRS 13 was initially applied.
The amendment has had no impact on the
Group as the Group does not apply the
portfolio exception in HKFRS 13.

HKAS 40 Investment Property: Clarifies
that HKFRS 3, instead of the description
of ancillary services in HKAS 40 which
differentiates between investment property
and owner-occupied property, is used to
determine if the transaction is a purchase
of an asset or a business combination.
The amendment is applied prospectively
for acquisitions of investment properties.
The amendment has had no impact on
the Group as there was no acquisition of
investment properties during the year.

the Company has adopted the

amendments to the Listing Rules issued by the

Stock Exchange relating to the disclosure of financial

information with reference to the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current

financial year. The main impact to the financial

statements is on the presentation and disclosure of

certain information in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

2.3 EEMEERERNERBYHK

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not

yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Amendments to a number of

HKFRSs'

January 2016

January 2018

Financial Instruments’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Investment entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception'

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts’

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Disclosure Initiative'

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation'

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'
Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

4 g
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its annual financial statements beginning on or after
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Group
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EMEMEERERNERYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of
the financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39
and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January
2018. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
the standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor's
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group
upon adoption.

BMR2A7 HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EMEMEERERNERYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods
and key judgements and estimates. The standard
will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. In September 2015, the
HKICPA issued an amendment to HKFRS 15 regarding
a one-year deferral of the mandatory effective date of
HKFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is currently
assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in financial statements. The amendments
clarify:

(i)  the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i)  that specific line items in the statement of profit
or loss and the statement of financial position
may be disaggregated;

(iii) that entities have flexibility as to the order
in which they present the notes to financial
statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income
of associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method must be presented in
aggregate as a single line item, and classified
between those items that will or will not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EEMEERERNEEBUHE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING LBl 1)
STANDARDS (continued)
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the AN - REEETE SR Bk R E R B
requirements that apply when additional subtotals are HERNEHEEINNEEEENET o &
presented in the statement of financial position and EBEFEBHRA T —NF— B — B EEHN
the statement of profit or loss. The Group expects ZEEI c ZE BT BTN AEER
to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016. The M SRR AT E A E -

amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the EH e ELE 16 REBeERS
principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue 385m¢nyz]gf§,ﬁ§,§aﬁ&/ﬁ\lj%mgﬁ
reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are LEE e ERE38% h g E 8
generated from operating business (of which the qyé&gg%gmgif%(;géégg_%
asset is part) rather than the economic benefits DVEAREEFNSIMIERBEREE
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As }‘é]ﬁﬁ’ﬁ“,?i,’ffrljmﬂ’]ﬁﬁ E - UWsssE
a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used EHERINEME  BENRSEE WA
to depreciate property, plant and equipment and EE?F%HBEE’J\ ST AT R A B 5 4 T
may only be used in very limited circumstances to BE o ZEEITESER - FEEZZ K
amortise intangible assets. The amendments are to TR ANE—H—BEARETES
be applied prospectively. The amendments are not R £ B ) B TS IR SR B 3R B A A T
expected to have any impact on the financial position 2, BEEENEBEWAFEHWETE
or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 HIEREEEMNITE -

January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-
based method for the calculation of depreciation of
its non-current assets.

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses
under common control, where applicable, has been
accounted for using merger accounting method. The
financial statements of the businesses under common
control are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company, using consistent accounting policies.

The merger method of accounting involves
incorporating the financial statement items of the
combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combinations occur as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling shareholder. The net assets of
the combining entities or businesses are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling
shareholder’'s perspective. No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or the excess of the acquirers’
interest in the net fair value of acquirees’ identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of investment at the time of common control
combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under
common control or since their respective dates of
incorporation/establishment, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common control
combination. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation.

EBEOHREE

WoiE = SR 2 BB A Je 7 (fig
ERIERAAHENEATR - XA
2 55 2 B R AR IR E AR F
ZERPRERB - RS BERRR

BHEFIES RIIAZELFZGS 5
ZEHBERBREH < MBHRREAR - K
WzEFREEREFAHERKEHANR
REMEERREHEHEEAHRE
B aHBERAXRBCEEFERMA
“%Hx%ﬁjfziﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/—\ﬁ% o i

HRZEGEHE > WEABERU
E%EEG%&H&E%QQZEJ%%E‘JQE BB
RHRABZAFPFEZESBLETE
PRAFER (TR

FABRRREME2AKRSEREREERE
ERIXEBEMER KT BHAZT
FEERBIEBERZARENE B X
BHESBZFEMARL, KB R

REHEER/E) 2EE - TwmARE
weaftc A -  KEARRBRHAH
Btk X5 REBERARBMKES
RiRE R B R -

—RFFH ANNUAL REPORT 2015

127



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations, other than business
combinations under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

B&EBR2ATE HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, construction contract assets,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’'s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which it arises.

B&EBR2ATE HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entitly, or any member of a group
of which it is a parit, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write-off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

3% — 5%

4% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% — 25%

20% — 25%

over the shorter of

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements
the lease terms
and 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and
machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually either individually or at
the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Technology know-how

Purchased technology know-how is stated at cost
less any impairment losses and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10
to 19 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards
and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other
than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases.
At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the
leased asset is capitalised at the present value of
the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in
property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income so
as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases,
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group
is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets,
and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to profit or loss the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating
leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire
lease payments are included in the cost of the land
and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial investments. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case
of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position
at fair value with positive net changes in fair value
presented as other income and gains and negative
net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. These net
fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in
HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains
in profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in unlisted equity
investments. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair
value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised as
other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in other income and gains, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in other expenses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as other income and
gains in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and
intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets
in the near term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-
for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its new amortised
cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’'s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that loss event have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’'s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net
of any principal payment and amortisation) and its
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment below its cost. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period
in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income — is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed
through profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Financial liabilities - 5N
Initial recognition and measurement WL ERR B

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’'s financial liabilities include trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and other
liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Trade and bills payables and other payables

They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss of the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

The non-current assets of the photovoltaic power
generation projects that are included in the scope
of consolidation and are held for sale are classified
as inventories and are measured in the same way
as other inventories, including the borrowing costs
capitalised until they are ready for use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based on
sales volume and past experience of the level of
repairs and returns, discounted to their present values

as appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= —

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that

the economic benefits will flow to the Group and

when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the

following bases:

(a)

from the manufacture of equipment and
turnkey production lines, on the percentage of
completion basis, pursuant to which costs to
complete a contract are estimated and revenue
is recognised based on the estimated progress
to completion, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Construction contracts”
below, depending on the structure and terms of

arrangement;

from sale of goods (including the photovoltaic
power generation projects) are recognised when
the goods have been delivered and title thereto
has been transferred. Sale of photovoltaic power
generation projects whose non-current assets
are classified as inventories are recognised under
“Revenue” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the total price of the shares of the photovoltaic
power generation projects plus the amount of
the net borrowings relating to the facility (total
debt less current assets). At the same time,
the related inventories are derecognised with a
charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The
difference between the two amounts represents
the operating profit or loss obtained from the
sale. Each photovoltaic power generation project
adopts the legal structure of a private limited
liability company, the financial statements of
which are fully consolidated in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) from sales to distributors, two identifiable
components of the revenue shall be considered:
(i) sales revenue of delivered rooftop solar
power systems is recognised when the rooftop
solar power systems have been delivered; (ii)
installation service revenue is deferred and then
recognised as revenue when the installation
service is performed;

(d) from sale of electricity, revenue is generally
earned and recognised upon transmission
of electricity to the electricity purchasing
companies or provincial grid companies.

(e) from the rendering of services, when the
services are rendered;

(f)  interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset; and

(g) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts from variation
orders, claims and incentive payments. Contract
costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs
of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts
is recognised using the percentage of completion
method, measured by reference to the proportion of
costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an
amount due to contract customers.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’'s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 31 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognized. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’'s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute to a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognizes
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on the items whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERHBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and
used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a
capitalisation rate of 5.3% (2014: between 3.0% and
8.7%) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. In prior years, final dividends proposed by
the directors were retained in retained profits within
the equity section of the statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(i) Revenue from sale of photovoltaic power
generation projects

Each photovoltaic power generation project
adopted the legal structure of a private limited
liability company (a “special-purpose entity”),
which was a subsidiary of the Group and
was consolidated in the Group's consolidated
financial statements since its establishment.
These special-purpose entities were set up
solely for the purpose of constructing solar
power plants for sale. Management intends
to sell these photovoltaic power generation
projects at its initial recognition and construction
of these projects. These photovoltaic power
generation projects under construction with the
intention to sell are therefore determined to be
in the Group's ordinary course of businesses. In
the Group's consolidated financial statements,
the photovoltaic power generation projects under
construction were accounted for as inventories
held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
while the other assets and liabilities pertaining
to the respective special-purpose entities
were accounted for as assets and liabilities,
respectively, in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Judgements (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from sale of photovoltaic power
generation projects (continued)

In this regard, management considered that
when the buyer acquired all the equity interest
in a special-purpose entity, it would have
effectively acquired the photovoltaic power
generation project inventories by taking over
all the assets and assuming all the liabilities
associated with the construction of the related
photovoltaic power generation project that
belongs to the special-purpose entity. The
revenue of the sale of photovoltaic power
generation project is then measured at the
fair value of the consideration payable by the
buyer for the photovoltaic power generation
project (i.e., total cash consideration payable
by the buyer plus the amount of net liabilities
(total liabilities less current assets (excluding
inventories))) assumed by the buyers through
the acquisition of the equity interest of the
special-purpose entity. At the same time, the
related inventories are derecognised to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as the cost of
sales of the sales transaction.

Cash-generating unit for goodwill impairment

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of
Manufacturing segment in 2009 (”“2009
Acquisition”). The Manufacturing segment was
expanded during past years through completion
of several acquisition transactions. Management
is of the view that all these entities included in
the Manufacturing segment will benefit from
the synergies of 2009 Acquisition and therefore
it is proper to identify the whole Manufacturing
segment as a cash-generating unit for the
impairment testing of goodwill.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Judgements (continued)
(iii) Deferred tax liabilities

The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities
for all the foreign-invested subsidiaries’
undistributed earnings of HK$409,051,000 (2014:
HK$540,089,000). Under the prevailing income
tax law of the PRC and its relevant regulations,
dividends paid by PRC enterprises out of
profits earned after 31 December 2007 to non-
PRC tax resident investors are subject to PRC
withholding tax of 10%. A lower withholding
tax rate of 5% may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The Group in the past was
charged with withholding tax at a rate of 5%
when those PRC subsidiaries distributed profits
to their holding companies outside Mainland
China. Therefore, the Group applied 5% to
provide for withholding taxes on retained profits
distributable by those subsidiaries established in
the PRC in respect of their earnings generated
from 1 January 2008 (note 29).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2015 was nil (2014:
HK$7,915,318,000) after the impairment of
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2015
of HK$7,915,318,000 (2014: Nil). Further details
are given in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Construction contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue and
profit recognition on contract work is dependent
on the estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total contract costs may be higher
or lower than those estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue
and profit recognised in future years.

Significant assumptions are required to estimate
the total contract costs that will affect whether
any provision is required for foreseeable
losses. The estimates are made based on
past experience and knowledge of project
management.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of the Group are reviewed by
management for possible impairment when
events or changes in an operating environment
indicate that the carrying amounts of such
assets may not be fully recoverable. In
determining the recoverable amounts of these
assets, expected cash flows to be generated
by the assets are discounted to their present
values, which involves significant level of
estimates relating to sales volume, selling prices
and manufacturing and other operating costs.
When a decline in an asset's recoverable amount
has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
its estimated recoverable amount. The carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment at
31 December 2015 was HK$342,707,000
(2014 (restated): HK$766,781,000) after the
impairment of property, plant and equipment
for the year ended 31 December 2015 of
HK$770,022,000 (2014: Nil). The carrying
amount of intangible assets at 31 December
2015 was HK$16,597,000 (2014 (restated):
HK$1,181,777,000) after the impairment
of intangible assets for the year ended 31
December 2015 of HK$969,727,000 (2014: Nil).
Further details are given in notes 14 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEETTHETRMGE
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (%)
(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued) st THBEE(E)
(iii) Impairment assessment on property, plant (iii) ¥ BMERRZRERBEFLEEZH
and equipment and intangible assets E 7S

finE BERCERIBRE MBRA
EEYE  HERSHEREFLEE
ZIRAETEEHRE  EEES
RETZEEERBEZ AN - RE
FEUWEEE 2 JRE &R - B
HIHES &8 £AERHMKLE
ERAER REMbET  KMBEEEE
A EReREREHRIRE -
WEEZAMEISE T  HEE
BERERDEHGFAIRESE - &
HpEHE—_T—AFt+t-_A=1+—
HIEFEZWE  BEREBRE
770,022,000 7% jt(= Z — PO £ :
m)E - ME - BEREBERZ=Z
—hFE+=-A=+t—HZEEEA
342,707,000 (= F — W4 (=
5I|) : 766,781,000 7T ) ° &K
HE—_Z—RF+_A=+—H1t
FE 7 EFEERE69,727,000
BL(ZE—HF : 8)& B
EER-_Z—RAF+-_A=+—H
ZBRTME 416,597,000/ T( =%
— M F(E%) :1,181,777,0007%8
7o) o E—HHBHNE S P B W
RWFE14 R 16A °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv) Impairment assessment on trade receivables
and other receivables

The Group regularly conducts assessments
on possible losses resulting from the inability
of debtors to settle the amounts due to the
Group. The assessment is based, inter alia,
on the age of the debt, the creditworthiness
of the debtors and the expected settlements
discounted to their present values, if
applicable. If the financial condition of the
debtors deteriorates, allowance for doubtful
receivables would be required. The balances
of trade receivables at 31 December 2015 was
HK$3,695,639,000 (2014: HK$6,078,695,000)
and the impairment on trade receivables due
from third parties was HK$197,220,000 (2014:
Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2015. The
balances of other receivables at 31 December
2015 was HK$518,989,000 (2014 (restated):
HK$399,634,000) and the impairment on other
receivables was HK$237,099,000 (2014: Nil)
for the year ended 31 December 2015. Further
details are given in notes 18 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v)

Impairment assessment and net realisable
value of inventories

Inventories of the Group are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Management
conducts assessments on the net realisable
value of inventories by reference to their age,
obsolescence, estimated net selling prices
and other economic conditions of the markets
in which the Group’'s customers operate. If
the actual selling prices of inventories are
substantially less than those expected due to
an adverse market condition or other factors,
an impairment loss on inventories may result.
Net realisable value for the raw materials
which would not be used for the construction
contracts under current business development,
such as equipment, was assessed by the
independent third party valuer using market
method after considering the specificity and the
liquidity of the inventory. Net realisable value for
photovoltaic modules was assessed based on
the most probable selling price estimated with
reference to selling price of crystalline silicon
modules after considering the different power
conversion rate between them. Net realisable
value for photovoltaic power generation projects
to be sold was assessed based on the same
comparable transaction of the Group during the
current year. Further details are given in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.
Further details are given in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected,
a reversal of the deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which such a reversal takes
place. Further details are given in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

4, RESTATEMENT 4. E5
As a result of the acquisition of Alta Devices, Inc. AR — R FUYWEE Alta Devices, Inc.
(“Alta”) (as detailed in note 33(a)) in 2015, the (TAlta)) (F¥ 18 R M 3E33(a)) * B ZE =
relevant line items in the consolidated statement of T—NE+-A=1+—HILEFEZHE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for BakEmermkak RZZE—NFE
the year ended 31 December 2014, the consolidated T A=+ —HZEEPBEARRERER
statement of financial position as at 31 December —ENE+ A=+ —HZZEEDR
2014 and the consolidated statement of changes in FER ZEBAMIEE BT
equity as at 31 December 2014 have been restated
as follows:
The Group
(as previously The Group
reported) Alta (as restated)
5@ r5E
(A 2%) Alta (251)
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET AT AT
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and ~ HZ-Z—ME+-A=+—H
other comprehensive income for the HER ZGaBER
vear ended 31 December 2014 HpzANak
Revenue N 9,615,028 — 9,615,028
Profit/(loss) for the year FRRH/ (BR) ) 3,307,670 (104,052) 3,203,618
Other comprehensive (loss/income EEEMZA(BR)/ E
for the year, net of tax il (18,319) 20 (18,299)
Total comprehensive incomey(loss) FE2ENE/(BB)2%
for the year 3,289,351 (104,032) 3,185,319
Consolidated statement of financial position ~ R_E—EE+-A=+-H2
as at 31 December 2014: SERBRAE :
Non-current assets FnBEE 9,725,336 219,048 9,944,384
Current assets nYEE 15,250,097 37,698 15,287,795
Total assets BERS 24,975,433 256,746 25,232,179
Current liabilities mBAaE 3,225,486 47,910 3,273,396
Non-current liabilities FEnPaE 1,257,272 215,873 1,473,145
Total liabilities AERE 4,482,758 263,783 4,746,541
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BfE)F8 20,492,675 (7,037) 20,485,638
Equity attributable to the owners NG E N
of the parent o 20,492,088 = 20,492,088
Deemed contribution BiETE — 96,995 96,995
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEHBRLE — (104,032) (104,032)
Non-controlling interests SRR 587 — 587
Total equity ERBE 20,492,675 (7,037) 20,485,638
Consolidated statement of changes in equity R=E—IE+-A=+—H
as at 31 December 2014; LEAREEYX :
Equity attributable to the owners of the SRR AELER
parent o 20,492,088 — 20,492,088
Deemed contribution i — 96,995 96,995
Total comprehensive loss for the year ENEEBELE — (104,032) (104,032)
Non-controlling interests FERER 587 — 587
Total equity End 20,492,675 (7,037) 20,485,638
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

4. RESTATEMENT (continued) 4. BEH|(#)

The Group
(as previously

The Group

reported) Alta (as restated)
r5E r5E
(WAT2%H) Alta (E5))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET
Consolidated statement of cash flow for BE-Z-MET-A=1—H
the year ended 31 December 2014: HEEGERENER -
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating BEEREL/(FR)2BE
activities MEFHE 315,544 (70,253) 245,291
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REEBDFAZALHEFE (406,558) (7,488) (414,046)
Net cash flows from financing activities HEBREE RS REFH 1,771,999 96,995 1,868,994
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SMEEXREF s 2E %58 (15,002) 3,843 (11,159)
The acquisition of Alta has no material impact on WiEAlta W A EHEE T —NFE+=

basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2014. |2k &5

-1

&

& o

&

%
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the executive
directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components.
The business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors are
determined according to the Group’s major products
and service lines.

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments
as follows:

— manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines for the manufacture of both
amorphous silicon based and CIGS thin-
film solar photovoltaic modules and the
technological development and production of
GaAs thin-film power turnkey production lines
(“Manufacturing”);

— construction of solar farms, rooftop power
stations, household systems, small to medium-
sized enterprises (“SME") commercial systems
etc., and sale of power stations, operation of
rooftop power stations, sale of solar photovoltaic
panels, application products and electricity, and
provision of engineering service (“Downstream”)

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit or loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss before
tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit or loss before
tax except that interest income, finance costs as well
as head office and corporate expenses are excluded
from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities
as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales is transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties
at the then prevailing market prices.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. #£&

EoEEE)

(continued)

Manufacturin Downstream
Year Ended 31 December 2015 BZ-F-F+-B=1-RLEE ﬂig Tl
HK$ 000 HK$'000
TE7 FE7
Segment Revenue 0N
Sales to external customers ERSESEETS 1,977,691 836,977 2,814,668
Segment Results AREE (9,400,801) (2,539,842) (11,940,643)
Including: 25
Research and development costs FrEsp A (824,199) (1,228) (825,427)
Reconciliation of segment results: DHREHT -
Segment results PHEE (11,940,643)
Interest income FBWA 63,709
Finance costs HKER ) (72,063)
Unallocated other income and gains RAREMBA Rz 94
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMRAIERT
expenses (138,510)
Loss before tax HaEE (12,087,413)
Segment Assets THEE 11,945,744 3,412,926 15,358,670
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment receivables %347 SEEIFE (2,970,595)
Deferred tax assets BEHESE -
Corporate and other unallocated assets ~ ¥R AMADREE 83,623
Total assets BERE 12,471,698
Segment Liabilities AHEE 2,958,595 4,574,250 7,532,845
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment payables YD BRENTE (2,970,595)
Deferred tax liabilities BERERE 417,406
Corporate and other unallocated TEREMAAEEE
liabilities 44,440
Total liabilities BELH 5,024,096
Other Segment Information A sEs
Impairment losses recognised in the RERRBEROREEE
statement of profit or loss 9,602,009 53,058 9,655,067
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 236,171 76,357 312,528
Reconciliation: # - X
Corporate and other unallocated EREMADETEREH
depreciation
and amortisation 3,295
Total depreciation and amortisation HERBEAS 315,823
Capital expenditure* ARRZ* 422,400 308,781 731,181
Reconciliation: i )
Corporate and other unallocated capital ~ ¥R EMADSEERFEX
expenditure 622
Total capital expenditure BEARLES 731,803
@ Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BARZBIERBME  BEREE

plant and equipment and intangible assets including

assets from acquisition of subsidiaries.

EVEE(BERENBRARMGZ
BE) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5., R&EFHER (2
(continued)
Manufacturing Downstream Total
Year Ended 31 December 2014 BE-Z-MEt-A=t+-BItEE g Tl At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT AT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&31) (=51) (E5)
Segment Revenue 2EHRA
Sales to external customers RN EPHE 5,983,873 3,631,155 9,615,028
Segment Results PEE 3,850,382 470,956 4,321,338
Including: B
Research and development costs FEpK AR (513,966) - (513,966)
Reconciliation of segment results: AHES %755
Segment results PEE 4,321,338
Interest income FIEHA 7,012
Finance costs HEER (7,095)
Impairment of an available-for-sale gt ﬁ’%& & e
investment (23,610)
Loss on disposal of an available-for-sale ~ HERAHERE 2 B
investment (12,274)
Unallocated other income and gains APEEMBAR g 1,336
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMRIERS
expenses (100,015)
Profit before tax Bans A 4,186,692
Segment Assets AHEE 23,060,677 4,960,356 28,021,033
Reconciliation: 2
Elimination of intersegment receivables /555 B fE Ui (3,562,540)
Deferred tax assets EEREAE 76,404
Corporate and other unallocated assets m%&ﬁﬁﬁ REE 697,282
Total assets EERE 25,232,179
Segment Liabilities AHAR 3,359,460 4,192,384 7,551,844
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables “ﬁ%}’\*ﬁfﬁf 53 (3,562,540)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAR 561,995
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMKARERE
liabilities 195,242
Total liabilities AfEes 4,746,541
Other Segment Information HitaBER
Depreciation and amortisation NE LR 254,293 5,064 259,357
Reconciliation: 2% .
Corporate and other unallocated PERRBA DT ERAY
depreciation and amortisation 3,721
Total depreciation and amortisation TEREERS 263,084
Capital expenditure* é&"ﬁﬂi * 364,984 316,191 681,175
Reconciliation: %
Corporate and other unallocated capital m%&ﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁ PRERES
expenditure 4,714
Total capital expenditure BEARLEE 685,889
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * EARAZBEREDNE BEER
plant and equipment and intangible assets including B EREEBRWENE QRS
assets from acquisition of subsidiaries. YBE) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REHER ()

(continued)
Geographical information i & & K
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) HEIKFEEZWKA

2015 2014
SE-HF et
HK$000 HK$'000

FEx FET

(Restated)

(&)

Mainland China A B A i, 2,127,615 9,475,570
United Kingdom [ 92,671 97,936
United States e 537,811 25,854
Singapore Nk 3,611 16
Hong Kong BE 2,425 —
Europe &M 47,405 6,946
Others EAh 3,130 8,706

2,814,668 9,615,028

The revenue information above is based on the EXZWABRTIRERFE 2T
locations of the customers. b o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)
Geographical information (continued)

(b) Non-current assets

A

ReEFWER (&)

HEER(E)
(b) FREEE

2015 2014
TE2-0F ks
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)

Mainland China A B A i,
United States EH
Germany =
Sweden T B
Hong Kong BE
United Kingdom e
Others HAit

331,431 1,486,544

259,955 410,636
— 13,886

— 23,558
4,017 10,932
4,430 4,155
10,631 2,956

610,464 1,952,662

The non-current asset information above is
based on the locations of the assets and
excludes goodwill and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue of HK$1,868,346,000 (2014: Nil) was
derived from sales by the Manufacturing segment
to Shandong Macrolink New Resources Technology
Limited (“Shandong Macrolink”).

Revenue of HK$73,098,000 (2014: HK$5,957,936,000)
was derived from sales by the Manufacturing
segment to Hanergy Affiliates.

Revenue of HK$426,843,000 (2014: Nil) was derived

from sales of a solar power station to third-party
customer included in Downstream segment.

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

6. REVENUE 6. WA
Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, mainly WA BIREFB ¥ TERET
represents an appropriate proportion of contract EAHNBEESLSEHRARREFHE
revenue of construction contracts and the sale of EXGEY - ETEEW - KR IR
solar power stations, rooftop power station and BEMR R NRERESR EAUKRTRE
solar photovoltaic panels and photovoltaic application R7E 2 WA -
products, electricity and engineering service to
customers.
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZDITAT -
2015 2014
TE-AF ks
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Contract revenue BRMA 1,934,115 5,955,293
Sale of solar power stations tHE AL E UL 458,385 3,378,250
Sale of solar photovoltaic panels $HE KIZEE N IRE R 111,748 169,693
Sale of rooftop power stations HEREIEE L 280,694 111,792
Sale of photovoltaic application HENKERE R
products 5,866 —
Sale of electricity HES 12,161 —
Sale of engineering service T2 BRASUA 11,699 —

2,814,668 9,615,028

“T-hEFH ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE —=

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of other income and gains

—HET A=+ HLFE)

7. Hth AR WS

is as follows:

Hp WA RKED AT

2015 2014

TE-0F pmlaiks

HK$’000 HK$°'000

FET FET

(Restated)

(&%)

Government grants* BT w8 G * 79,403 57,379

Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 e - JFEE - 37,848

Bank interest income (note 9) RITH BN (A2 9) 12,022 7,012

Other interest income (note 9) HA R B A (HT7£9) 51,687 —
Interest income on overdue trade 160 B FE WO BE R B A A
receivables from Hanergy Affiliates B 5582 BIA

(note 20) (Htst20) 194,394 205,852

Gain on sales of spare parts SHEZT M2 s 1,050 1,870

Gain on provision of services IR 2 e 14,764 2,149

Others HAh 9,355 11,382

362,675 323,492

* Government grants are tax refunds and funds for * BT R E EE AR 2 A%

the research and innovation works of the Group's

subsidiaries to which the related
already been incurred.

ZEREEEEBRAT HANERGY THIN FILM P
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HIFEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BIFERR A ST

2015 2014
SE-RF EmElalips
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
(Restated)
(&71)
Interest on other borrowings from JE S A BSE A E E A1 TR 2 AR
related parties 13,895 6,555
Interest on other borrowings from EHERREE = EMER
unrelated third parties PSS 32,689 16,625
Interest on bank borrowings IRITEERE 25,768 10,511
Interest on finance lease ERNRERERN L 1,435 1,701
Bills receivable discount charges FERERTEE R 4,000 =
Imputed interest expenses on the ARRES 2 HEFERAX
Convertible Bonds (note 8, 27) (Hiz8 - 27) - 1,296
77,787 36,688
Less: capitalised interest i BAMEF S
(note 14, 17) (Ktet14 - 17) (5,724) (29,593)
72,063 7,095
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX N

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after:

BiA (B8R),m Al

AEBZBAN(ER) RFE
IHE :

B2 T3

2015 2014
—E2-1f —Z-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
(Restated)
(E31)
Crediting: AA
Bank interest income (note 7) RITHBMAZ7) 12,022 7,012
Other interest income (note 7) Ht R BIMA(H1z7) 51,687 =
Interest income on overdue trade receivables BEEWZEHEARE S HE B MA

from Hanergy Affiliates (note 7) ( it 7) 194,394 205,852
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net* BR(BX) W - 38 (84,442) 37,848
Charging: ? I
Auditors' remuneration 2 Gl e

Audit service RHRS 13,083 10,844

Others it 3,175 1,037
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16) B BERH N 16) 158,956 151,148
Depreciation of items of property, plant nE  BERSETEWF14)

and equipment (note 14) 156,867 111,936
Employee benefit expenses**: EEBRMFET ** :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind T ZRREYHE 977,364 732,681

Employment termination benefits included EERRBENGIATHAR)

in administrative expenses 39,682 —
Performance related bonus and incentive BRIERBRS
payments - 47,958

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes RINERFTEIER 59,714 32,699

Equity-settled share option expenses NEREB MR BERY 19,282 2,431
Sub-total NEF 1,096,042 815,669
Research and development costs TRERA 825,427 513,966
Impairment of goodwill (note 15) HEREWZ15) 7,915,318 —
Impairment of property, plant and equipment NE - RERSEREMF14)

(note 14) 770,022 —
Impairment of intangible assets (note 16) B EERB(NE16) 969,727 —
Impairment of an available-for-sale investment AHRHERERHE - 23,610
Impairment of trade receivables (note 18(iilb)* m%ﬂﬁl RERE(I7E 18(1)b) * 202,817 —
Impairment of other receivables (note 20)* Hih U IBRE(H220) * 247,454 —
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value ~ FEHBZAIEERE(HHE17)*

(note 17)* 218,265 —
Write-off of leasehold improvement to profit or loss HEMEEEMAZ Basst ATHAS

included in administrative expenses (note 14) (ﬁf&“ 4) 115,506 —
Loss on disposal of an available-for-sale investment & HERE 7 R - 12,274
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HENE  BEREEERE CBE*

and equipment* 6,837 39
Loss on disposal of equity investment at fair value Hj’%ﬁ“?@ﬁ']ﬂﬁwﬁiﬁ?&z%é&ﬁz

through profit or loss* EHEx - 4,269
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HENBARBEMHE34) 11,499 =
Minimum lease payments under operating leases: &efE v HEMS :

Land and buildings THRET 320,747 99,872

Equipment Ff 29,431 29,442
@ These items are included in “other expenses” on the * ZEHBFAGEBEREMEZEK

face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss HEI[EMEAL IR -
and other comprehensive income. a

*¥*  This item include the directors’ and chief executive's *x
remuneration of the Group (note 13).

BH M (FIFE13) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

10. INCOME TAX 10. FREH

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and conducts
its primary business through its subsidiaries in the
PRC and other countries. The Company, under the
current laws of Bermuda, is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains. Hong Kong profits tax rate was
16.5% (2014: 16.5%) during the years reported. The
Company's Hong Kong subsidiary has both Hong Kong-
sourced and non-Hong Kong-sourced income. The latter
is not subject to Hong Kong profits tax and the related
expenses are non-tax-deductible. For the Hong Kong-
sourced income, no provision for Hong Kong profits
tax was made as such operations did not generate any
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong during the
year. Furthermore, there are no withholding taxes in
Hong Kong on the remittance of dividends.

Effective from 1 January 2008, the PRC's statutory
corporate income tax (“CIT") rate is 25%. Certain of
the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC were designated
as "“High New Technology Enterprises” and were
entitled to for a preferential CIT rate of 15%. The
Company’'s other PRC subsidiaries are subject to
income tax at 25% on their respective taxable
incomes as calculated in accordance with the CIT
Law and its relevant regulations except for Apollo
Precision (Kunming) Yuanhong Limited (“Apollo
Kunming”). In 2013, the Company received written
confirmations from the local tax bureau that Apollo
Kunming was taxed on a deemed profit method
based on the deemed profits at the 25% statutory
tax rate. The deemed profits was determined at
10% of the sales of Apollo Kunming. The Company’s
subsidiary in Sweden is subject to income tax at a
rate of 22%. The Company’s subsidiary in the United
Kingdom is subject to income tax at a rate of 21%.
The Company's subsidiaries in the United States
are subject to income tax at rates of 41% to 43%.
The Company's subsidiaries in Germany are subject
to income tax at a rate of 29%. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates. No provision for income tax was
made for the overseas subsidiaries as there were no
assessable profits during the current and prior years.

RABRBREZIMKY  WEBE
BEREMERMNBARETEBELS -
BIEAREZEELRZ  RERELH
FXAL 2 AR R BBRN AT BB s E AU
HH o MERFR BEEFBHRERA
16.5% (ZZ—P4 : 16.56%) ° &K &
ZEBWB AR ERE BB RIER
BEBZBRA - #EBEZNEEFNE
i MABREAX AT - BRES
BZWMATNE @ ARZEBRAFERE
EATEEESERERTEF - Q&
HEBFERAIELBE - I+ AAF
Wi phIE R AR B 2 B A TR

BTN \E—A—BBER BEH
EECEMBRICEMBH DXL
25% - AEEETHENBARERT
BlIEHEMtxE] AmMAZERDLE
FIBHifE15% » ANA =] Z H b B K
BARIAREBELOEMSRAREERE
HErBRER A 2 ERTERA Z 25% &
AR - HEBABREREREHES
RAR([EBEHEEGDBRIN RZT—=
FARRZEEEHWRBEZEEER -
ERRABGAREAEHR E26% 5B A
i F IR A% E R T AR o R AR FiE
EBRRARG ZHE10% BT - AR F 25
EAR B N BIZBIR 22% BMET SR o AR
RIZHEBWE QR ER21% BMET5
o ARBIZERMBARIEZAN % =
43% BMFIBT - AREl 2 ZEWEB A
RIZAIE 29% BMFTST o HAbith 5 R
B A 2 BB TR AN & B & & BT E a0k
BEEETZMEFE - AREINNER
AW ERANFEE SR BEFEHREERMR
Al B S E AR TS R o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRiE®ic&)
Under the prevailing CIT Law and the relevant BIBIRITOEMESHEREERER -
regulations, any dividends paid by the Company’s RZZEZNF—A—HE  AQGlZzH
PRC subsidiaries from their earnings derived after 1 BB AR ARAAR 2B BB A A
January 2008 to the Company’s Hong Kong subsidiary kRS zERNEERFTEZRE R
are subject to a 5% or 10%, depending on the 5% 3 10% * % F- 7 & Wiz E B A%
applicability of the Sino-Hong Kong tax treaty, PRC ERHIM 2 BEBRABL RAEEMS -
dividend withholding tax. For the Group, the historical BABEAMEAL% - At - A5EZA
applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable REZZTTN\F-A—BELEZRNAH
to 5% withholding taxes on retained earnings ZERFBEKZZHBARN FOIRZ
distributable by those subsidiaries established in the IREE & AR 815 5% TRHNF o
PRC in respect of their earnings generated from 1
January 2008.
2015 2014
TE-AF ks
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax: BERR IR -
— The PRC — &
Income tax expense for the year AEFEEAEHAY 217,717 870,790
Under/(over) provision in respect BEFERETIR
of prior years (EBsEHE) 2,560 (71,278)
220,277 799,512
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense — EREFRIBCER), A —
The PRC (note 29) (A5t 29) (74,148) 183,562
Total tax expense for the year REERHH S BEE 146,129 983,074

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —Z—

AFE+=—A=+—HLFE)

0. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable
o (loss)/profit before tax at the PRC statutory tax
rates which the Company’'s majority subsidiaries are

domiciled to the tax actural income
follows:

10. A8 (&)

expense is as

BHBE(ARE REXED
AT ) OEER R EBRRAEF
BLAT (B18) /i A 2 Bi 7 5 Sk B BB P
BERAEENT

8 2 7 3

2015 2014
—B-AF —ME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&E51)
(Loss)/profit before tax FiAT(E8R),m (12,087,413) 4,186,692
Tax at the PRC statutory tax rate B BUEFER R E 2 IR (3,021,853) 1,046,673
Effect of international and domestic ~ BB AR EE 1R E i5 2
preferential tax rates differential TREFE 2 8 (249,641) (174,092)
Adjustments in respect of current tax @7 HARENEARIIE > L
of previous periods 2,560 212
Effect of the deemed profit method — fB{EREFI A2 22 5,771 (361,397)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT HOHL B 2 18,882 420
Effect of PRC research and R E AR 2
development costs super-deduction (19,743) (14,637)
Deferred tax assets not recognised RERRBEZELEFIBEEE K
for impairments and other HEMmEREER
temporary difference 2,611,699 —
Tax losses not recognised RIERR Zﬁlﬁl’éﬂg 865,786 266,577
PRC dividend withholding tax AR E B A Ik s A T8
itk (136,761) 222,265
Deferred tax assets written off WEHEET I E = 69,104 —
Others Hith 325 (2,947)
Income tax expense SR> 146,129 983,074
“E—hHFFH ANNUAL REPORT 2015

183



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

11.

12.

R BRREEEARAR

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend to declare a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014
Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF
THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per
share amount is based on the (loss)/profit for the
year attributable to the owners of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
41,718,070,000 (2014: 32,969,132,000) in issue during
the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share
amount in 2014 was based on the profit for the year
attributable to the owners of the parent, adjusted to
reflect the interest on the Convertible Bonds, where
applicable (see below). The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the vyear,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
adjusted to reflect the effect of the Convertible
Bonds, share options and subscription rights, where
applicable (see below). The Convertible Bonds were
converted in 2014.

The Group had share options and subscription rights
outstanding which could potentially dilute basic loss
per share in the future but these securities were
excluded from the computation of diluted loss per
share for the year ended 31 December 2015 as their
effects would have been anti-dilutive.

11.

12.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF
THE PARENT (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings
per share are based on:

12. BRREFABGEER(EE)

S BRz)

FRERRBE(ER) BINDRET
SIRBE

2015 2014

—T R Elgiks
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
(Loss)/Earnings (&F1]) BA
(Loss)/profit attributable to the e EGRER(EE),
owners of the parent, used in basic ~ &F 7B RATES ARG
(loss)/earnings per share calculation (E518),/ 5% A (12,233,564) 3,203,696
Imputed interest expenses on the AR ESH 2 (HE R SR
Convertible Bonds (note 8) (H1:£8) — 1,296
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of BIETESREE(BE),
diluted (loss)/earnings per share BRIz (BR), &
calculation (12,233,564) 3,204,992
Number of shares
R 122 B
2014
—T—uE
‘000
Fhg
Shares &y
Weighted average number of ordinary F{EsIEERER(ERE) &
shares in issue during the year Az FRNB TS BN
used in the basic (loss)/earnings 8
per share calculation 41,718,070 32,969,132
Effect of dilution — weighted average HEEFE — H@ARINEE
number of ordinary shares: g
Assumed issue at no consideration FABRBRRIETEME
on deemed exercise of all share RAT 0 B AR e T AR (B B AT
options outstanding during the
year — 567,521
Deemed conversion of all RAERE A A R ES
Convertible Bonds — 2,551,087
Deemed exercise of all outstanding  R{EITEMA
subscription rights RITEE R — 7,951,489
Weighted average number of ordinary F{EztEEREEE (BE) &
shares in issue during the year Mz FARBZETE B INE
used in diluted (loss)/earnings per T8
share calculation 41,718,070 44,039,229
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EBERFETBRAEHFMRE

REMUNERATION AND KEY EEBEAEME
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the AEEZESZMeRELTRA - F
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section B BMEMIZE 383(1)(a) (b) ~(c) Kz (f) 1
383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies ARABI(REEZEENZER)RIIE?2
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BOIRERLA T
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:
2015 2014
TE-RF RS
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Fees e 2,714 2,315
Other emoluments: HEmme :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in &% « ZE R EWH R
kind 11,720 9,307
Equity-settled share-based payments  LAREZSAEE AR (5 2+ 2,120 105
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFIFT B K
schemes 72 71
13,912 9,483
Total #aza 16,626 11,798
The directors and chief executive represent the key EENTETHRAEBEALATTEEE
management personnel of the Company. AB o
During the year, certain directors were granted share RAREE  BIERAATERESSS - &
options, in respect of their services to the Group, FEERENANER Z RIGERS TR
under the share option scheme of the Company, ¥ EEEHNERENIEI(D) o 2E
further details of which are set out in note 31(b) BREZ A TERGEBHANERRTE
to the financial statements. The fair value of these 2 WHRELEEREBTET MBEALREE
options, which has been recognised in profit or loss SRz BEstA L EERTE
over the vesting period, was determined as at the THRAEFMETEEEAEMESRK -

date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the
above directors’ and chief executive's remuneration
and key management emoluments’ disclosures.

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

In prior years, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 31(b) to
the financial statements.

(a) Executive directors and independent non-
executive directors

13.

EERTETBRAEBHFMRE
EEEAEME#E)

RBEFE FTEFIRSFHAKHE
Z RIS RBEAR D B E IR B R E
Pt - — S FBEEN MWK T
31(b) °

(a) BITEERBUFYPTES

Salaries, Contributions
allowances Equity-settled to retirement
and benefits share-based benefit
Fees in kind payments schemes Total
§e 2UR WEREEN R RR
ik Al LUBL) ft A
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
77 71 77 7z 7R
2015 Z%-1f
Executive directors: YirEs:
Mr. Li Hejun FHERE 3% - - - 3%
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai %t 5 390 4,000 - 18 4,408
Dr. Feng Dianbo BEREL 390 - - - 390
Mr. Liu Min f) HR%EN 20 - - - 20
Mr. Chen Li RAxE 234 2,600 - 18 2,852
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Edde H-BEL 24 3,750 116 18 4118
Mr. Li Guangmin (i ZERTEN) 20 1,348 - 18 1576
Mr. Huang Songchun (i ENERE) 6 n - - i)
Mr. Si Haijian (v AR EL ) 1 - 2,004 - 2,011
Mr. Zhang Bo (v} FRAEN 7 - - - 7
2138 11,720 2120 7 16,050
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE:
directors:
Ms. Zhao Lan HERT 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wang Tongbo IRBEE 144 - - - 144
Professor Xu Zheng R 14 - - - 144
Dr. Wang Wenjing ERC (o 144 - - - 144
576 - - - 576
Total emoluments “3-nEHe
for the year 2015 a8 2714 11,720 2120 n 16,626
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

13. DIRECTORS’” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 13. EERFETHAEHFMRE
EEEBEAEME#E)

REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Executive directors and independent non-
executive directors (continued)

(a)

BITESRBIUFHTES(E)

Salaries, Contributions
allowances Equity-settled to retirement
and benefits share-based benefit
Fees in kind payments schemes Total
e 2¥R WEREEY RMETEE
e Enilg Riaxtt 3 flt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
2014 Z2-[E
Executive directors: UrEs:
Mr. Li Hejun EERE 245 — — — 245
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai %55 381 3147 = 17 3,546
Dr. Feng Dianbo BEREL 245 — — — 245
Mr, Liu Min i HREEN 245 - - — 205
Mr. Chen Li Rhxs 21 1,083 - 17 1,321
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie H-Eft 147 1,659 105 11 1922
M. Li Guangmin i ZERTEN) 0 90 — 17 1,188
Mr. Li Yuanmin EnREL 68 1,006 - 3 1,076
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie JP. ~ FFREREL AT 68 1,463 - 6 1537
1,841 9,307 105 N 11,324
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE:
directors:
Ms. Zhao Lan BELL 136 - - - 135
Mr. Wang Tongbo IRg%E 135 — — — 135
Professor Xu Zheng R 68 - - - 68
Dr. Wang Wenjing IEEL 91 — — — 91
Mr. Wong Wing Ho BNERE 45 - - - 4
474 - - - 474
Total emoluments “3-mEmS
for the year 2014 5 2315 9,307 105 I 11,798

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Executive directors and independent non-

executive directors (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Mr. Liu Min resigned as an executive director
and deputy chairman of the Company with effect
from 1 October 2015.

Mr. Li Guangmin resigned as an executive
director and financial controller of the Company
with effect from 21 December 2015.

Mr. Huang Songchun was appointed as an
executive director and financial controller of the
Company with effect from 21 December 2015.

Mr. Si Haijian was appointed as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 21
December 2015.

Mr. Zhang Bo was appointed as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 21
December 2015.

13. EERFETHRAEFMEE
EEEAEME 2

(a)

BTESRBYFITES(E)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

-1

BIRELEEBEARANRNITE
EREEIFE BT -HFTH
—HELERK -

FRERRALCEEAR NN
EFERYBRE BT —RF
tZAZt+—RAREX-

ENELRLECEZTAARATN
WITESRMBERE A=F
—hF+-A=+—HBER -

ABRLECEZRTARDTN
WITES AT —HF+=A
—t—BEER-

FFAEECEZ T AEAR B HH
TEE BH-Z—RF+=A
—t+—HRBEK-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EBERFETBRAEHFMRE

REMUNERATION AND KEY 2E

MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Executive directors and independent non- (a)
executive directors (continued)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any
director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2015
(2014 nil).

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2015 (2014: nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
two (2014: two) directors and chief executive
whose emoluments are included in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments payable to
the remaining three (2014: three) individuals
during the year are as follows:

BAEME &)

BTESRBYFITES(E)

BE_ZT-RAF+-_A=t—HLt
FE  AEEREREMNESEIN
M - ARSI WFNAREB KR
MAREBERIRB - HIERBER
MECE—HF: &) -

HEZZ AR —NF+=
A=+ —HLEFETEELEER
Zo R ENENREER NS 2 25
(ZZ—OF : &) -

TEREHFMAL

RAEE  AEERLERRHFMA
ITEEmE(CE-HFE: ma)
EERTBITRAR EMEE#H
REXDH - FRERNBT =4
(ZZ2—WF : =R)ALZBEm
™

2015 2014
—E-0F [Pk
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other emoluments FrehEMmiNe 7,223 16,044

Discretionary bonuses EIBIEAL 5,931 —

Equity-settled share-based payments — LARE2S 45 E AR (5 S 1~ 1,713 —
Contributions to retirement benefit RRABFIET BIHR

schemes 93 =

Total 4aza 14,960 16,044
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —=

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

—HET A=+ HILFE)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any top

five highest paid individuals as
to join or upon joining the

an inducement
Group, or as

compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The number of non-director and non-chief-

executive, highest paid emp

loyees whose

remuneration fell within the following bands is

as follows:

13. EERFETBRAEEFMKRE

EEEAEME 2

(b)

hEBEHFMAL(E)

HE-Z—AFER-_FT—WF+=
A=+—HItFE AEEHER
A EETNATZSBS -
LARR 5| 1% 25 I AR &= B s R AR
SEERMBY - SEABERME

MeNFATHE 2 FEERIEE
ZITHAE - a5 MEES AW
T :

Number of employees

BEAR

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000

HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000

3,000,001 B TE
3,500,0007%8 70
3,500,001 BLE
4,000,00038 7T
5,000,001 #BLE
5,500,000 % 7T
5,500,001 BT E
6,000,000 7T
9,000,001 B LE
9,500,00078 7T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRE

EREBREEEEERALA

Leasehold
improvements,
fumiture,
fixtures
Land and Construction Plant and and Motor
buildings in progress machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEY
&8 fil X
tHEES TRIE HEREE RERRA by it
HKs'000 ks 000 HKs 000 HKs 000 ks 000 ks 000
FEr A1 7T T AT A7
31 December 2015 “®-RftZA=t-A
AT January 2015 frestated): R-Z-RE-A-R(E]):
Cost WK 68,763 323,961 442,959 180,497 14,310 1,030,490
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (15,186) 20,591) (156,795) (63,427) (7,110) (263,709)
Net carrying amount BEFE 53,671 303,370 286,164 17,070 6,600 766,781
At 1 January 2015, net of accumulated R-Z-RE-A-H HE
depreciation [restated) E(E]) 53,571 303,370 286,164 17,070 6,600 766,781
Additions hE ‘ - 305,413 122,269 281,571 9,873 719,126
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) LE-FRBARHZM) - - 24,289) - - (24,289)
Disposals & - - 33,799) (8,330) (105) (42,234)
Transfer gg - (298,737) 158,411 140,326 - -
Other transfer AfpEn - (12,008) - - - (12,008)
Write off i - - - (115,506) - (115,506)
Depreciation provided during the year ENAERE (1,89) - (70,825) (80,475) (3672) (156,867)
Impairment i (51,627) (233,262) (323,393) (156,716) (5,024) (770,022)
Exchange realignment EiRE (55) 14,852) 6,181) 1,001) (185) (22,274)
At 31 December 2015, net of accumulated ~ R=F-RE+-A=1-8"
depreciation and impairment MR HERAE - 49,924 108,357 176,939 7487 342,707
At 31 December 2015: RoZ-RFT-A=1-A:
Cost s 68,708 303,717 659,370 477,557 23,893 1,533,305
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  ZHIERAE (68,708 (253,863) (551,013) (300,618) (16,406) (1,190,598)
Net carrying amount BEAE - 49,924 108,357 176,939 7487 342,707
31 December 2014 (restated) ZE-METZA=T-A(ED)
At 1 January 2014: R-2-mE-R-R:
Cost Wﬁ 68,378 28,863 289,547 75,222 9817 41,827
Accumulated depreciation ZithhE (13:320) (20,591) (84,500) (1713 (5,649) (151,773
Net carrying amount BEFE 55,058 8272 205,047 47,509 4,168 320,064
At 1 January 2014, net of accumulated R-Z-IE-A-H - HRE
depreciation Vi 55,058 8,272 205,047 47,509 4,168 320,004
Additions hE ‘ 385 330,320 82,642 44,961 4,509 462,817
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note (33(a) YeE-FRBARHE ) - = 09,112 55,302 = 97414
Disposals i3 - - (344) (113) = (457)
Transfer & - 35,176) 29,576 5,600 = =
Depreciation provided during the year EhiTERR (1,866) - (72,29) (35,714 (2,061) (111,936}
Exchange realignment [ - (46) [574) (475) (16) (1.111)
At 31 December 2014, net of accumulated ~ KZZ-METZA=7-R"
deprecition HkgHHTE 53577 3370 286,164 17,070 6,600 766,781
At 31 December 2014: RB-METZR=1-R:
Cost A 68,763 323,91 442,959 180,497 14,310 1,030,490
Accumulated depreciation ZitlhE (15,186) (20,591) (156,79) (63427) {7.710) (263709)
Net carrying amount HEFE B3577 303,370 286,164 117,070 6,600 766,781

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BMERSZE®)

(continued)

The net carrying amounts before impairment of
the Group’s fixed assets held under finance leases
included in the total amounts of land and buildings
at 31 December 2015 were HK$51,377,000 (2014:
HK$53,210,000). Such amount was fully impaired
during the current year (2014: Nil) There was no
interest expense arising from the interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings capitalised in plant and
machinery for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$2,644,000) (note 8).

An impairment of HK$50,837,000 has been
recognised for a self-owned solar power plant
included in “plant and machinery” in the Downstream
segment for the year ended 31 December 2015.
The solar power plant was loss making for the year
ended 31 December 2015 and it may have difficulty
in obtaining government subsidy in the foreseeable
future which was not originally expected. These
indicated that the carrying amount of the solar power
plant may be less than its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2015. The recoverable amount of
HK$107,904,000 was determined by the directors
of the Company, based on value-in-use calculations
covering a detailed 24-year budget plan. The 24-year
budget plan is based on the expected useful life of
core assets of the solar power plant. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is
16% (2014: Nil).

An impairment of HK$719,185,000 has been
recognised for the cash generating unit of the
Manufacturing segment for the year ended 31
December 2015. There were significant changes
with an adverse effect of the business operated
by this segment during the current year which
management considered there is an indication that
impairment on the carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment of this cash generating unit as
at 31 December 2015. The recoverable amount was
determined by the directors of the Company, based
on value-in-use calculations covering a detailed 5-year
budget plan using the same assumptions applied to
the impairment assessment of goodwill. Details could
be found in note 15 to these consolidated financial
statements.

RZZE—RHE+-_A=+—HzZ:tiE
WMEZA 2 L RIEFEEF B
AEEEBENERECETEER
M ,¥{E51,377,0008 o (=& — U 4F :
53,210,00087C) - B S BEE R A F
E2E8EBE(ZCE—NE: E)REE

T—hE+_A=1+—HILEFE #
EABRTMEMEEMEE ZFER
SERERMEFETERN (T
& 1 2,644,0007%870) (FI5E8) °

HE-_T—AF+-_A=1+—HLHF
R Eﬁdz EN=R=PNC R AR
850,837,000/ 7C * 5 A Tt 2 2B &Y
[RER#ES | THE - % APBREE IR E
E_E—AFt+-A=+—HIFEK
1S58 - BRI R ARRATGET IR 5678
H - EESBFMB S mBE R E o 1t
Thaz KPR B b R BR EE Al gE (R N EE R

—EF+-_A=+—H®akE£
BEHPNR - BIE—HFAN24 FEER
WAEAEEHELER  ARAESE
EE A Y [E £ 584 107,904,000 7T °
Z24 FTEERTIBBEZA GBI RZ
/Uﬁ?ﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ—ﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁf’ﬁﬂj o &R
TERFT BRI EA16% (=%
—PO4F : £E) o

HE_ZTZ—AF+t-_A=+—HLHF
E - BED BRI S ELEBNEERR
f8719,185,000/8 T ° 7% 7 2R A F
E%%g%$MTﬂw; B A S
k CERERE WZREELE
um%% TS 2 5% 8 O BR T E(E R

—RAFt+-_A=+—HHPR - &
TW@éﬁﬁm$ﬂﬂi$mﬁfﬁﬁ
M sFREFSNERERTELR
BT ERMNBREEERET AT
KAEMER - BHEFBIRARE TS
HwEMIFE15 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

15. GOODWILL 15. FHE
The goodwill arose from the acquisition of the R-ETENFWBEREDLAEEZR
Manufacturing segment in 2009 and its net carrying EBRHEBREFESTAOT :
amount is analysed as follows:
HK$°'000
FET
At 1 January 2014: RZZB—MF—H—Q :
Cost DN 7,915,318
Accumulated impairment ZEHRIE —
Net carrying amount IREDFE 7,915,318
Cost at 1 January 2014, RZE—F—H— &K AE -
net of accumulated impairment bk RFHRE 7,915,318
Impairment during the year REFRE —
At 31 December 2014 R-FE—WF+-_A=+—H 7,915,318
At 31 December 2014: RZE—MFE+ZA=+—H:
Cost DN 7,915,318
Accumulated impairment 2ERE —
Net carrying amount IREDFE 7,915,318
Cost at 1 January 2015, R_E—RF— A —BHZKAE -
net of accumulated impairment kR REORE 7,915,318
Impairment during the year REFRE (7,915,318)
Cost and net carrying amount at R-ZE—RAF+_A=+—HKAK
31 December 2015 R FE =
At 31 December 2015: RZE—RAF+ZA=+—8:
Cost DN 7,915,318
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (7,915,318)
Net carrying amount BRMEFAE =

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

15. GOODWILL (continued) 15. B& (&)

The goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit
of the Manufacturing segment and its recoverable
amount was determined by the directors of the
Company, based on value-in-use calculations covering
a detailed 5-year budget plan. There were significant
changes with an adverse effect of the business
operated by this segment during the current year
which management considered to be an indication for
impairment on the carrying amount of the goodwill
as at 31 December 2015. The b5-year budget plan
is based on contracted cash flows according to the
production plan and capacity of the Group in the next
5 years. No terminal value has been estimated in the
value-in-use calculations due to the uncertainty on
the future prospect of the Manufacturing segment
and the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 24% (2014: 15%). The recoverable
amount calculated based on the discounted cash
flows showed a negative present value of the cash-
generating unit. All the property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets related to this segment are fully
impaired as at 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil) (notes
14, 16).

The key assumptions also include stable profit
margins, which have been determined based on
past performance, and management’s expectations
for market share, evidenced by the sales contracts
entered into during these years including the
production line supply contract with an independent
customer for sale of a production line with a
production capacity of 150MW and a contract
amount of US$125,500,000 (note 2.1). No terminal
value has been estimated in the forecast taking
into consideration the nature of the business to be
provided by the cash-generating unit. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the Manufacturing segment.

Impairment testing has taken into account the sales
contracts entered into which customers have already
paid the down payment pursuant to relevant sales
contracts.

The same assumptions and the impairment model of
goodwill also applied to the impairment assessment
for property, plant and equipment (note 14) and
intangible assets (note 16) of the same cash-

generating unit.

BENEZHEND M REELEN
MEATKEEBIIARARES @ RIE
MEFENIFREFE 2 EREE
ﬁﬁ/i#ﬂz_ ;ui/\igﬁ/\mﬁljfﬁrﬁﬁ
REXBOTNTE BRABELEEKR
g BERERR WIHZBRTEL
BUMNBENREEARERER -
T-AF+_A=T—H&HAKEE
BHPR - EFREEFENIRESRE
EREEE - MeRBELRENRER
SERREFZEEAEINERSE -
B EE D BBARKBIRI TR - WEE
EBNEMRRYIZEREEFTEL ARG
FPERENRKREE ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ’\fﬁéfﬁ
BRFAZBAMAXRR24% (ZF—N
F:15%) ° &%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ZT
WeeRBRRAeELAEMUNEREEREA

g Bk DHMBEBZEHYME  BER
REAREBEVEER _T—AF+-A
=t+t—HETFRECTE-HF: &)

(FfzE14 - 16) °

FTERINMEEBEZERRNE - HTY
REBFRBRNEEERH2MEMNE

(HERTUZHEHESCR(BERHES
EREA1B0OMWH A ERE—Z BT T
PN EEREREAR  ARSEAR
125womm%HXW?n1)> BH)E

R EEZIRCELEMGIRHENE
i‘%’l&%ﬁ AR EGEHRER T
KA ZMIRERATAT - R ERE S
EH 2 e R ©

BEANACHAEPREHESREH
ZENESRIIZ BHHESR -

MR ESELEN 2 WE - BE KRG
(BFsE14) M EFR EE(KIFE16) 2R E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF—

16.

/\%%\é/ﬁq%yé Eﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬁ /\a

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

AFTZAS+—BLFE)

BREE

Technology Customers’

know-how contracts Total
9l 1 5 EFE&RE &5t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET
31 December 2015 —=E—EF
+=—A=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2015, R_ZF—AF—H—H
net of accumulated ?AZEXZME
amortisation (restated) ik 28 (E5) 1,181,777 — 1,181,777
Additions NE 5,728 — 5,728
Acquisition of a subsidiary U #E— R B A 7
(note 33(b)) (B15£33(b)) 6,949 - 6,949
Amortisation provided F N H R
during the year (158,956) — (158,956)
Impairment during the year FRREIE (969,727) — (969,727)
Exchange realignment ME 5, B (49,174) - (49,174)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF
+ A=+— 16,597 — 16,597
At 31 December 2015: R-ZE—HF
t-A=1+—H8:
Cost AR 1,621,128 374,613 1,995,741
Accumulated amortisation ZETE i NORE
and impairment (1,604,531) (374,613) (1,979,144)
Net carrying amount BREFE 16,597 — 16,597
31 December 2014 —F-HmE+=A
=ar=1|g
Cost at 1 January 2014, R-E—MF—-—H—H
net of accumulated ?;zﬁJZKTE
amortisation (restated) R R s (F5)) 1,211,056 — 1,211,056
Additions NE 7,059 — 7,059
Acquisition of a subsidiary  UBE—FEIFT B A Al
(note 33(a)) (H77£33(a)) 118,599 — 118,599
Amortisation provided F N HEE
during the year (151,148) = (151,148)
Exchange realignment ME 5, B (3,789) — (3,789)
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—MF
+=—A=+—H 1,181,777 — 1,181,777
At 31 December 2014: R-_ZE—NF
+-A=+—8:
Cost B%N 1,608,903 374,613 1,983,516
Accumulated amortisation Rt (427,126) (374,613) (801,739)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,181,777 — 1,181,777

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

16.

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. BEEE#)
An impairment of HK$969,727,000 has been HE—_T—AF+-_A=+—HILHF
recognised for the cash generating unit of the B 2EsH RS EEEMEERR
Manufacturing segment for the year ended 31 {6 969,727,000/ 7T ° 7] YZ Bl & B A 7~
December 2015. The recoverable amount was ARAEERBREAFHFREETE 2
determined by the directors of the Company, based EREEFEHEEE - HREEBRINE
on value-in-use calculations covering a detailed 5-year RAREERERN N - FERERNEGRE N
budget plan using the same assumptions applied to BHR&MIEE 15 -
the impairment assessment of goodwill. Details could
be found in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
INVENTORIES 17. &
2015 2014
—g-ns [EEEuEs
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials JREt 1,420,277 298,059
Photovoltaic modules S IRAR 15 854,761 187,354
Photovoltaic application products FIRFERE T 3,751 —
Photovoltaic power generation 1T IHE 2 IREEIRE
projects to be sold 317,979 193,823
2,596,768 679,236
Less: impairment provision JR - REE (238,478) (20,213)
2,358,290 659,023

The cost of inventories recognised for the year ended
31 December 2015 was HK$1,431,021,000 (2014:
HK$4,110,380,000). A provision for impairment of
inventories of HK$238,478,000 was made as at 31
December 2015 (2014: HK$20,213,000) to write down
the inventories to their net realisable value. Interest
expense arising from the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings was capitalised in photovoltaic
power generation projects at annual rate of 5.3%
(2014: between 3.0% and 8.7%) for the year ended
31 December 2015 amounted to HK$5,724,000 (2014:
HK$11,422,000) (note 8).

HE_T—AF+-_A=+—HLHF
E - ERRIFEKAR,431,021,000
B T(ZZF — M 4 : 4,110,380,000%8
L) e RZE—RAF+=—_A=+—8
BWBRGEEEN#RFE  FTERER
1% /238,478,000 Jt(=ZT — O F :
20,213,000 ) BHE T — A F
TZA=+—HLLFE - RITREAHK
BB EE 2 ) B 5% 5,724,000 T
(ZZF — P4 : 11,422,000 70 ) A X
RBEEEBKL3%(ZZE—ME: A
3.0% &8.7%) 2 & F| & & A (b (Kt 7
8) e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWFKIE

2015 2014
= Sl T NF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

Kz FET FET
Trade receivables: B 5 W
— Due from Hanergy Affiliates — FEUCERER BN ) (i) 2,596,781 4,345,231
— Due from third parties — BRE=F (ii) 1,296,078 1,733,464
3,892,859 6,078,695
Less: Impairment on amounts due & - JEWE =77
from third parties SKIERE (197,220) —
3,695,639 6,078,695
Notes: Hiat
(i)  Trade receivables from Hanergy Affiliates (i)  FEYCEREEE D RRK

The balances are mainly related to contracts with
Hanergy Affiliates, settled in accordance with the
terms of the respective contracts which is generally
from 5 to 10 days. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Based on the invoice date, the
ageing analysis of the Group's net trade receivables
from Hanergy Affiliates is as follows:

BHREIZHERBEB AN ZARA
W RBEEESRZEREE  —K
AS5ZE10H - AE B WK E B
REREE R A I R E Nk (s
B - NEBERUUEEEH B QAR
EFERBHZ AR ZRROTOT

2014

—T—OF

HK$'000

FET

Within 3 months 3EAA 247,705 2,823,545
3 to 6 months 3E61EA 236,740 1,521,686
6 months to 1 year 6IEIAZEF 462,089 —
More than 1 year B 1 F 1,650,247 —
2,596,781 4,345,231

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EZEWRIE (&)
Notes: (continued) Biat - (&)
(i) Trade receivables from Hanergy Affiliates (continued) (i) AR NG ENE =)
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables from FEMCEREEE B A Al BR3P I E AR A
Hanergy Affiliates that are not individually nor 1 51 2 3% £ 5] th 5 (B 2 B 5 FE Uk 3118
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: 2RO ¢
2015 2014
—E-RF —Z—E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Neither past due nor impaired P 4 80 HR KO (B 7,751 1,848,630
Less than 3 months past due #H DR 3@ A 239,954 974,915
3 to 6 months past due mHA3E61EA 639,534 1,621,686
More than 6 months past due 161 HAER 38 6 3 A 1,709,542 —
2,596,781 4,345,231
During this year, Hanergy Affiliates repaid a total of FREREBBARRAAEBERNE

HK$2,684,501,000 to the Group. The Group issued
certain payment request letters and legal letters to
Hanergy Affiliates requiring repayment of the rest
of the trade receivables and reserved rights to take
further legal actions on Hanergy Affiliates. Up to the
date of the approval of these financial statements,
Hanergy Affiliates did not repay any additional amount
to the Group.

Trade receivables of HK$2,589,030,000 as at 31
December 2015 (2014: HK$2,496,601,000) were past
due for less than 1 year. Subsequent to 31 December
2015 and up to 31 March 2016 (the date of approval of
these financial statements), Hanergy Affiliates did not
settle any of the trade receivables.

Furthermore, pursuant to the relevant sales contracts,
the Group is entitled to claim Hanergy Affiliates
interest penalty on the overdue progress payments.
Interest penalty of HK$194,394,000 as 0.04% per day
of the overdue trade receivables was included in the
other receivables due from Hanergy Affiliates as at
31 December 2015 (2014: HK$205,852,000). Up to 31
March 2016 (the date of approval of these financial
statements), Hanergy Affiliates did not settle any of
the interest penalty of HK$194,394,000.

$#£2,684,501,000 7T ° ANEE AVERE
Bt BB A B 3% T SRR R R AR S
EREERTEIEBKFIE - WIRE
$ERE B B N Rl EREUE — A 21T E)
ZHERN - BEAMBHREIELEZB
G i) = NCTIN I N PN S E T )
E{I BN FRIE -

RZE—RAE+=-A=+—0 EK
f#f 7 2,5689,030,00078 JT(= & — Y
4 :2,496,601,000/8 7T ) & B D R
—F -R_ZE-—RAF+=A=+—H
BRBE-Z—XR"F=ZA=1+—AH
HEMIEHRERER) @ EeH B QR I &
BEEREFRR

Boh BIBEHBHEEEN  A5EEA
TE 1 3B HA S BRIB [RE BE B B A ] R
RELE - R E—AE+_A=+—
B e Uk £ RE Bt B A B L R IE B
o B HEE] B 194,394,000 (==
— P04 : 205,852,000 7T ) © JhiLiB
HE S RKRIBELETHA0.04%:ME ©
HE-Z—XR"E=-A=1+—A#LEH
BREREB AL EZEBEBRRMA
#E 151 194,394,000 7% JT &1 8./ #) (T

B -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 18.

Notes: (continued)

(ii)  Trade receivables from third parties

a. Trade receivables from Shandong Macrolink

The balances are mainly related to contracts with

Shandong Macrolink, settled in accordance with

the terms of the contracts which is generally
from 3 to 7 days. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its

trade receivable balances.

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of

EZEWFEE®)
Kiat - (&)
(i) EWE=FEZEMN
a. FEW I FHTEE 2 B 5 5E

A& TRIA B I B SR
AR BEARMELEE RS
BETR - AEEURFAFE
JE WU R IR B (R T HE AR sl LA AT 2
THERZY

RIBBHREH - AEEEYILER

the Group's net trade receivables from Shandong ER 2 B HHEFRIRRD
Macrolink is as follows: R :

2015 2014
St TN -z
HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FET
Within 3 months 3fEAA - =
3 to 6 months 3E61EA - =
6 months to 1 year 6EIAZEF 995,194 —
995,194 —

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables from
Shandong Macrolink that are not individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

FEWIL SRR 2 B 5 FURL AR
& B AR BB RERN KR
DT

2015 2014
—E-RF —Z—UFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Neither past due nor impaired 7 % 580 HA ROk (E - —
Less than 3 months past due a3 3 1E A - =
3 to 6 months past due BmHASE6MEA 332,597 —
More than 6 months past due EHAE B 6 & A 662,597 —

995,194 —

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= —

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables from third parties (continued)

Trade receivables from Shandong Macrolink
(continued)

During this year, Shandong Macrolink only
paid HK$155,839,000 down payment of the
construction contract to the Group. Up to the
date of approval of these financial statements.
Shandong Macrolink did not repay any amount to
the Group.

The directors of the Company currently have
good communication with Shandong Macrolink
in respect of repayment of the debt overdue,
and strive to hold discussions on Shandong
Macrolink’s arrangement for repayment of the
debt overdue.

Trade receivables from other third parties

Included in the balances as of 31 December
2014, it were mainly related to the sales
agreements with Beijing Hongsheng Photovoltaic
Industry Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)
(“Beijing Hongsheng”) in respect of the
photovoltaic power generation projects, settled
in accordance with the terms of the agreements.
On 23 December 2014, the Company, through
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, sold five
domestic photovoltaic power plants to Beijing
Hongsheng, with a total cash consideration of
HK$1,800,942,000. According to the terms of the
agreements, 20% of the total cash consideration
amounting to HK$360,188,000 have been paid
by Beijing Hongsheng within ten working days
upon signing of the sales agreements before 31
December 2014. The remaining 65% and 15%
of the total cash consideration shall be paid by
Beijing Hongsheng within three months and six
months upon signing of the sales agreements
respectively. In 2015, HK$1,440,754,000
represented the remaining cash consideration
related to the sales agreements with Beijing
Hongsheng have been paid by Beijing
Hongsheng.

18.

~EF+-A=+-BLFR)

EEY TN
HaE - (4

(i)

N IE (&)

EWE=7HE SRR (F)

a.

WL R ERZ B 5 5H (5

RAFE - IR ERER

& R R A& B 3 1 155,839,000
BT BN - BIEREZEH

BHWMREABL - IWRAERL
ERAEEEEEMSE -

ARRIEZRIEHEEBHER
S RGBT RIPER - B
N AT LR R B A B IR (A
B2tk -

EREME=F>E55%E

RZZE—MmE+_A=+—H2
EREE B IR B FEAR L IKE
E¥EREBEES(BRAR)([R
AR D ET - BN REES
Bz EHE EREBEBER
REER e AT —WFE+ = A
_+ B ARREHEE2ERA
W%Aﬂ%ﬂjﬁﬁﬁmm%ﬁ%é
BEWTIRLE  BHRERE
71,800,942,00078 7 ° 1R 1% 1%
F2IEF O L FEALREREF]
EETEIERER BIZF
—mE+ - /A=+—BAHN
360,188,000 Jo (BN 8 ] € X
B220%) o b RLRAE A%
FrIE=EARENEARRD R
B RESRT Z265% K% 15% °
W= —F 4 0 1,440,754,000
BT ERIE RoAR R M HER
HEMZHTRESRE Bl
RoAREE AT o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

EZEWFEE®)
Kiat - (&)

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 18.

Notes: (continued)

BWE=FEZRK(E)

(ii)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued) (ii)

ERAME=LZEE5E(E)

b. Trade receivables from other third parties b.
(continued)

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis RIFRZAH - AEBERKEAM
of the Group's trade receivables from other third FE=FESRFBZRERSITN
parties is as follows: T 3

2015 2014

—E—hF —ZT—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 3 months 3EARN 22,556 1,731,126
3 to 6 months 3E61EA 107,843 2,338
6 months to 1 year 6IEIAZEF 36,070 -
More than 1 year BB F 134,415 -
300,884 1,733,464

Less: Impairment Jat BB (197,220) —
103,664 1,733,464

REEME=T7 28 5 RIGKIA
FE(E B S KR PR AR
TRME) 2R DA T

The ageing analysis of the net trade
receivables from other third parties that are
not individually nor collectively considered
to be impaired is as follows:

2015 2014

—E—5F —ZE—MF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Neither past due nor impaired 7 % 480 HA K Rk (B 66,866 1,733,464
Less than 3 months past due #H DR 3@ A 898 —
3 to 6 months past due BmHASEGMEA 4,975 —
More than 6 months past due EHAE B 6 A A 30,925 —
103,664 1,733,464

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued)

b.

Trade receivables from other third parties
(continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of
trade receivables from other third parties are as
follows:

18. ESEWRIE (&)
Kzt - (&)

(i) ERE=FEIRRGE)

b. EBURME=SZEZHEE)

FENE M =778 5 RIBRER
BEVEZIT

2015 2014

—E-hHF —ZT—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FETT FET

At 1 January Rn—H—H — —
Impairment losses recognised BERRERSE

(note 9) (K15£9) 202,817 —

Exchange realignment b A B (5,597) —

At 31 December R+—-—A=+—H 197,220 —

Included in the above provision for
impairment of trade receivables is a
provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$197,220,000 (2014: Nil)
with a carrying amount before provision of
HK$197,220,000 (2014: Nil).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate
to customers that were in financial difficulties or
were in default in principal payments and none
of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

Except for those trade receivables already
impaired, the financial assets included in the
above balance are related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default.

P E SRR FIRREREES
15 18 B 5 1B 2 5 e U 3K TR A0 ¢
# 197,220,000/ L(—ZF—M
FE) RHRERDREE
73197,220,000/8 (= ZF—M
FE) -

18 511 A% 1B 2 55 e Uk %08 £2 T e B R
BB RAERENT AR AR
HiE A E(A] MR A T E -

BRE TRIEMNE S ERFRIESN - L
REERPT B IR BB 5 B 7 S A ST B
RICERH WA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

19. GROSS AMOUNT DUE FROM 19.

CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

The Group's gross amount due from customers for
contract work was related to contracts with Hanergy
Affiliates and Shandong Macrolink. The movement
of gross amount due from contract customers is as

ERENTFHAE

AEERKREONEFABEZEREA
AIMILRHEB 2 ERAR - BEAH
BEFRBEFESMT :

follows:
2015 2014
TE-AF ks
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FETL
At 1 January Hn—HA—H 3,278,508 1,858,557
Contract costs incurred plus BEELE RN
recognised profits less B 7R AR
recognised losses B R EE 2,196,443 6,520,849
Progress billings HEEIRBHIE (2,092,041) (5,104,520)
Exchange realignment HE 5, B (452,074) 3,622
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 2,930,836 3,278,508

The Group’'s gross amount due from Hanergy
Affiliates for contract work was HK$2,031,902,000 as
at 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$3,278,508,000).

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

R-—ZTE—RE+=-_A=+—H &%
BREKZEBBE AR AR TIZA%
#2,031,902,0007% jo(= T — 4 F -
3,278,508,000/87T) °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. HEEWFRIE

2015 2014
=Sl T NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E51))

Other receivables: H fth FEURIA -
— Due from Hanergy Affiliates — EUCEREEE B A F] 200,835 231,188
— Due from third parties — EWE=5 555,253 168,446
756,088 399,634
Less: Impairment Ji - RE (237,099) —
518,989 399,634

The movements in provision for impairment of other

receivables are as follows:

2015
—E-HE

HK$000
FET

At 1 January
Impairment losses recognised

w—H—H -
BEERRERBR(AZEI)

Hib UGB E R EE AT

2014
—E—OF
HK$'000
FEIT

(note 9) 247,454 —
Exchange realignment PE 5 5 & (10,355) —
At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—8 237,099 —
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. HiuEWRIE (#)

The balances of other receivables due from Hanergy
Affiliates represented mainly the interest penalty on
the overdue progress payments of the contract work.
As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, pursuant to the relevant sales contracts,
the Group is entitled to claim Hanergy Affiliates
interest penalty on the overdue progress payments.
Interest penalty of HK$194,394,000 as 0.04% per day
of the overdue trade receivables was included in the
other receivables due from Hanergy Affiliates as at
31 December 2015 (2014: HK$205,852,000). Up to 31
March 2016 (the date of approval of these financial
statements), Hanergy Affiliates did not settle any of
the interest penalty of HK$194,394,000.

Included in the above provision for impairment
of other receivables is a provision for individually
impaired receivables of HK$237,099,000 (2014:
Nil) with a carrying amount before provision of
HK$237,099,000 (2014: Nil).

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
debtors that were in financial difficulties or were
in default in principal payments and none of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

Except for those other receivables already impaired
and the interest penalty due from the Hanergy
Affiliates, the financial assets included in the above
balance are related to receivables for which there was
no recent history of default and has no fixed term of

repayment.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

Hih EUOZRERE B A Al RIB 48R - £
ERANIREERENBPIE -
IR E SRR 18FT R - 1R
BHEABEESH ~NEEEERBH
HEERERZEEBMBARBREREE o
R-_E—RAFE+_A=+—HBREKE
BB AREMEKRKIEEFR 21
21 5.194,394,0008 jL(=Z & — IO £ :
205,852,000/8 L) ' JHIZBHAE 5 &
WHEBEFH0.04%TE - BHE—-F
—RNEZA=+—BUEZSHH R
KEH)BLE  ZEEBBAR WAL
194,394,000 8 7T 512 AR EB D ©

3t b SR T Rk 1 B 2 3 B M
1B FE YR T E H Y % 8 237,099,000
B (ZZT—E - |&) - RIBENK
B8R M {8 A& 237,099,000 T(=Z — I
Fm) e

{751 68, 5 5L e B L0 5K T 2 T o B B UR) 36
RERANERENEHAEH - BB
B ] R IE A AT T U

BR B T IR (B O 2 At e Wk TR K% PR MOZ B
BEBARNERI - L ESHRTEED
F 75 B B BRI S ST B HE R 40 8% B JE IR
AR WEEEEERMR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

21.

BILLS RECEIVABLE

At 31 December 2015, certain subsidiaries of the
Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted
by banks in Mainland China (the “Derecognised
Bills"”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle
the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB25,213,000
(equivalent to HK$30,095,000). The Derecognised
Bills had a maturity of one to nine months at the end
of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law
of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders
of the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse
against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows
to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to
their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors,
the fair values of the Group’'s Continuing Involvement
in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of
transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Involvement,
both during the year or cumulatively.

As part of its normal business, certain subsidiaries
of the Group discounted certain bills receivable
to bank with a carrying amount in aggregate of
RMB90,400,000 (equivalent to HK$107,904,000)
(2014: Nil). All the discounted bills had matured
as at 31 December 2015. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the bills receivable
discounted to bank. Accordingly, it has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the bills receivable that
discounted to bank. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
discounted bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these discounted bills is equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the
fair values of the Group’'s Continuing Involvement
in the discounted bills are not significant. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
recognised HK$4,000,000 (2014: Nil) discounted
charges on the date of transfer of the bills receivable.

21.

s
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

22. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

22. WERFANKIE

2015 2014

“E-AF Eeaagnks

Notes HK$°000 HK$°000

Kzt FET FEIT

(Restated)

(&%)

Deposits Be 47,729 26,506
Prepayments paid to: BENFUTALTZEMNE :

— Hanergy Affiliates — BB AT (i) 663,943 1,206,250

— Third parties —EH=7 982,661 412,007

1,646,604 1,618,257

Less: impairment =] (6,225) (7,844)

1,688,108 1,636,919

Included in the above assets, HK$356,868,000 (2014
HK$291,039,000) of the prepayments has an ageing

over

1 year, whereas all the remaining deposits and

prepayment have an ageing less than 1 year.

Except for those prepayments already impaired, the

assets included in the above balance are related to

prepayments for which there was no recent history of
default.

Note:

(i)

ERUEREE

The balances mainly represented the prepayments
for the purchase of photovoltaic (“PV") modules
under the master agreement signed on 11 April
2012. The master agreement is effective for three
years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014.
During 2013, the Company's subsidiaries entered into
several photovoltaic module purchase subcontracts
("Subcontracts”) with Hanergy Affiliates, nominees of
Hanergy Holding, to purchase photovoltaic modules
with a total capacity of 677.9 MW for construction
of the downstream photovoltaic power generation
projects. According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract amounts
have been paid by the Company’s subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2013. As of 31 December
2013, a total of 58.5 MW photovoltaic modules have
been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

SEERAR

LMl EEHR B S —I8/356,868,000%8
JL(=Z — P4 : 291,039,000 7T ) Y
IR FENRIE  HFARE KA
NI ERIRE DI 1 F ©

BRE TIRERTFAENKIRIN - Ll B ERFT
BIEHE B HE I BT B R A2 SR TR A
HEEH -

Hiat -

(i)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

HERERER-_Z——FMA+—H
BEZBGZE  REAXKIXNK]
BHEINZERNKE  BHER =T
——F#—A—HBE-_Z-—WNFE+=A
=t+—HHMER - R=ZT—=F
RARZH B AR HZEEE AR
ERERZAREBA T ZH R KA
HhEANBRE(HE RG] 5t
ERTHAREEEEBABER
A 677.9MW 2 ¢ 1K 4B 1 o 1R 1% BT /BB
BEGER  ARAZHBARER=
T-=FIEIERINTERBSE
#60% c R—ZTE—=F+-_A=+—
A ZBMBARECRNERA
58.5MW Z S IR#E 1 ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

22. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(continued)

Note: (continued)

The delay of delivery of the PV modules was mainly
due to the production arrangement by Hanergy
Affiliates, which has caused the delay in the
construction of the photovoltaic power generation
projects by the Group. Accordingly, the Group reached
mutual agreement with Hanergy Affiliates to return
the prepayments of HK$1,262,629,000 before 31
December 2014 in relation to a total capacity of 459.4
MW PV modules and terminate these Subcontracts
simultaneously.

During 2014, the Company's subsidiaries also entered
into several new PV module purchase subcontracts
with Hanergy Affiliates to purchase PV modules
with a total capacity of 558 MW for construction
of the downstream photovoltaic power generation
projects. According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract amounts
have been paid by the Company's subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2014.

A total of 28.8 MW PV modules have been delivered
by Hanergy Affiliates in 2014. As of 31 December
2014, there were a total capacity of 689.2 MW
PV modules have not been delivered by Hanergy
Affiliates.

The Company and Hanergy Holding entered into a
solar panel supply agreement on 30 April 2015 for
purchase of solar energy panels for the year ended 31
December 2015.

On 20 January 2015, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement to the 150 MW photovoltaic
modules supply contract signed on 23 December
2013 with Hanergy Holding on the settlement of
prepayments made in 2013 by offsetting this with the
payables of delivered photovoltaic modules under the
150MW PV modules supply contract, and the original
total capacity of 150 MW was reduced to 80.9MW.

During 2015, the Company’'s subsidiaries
aforementioned entered into several new Subcontracts
with Hanergy Affiliates under the solar panel
supply agreement to purchase PV modules with
a total capacity of 57.7 MW for construction of
the downstream photovoltaic power generation
projects. According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract sum have
been paid by the Company’'s subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2015.

A total of 315 MW PV modules have been delivered
by Hanergy Affiliates in the year 2015. As of 31
December 2015, there are a total capacity of 362.8
MW PV modules have not been delivered by Hanergy
Affiliates.

22.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23. RERREEZEBYRZIRGEIER

RESTRICTED CASH €
2015 2014
—E—RF Eetgliks
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Cash and bank balances e MRTTET 447,826 3,056,916
Restricted cash ZRHIE e 218,509 80,761
Less: Restricted cash o ZREES (218,509) (80,761)
Cash and cash equivalents HehREeFEY 447,826 3,056,916
The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and R-ZZE—RF+-_A=+—H " &:tE
restricted cash by denominated currency as at 31 EEIEPSDZHRERESZEEYRZES
December 2015 is as follow: BeZRAmT
2015 2014
“E-RF petgukea
(HK$ equivalent) HK$’000 HK$'000
(FEBERBTT) FEx FET
(Restated)
(&31)
Cash and bank balances A3 E¥EHE 2
denominated in: Be RIRT47F
RMB AR 188,977 2,194,632
UsD ETT 142,732 636,783
HKD BIT 70,642 160,075
EUR e 33,262 56,766
GBP 7 5,403 2,350
Others EAh 6,810 6,410
Total 4z 447,826 3,056,916
Restricted cash denominated in: LATSE#EHE 2 LR IR €
RMB AR 191,187 52,044
UsD = 27,322 28,717
Total “azE 218,509 80,761
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23. BERREEZEBEYRZIRGEIER

RESTRICTED CASH (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and the restricted cash of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$380,164,000
(2014: HK$2,246,576,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’'s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day
to three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and restricted cash are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

24, TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

& (#)

RMEER AEEUARE BEN
LEEEBEZEEYREXRBRHIRS
#$380,164,000% (= T — MO 4 :
2,246,576,000% 7T ) © AR A B H
HBMABHEMER - AW - RIBEFRHANH
ZONEEBURFI RAEERRTE - A&
BT E BB EITINE T 2 R
TEAREHBRBHMEY -

RITHAEREBEFARTERMEAEZ
F BN B - 2 HE BiAF K2 AR
HM—BE=EAFE  RFAEEZH
RIRSHBRME - WIREFEHEMER
BREDANE - RITEFRZRHIRS
RN EERFBEIREREE R

GR

24. B RREEMNRIE

2015 2014
—E—0F gk
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET
(Restated)
(&E31)

Trade and bills payables due to: ERTUATALZES

REREMFIE !

— Related parties — BiEATL 235,223 138,486
— Third parties — 5= 875,604 297,331
1,110,827 435,817
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued) 24. BES R EBEANRIE &)

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of the RIEZHEZEHE  AEEEHMEEEN
Group's trade and bills payables is as follows: FIRZBRER DT ¢

2015 2014
=S T F
HK$000 HK$'000

FET FEIT
(Restated)
(&)
0 — 30 days 0—30 H 222,423 195,721
31 — 60 days 31— 60 H 94,328 79,598
61 — 90 days 61 —90 H 177,637 —
Over 90 days 90 HIA 616,439 160,498
1,110,827 435,817

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the FERT B S5 IBY AKT B - — A= A EAR

credit terms are normally 60-day. AB60H -
25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. Hit ENRIERETEH

2015 2014

=Sl T NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

it FET FET

(Restated)

(E31)

Deposits bisecia 5,000 7,027
Other payables due to: FER T IAT ALz HA

JERTFRIE
— The ultimate holding company — &G A 7] (i) 417 391,443
— The immediate holding — BEEZERAA

company (if) 16,853 16,863

— Hanergy Affiliates — ERBE AT (iii) 78,156 73,632

— Third parties — %=h 704,244 663,346

Sub-total /NET 799,670 1,145,284

Advances from customers EPEIEMRK (iv) 535,661 41,200

Accruals FEETE A (v) 266,592 291,095

1,606,923 1,484,606
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Payables to the ultimate holding company represent
the advances from Hanergy Holding to the Group
for the daily operation purpose. The balances are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Payables to the immediate holding company represent
the advances from Hanergy Investment to the Group
for the daily operation purpose. The balances are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The balance included the advances of HK$59,149,000
(2014: HK$49,032,000) from Hanergy Affiliates to
the Group for the daily operation purpose, and the
balance of HK$19,007,000 (2014: HK$24,600,000)
payable to Sichuan Hanergy Photovoltaic Limited
(“Sichuan Hanergy”), Hanergy Holding's affiliate,
relating to rental of a production line, office premises,
factory premises and staff dormitory, and the usage
of relevant equipment, material and facilities, etc.
The above balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The balance included the advances of HK$269,283,000
from distributors to the Group to buy the household
rooftop power stations and photovoltaic application
products (2014: Nil).

The balance included an amount of HK$22,228,000
which represented the maximum expense which the
Group would be charged on certain current lawsuits.

Save for those disclosed above, other payables and

accruals are non-interest-bearing and normally has no

fixed term of settlement.

25. HwENRERETER 2)

HiaE -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

B Lt 2 FE 51 -

FEAT BR AR R R R B) 2 FRIR R R B FR X
SEESERMNN TAEEZAMNK
B REHRHEAERR  2ERRE

FE BB IR A B 2 5 48 Hanergy
Investment st B & &8 B 001 T A&
E2BENHIE ZELEHREER -
RERRERFER -

B EEEBARIRA T EEH
B T AN &R B 2 FE 5K 59,149,000
B (= T — [ 4 49,032,000
BIL) c RBHEAEERS  WABA
TH%FT & B T8 & UA K 6 A R B a&
& MR REES AR R
AEP)IERE KB R A R(T)IE
B8 1) 2 #2830 19,007,000 8T (= F
—PU4E : 24,600,000 7T) ° Lt &4
BERR - 28 RN ERKEER -

7 3K 78 [A) 78 &= E 78 1 2 269,283,000
B UEBEFPAEREM LR
EmZA(ZZ—MF : &) o

EHEEAEERABMIEGFA R
TEY Nz HRE &5 22,228,000 87T ©

H A FE A IR M B R &

RANEE - TNMEREEERE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE —=

26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

—HET A=+ HLFE)

26. RITREAMWHEERK

BORROWINGS
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
“E-RETCAZT-R “2-RETZAZ1-A
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity  HKS'000 rate (ol Matuwity  HKS000
Notes RHER . BRaZ .
it (%) U#A A7 (%) H#8 AT
(Restated)
(&71)
Current; 8 .
Bank overrafts — unsecured FET - B4R - Ondemand 156 — On demand 134
ERER FREH
Bank loans — quaranteed B — R fo 85 W6 59682 78 05 6338
Bank loans — guaranteed and secured 78R — EAARER () - - — Prime rate+1.75, not 2015 36,075
[ess than 6
%@%ﬂ$¥f§
MIRG
Bank loans — secured BiTes —can (o 224 06 12463 - - -
Bank loans — unsecured Ry — BER - - - i momh US dollar W5 140786
OR+3.5
ﬂﬂ%mﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ%
8435
Interestbearing other borowings ~ ERHEED
Related parties — unsecured Bhp — AR 56 2016 2,39 b 2015 233
Related parties — unsecured [yt 2 - 3 2015 21,589
Third parties — unecured £=h — BER - - - 6610 W5 213597
Curent portion of long-tem borrowings & ez S0 3
Bank loans — quaranteed Fen - BER (3 5% above PBOC 2016 10743 5% above PBOC 2015 5,704
benchmark Iendm% rate benchmark lending ra
MIEEE = bo/;’ MBS =L 0/
b% 5%
Bank loans — guaranteed and secured  RAET — REMRER () 25% above PBOC 2016 457 = = =
bincrﬁrrgrk%fgtﬂng rate
TEERH? /%25%
Bank loans — guaranteed and secured  577EF — EERRER (o) - - b5 2015 690
Related parties — unsecured By 2R 3 2016 71,367 = = =
Total fif 219,385 484,190
Non-current; 08 .
Bank loans — quarantesd Rl — Bk fo BhabovePROC  2017:2009 12154 S aboe PROC 20162029 130516
benchr_narklendmg e benchmark\endmgrate
MNTEEESH= e NTEEEGHELE
% 5%
Bank loans — guaranteed and secured (753 — EAARER o - - 55 2016:2004 7461
Bank loans — quaranteed and secured TR — BEABRER () 25% above PBOC 2017-2025 3,294 = = =
benchrpa(klend|n% te
Ahgﬁﬁmﬂ 41
5%
Interestbearing other borowings ~ EkHEER
Related parties — unsecured oLyl 2] 3 018 137,889 3 018 13799
Related parties — unsecured Bin — 2R 3 M7 260,147 3 07 136,838
Related parties — unsecured [yt rivi - - - 3 2016 78,159
Third parties — guaranteed £=5 - Bk fo PBOC benchmark 022 368,089 PBOC benchmark 020 380291
Iendmgrate lendin grate
NTHEESH MTEEEFTZ
903,573 871,26
Tota aif 1,182,958 1,356,445
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

26. |ITREMHEERE)

2015 2014
—B-AF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(8%1))
Analysed into: X
Bank loans and overdrafts [ERTRITIEEREBY ¢
repayable:
Within one year or on demand —FRRIREKER 199,789 246,771
In the second year FZFR 12,831 12,123
In the third to fifth years, F-EZFRFN(EEMEBEEAN)
inclusive 25,662 36,626
Beyond five years HBiAnE 108,955 89,228
347,237 384,748
Other borrowings repayable: HibERIER -
Within one year —FR 79,596 237,419
In the second year E-FR 260,147 78,159
In the third to fifth years, F=ZFRFA(EEMEBEEA)
inclusive 137,889 274,828
Beyond five years HBAF 358,089 380,291
835,721 970,697
Total At 1,182,958 1,355,445
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= —

26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(e)

The bank borrowings are guaranteed by Hanergy
Holding.

The bank borrowings are guaranteed by Hanergy
Holding and Hanergy Thin Film Power America Inc.
(formerly known as Hanergy USA Solar Solution
Limited) (“Hanergy TFP America”) (a subsidiary of
the Company). The borrowings are secured by the lien
on the rights held by the Group upon the photovoltaic
power generation project located in the United
States, including the Group's security interest in such
photovoltaic power generation project, the power
purchase agreement, the engineering, construction
and procurement (“EPC") contract, the operation and
maintenance (“O&M") agreement, security agreement
in membership interest, the fee title of the leasehold
estate to be acquired upon which the photovoltaic
power generation project locates as well as the
security interest in the funds of such photovoltaic
power generation project. The bank borrowings have
been settled in August 2015.

The bank borrowings are secured by the pledged
deposit of HK$124,543,000 (be equivalent to
RMB104,340,000) held by Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd
("Fujian Apollo”), a subsidiary of the Company.

The bank borrowings are guaranteed by Hanergy
Holding, Hanergy (Guangdong) New Energy Investment
Co., Ltd, (a subsidiary of the Company) and Mr.
Li Hejun (Chairman of the Company). The bank
borrowings are secured by:

(i) All of the accounts receivable from FAW-
Volkswagen 10MW photovoltaic electricity
generation project;

(ii) All the Hanergy (Foshan) New Energy Investment
Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company)’'s stock
rights and other derived rights held by Hanergy
(Guangdong) New Energy Investment Co., Ltd.

The bank borrowings are guaranteed by Hanergy TFP
America (a subsidiary of the Company). The borrowings
are secured by the lien on the rights held by the Group
upon the photovoltaic power generation project located
in the United States, including the Group's security
interest in such photovoltaic power generation project,
the power purchase agreement, the engineering,
construction and procurement (“EPC") contract, the
operation and maintenance (“O&M") agreement,
security agreement in membership interest, the fee
title of the leasehold estate to be acquired upon which
the photovoltaic power generation project locates
as well as the security interest in the funds of such
photovoltaic power generation project. The bank

borrowings have been settled in April 2015.

~EF+-A=+-ALFR)

26. RITREHMMHEEBERE)

HiaE -

(a)

(b)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

TR TR AR R AR IR (42 R -

WITEREBERERREAA
BB A 8l Hanergy Thin Film Power
America Inc. (3778 Hanergy USA Solar
Solution Limited)(fHanergy TFP
AmerlcaJ)TE HER - ZEFAREE
RAREBRNARBEEEE 2
\1%$EIES%‘LU(§§ IH B R HHK
WAz BEEAR I8 HEEK
HE(IR BEREBDEGR &
E&ﬁ%(f“‘ﬁ&ﬁﬁj)]‘m% =
EmPERGZE  ZHARESER
FﬁEZFEUH—rHﬁZ%E’ﬁEE%%ZFﬁﬁ
X URZAREEHEEESTH
RN EER - FRRITERER
—ZE-—AF/\AEE -

SBITERBAARZH B AR EREN
FSHE TR %ﬁlﬁ AI([fBEHE D
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B AR 104,340,000 7T ) Frik # -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 27. AIRRES

On 25 November 2009, the Company issued zero
coupon convertible bonds, as part of the consideration
in respect of the acquisition for the Manufacturing
business, with a principal amount of HK$3,814,950,000
(the “Convertible Bonds"”). The Convertible Bonds
were issued in two tranches. The principal amount
for the first tranche was HK$1,040,440,000 and
the second tranche was HK$2,774,510,000. The
Convertible Bonds matured on 25 November 2013 and
convertible into fully paid ordinary shares with a par
value of HK$0.0025 each of the Company at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.329 per share, subject to the
adjustments in the event of, inter alias, consolidation
or subdivision of the shares, capitalisation of profits
or reserves, capital distributions in cash or specie or
subsequent issue of securities at a discount of the
then market price, in the Company.

The holders of the Convertible Bonds will have the
right to convert the whole or part of the outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds during
the conversion period subject to the applicable
restrictions contained therein. The Convertible Bonds
that remain outstanding on the maturity date shall be
redeemed at their then outstanding principal amount.

On 27 February 2013 and 24 September 2013, the
conversion price of the Convertible Bonds was
adjusted from HK$0.329 per share to HK$0.272 per
share, and then to HK$0.249 per share, resulting
from the completion of the 2010 First Subscription,
the 2011 First Subscription, and the 2011 Second
Subscription, respectively.

ERKNBREXBEREZ —HBH @ K
REIRZ_ZTENF+—A=ZTHHE®E
IAN4 %8 53,814,950,0008 T 2 T2
BrAaimREH(AI®RES]) - Alk
BREFSMALET B 2EAESEAR
1,040,440,000 8 T R EZH#t 2 N& 58
#%2,774,510,000%8 7T ° Al WA E H R
—E—=—F+—A-+HBEH WA
BB ESRR0.329F L L AR
AR EFREECC02 BT ZH T ER
B - EBRRERIE(HFRBE)RHE 6
A BN SFEERE RELE
MERD RS PBERBITARRRES 2B
AT TURAE  BHERAQREEMEN

i
A% °©

RIEHA - AT RRESHBEA BB #E
RB R ER 2 2R D RA A
TR(ZAERMBBARBIAME)
REIH B MR 2 TR E SRR E
ERAHLBASREED -

RZE—=F_A=+tAR=ZF—=
FAAZ+TMA  —E—ZTFF—ER
BEE —T——FFEHRBESFERK
T —FE_EREIETH D FE
AR ES 2 RREBER0.329%
THAEAEER0272E T BRAERES
1% 0.249 7T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 27. AIBRRES @)

On 4 October 2013, the Company entered into
the deed of amendments with Hanergy Holding's
subsidiaries, namely GL Wind Farm Investment
Limited (“GL Wind Farm"”) and China Genco
Investment Limited (“China Genco”), which are the
holders of all the outstanding Convertible Bonds then,
to amend certain existing terms of the Convertible
Bonds as follows:

1)  the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds is
extended from the 4" anniversary of the date of
the first issue of the Convertible Bonds (i.e., 25
November 2013) to 31 December 2014;

RZE—=F+AWHB " AQAFHE
EREE R 2 Mt B A ®IGL Wind Farm
Investment Limited ([GL Wind
Farm]) & China Genco Investment
Limited ([China Gencol)(BERFA
RITEARRES 275 B A)FIIEF]
2 - LMEFTAIMRES 2B THRE K
I :

1)

AR ESZ B H B R IR T
AR ESEHENBE (-
—=ZF+—A-+tHRA)ERE—
T-mEF-A=+—8:

2) it was provided under the existing clause 5.1(1) 2) AIRREFBEEIERGEA()RE
of the Convertible Bonds that no conversion RfTE R E A 2 A BER - &
right of the Convertible Bonds may be exercised FRHBARE-—SUITHAT(ER
to the extent that following such exercise, a RBEBRESSRDEHAE - BE
bondholder and parties acting in concert with it B EE - ERR AR EHE
(within the meaning of the Hong Kong Takeovers BTN Z229.9% KA FR A
Code), taken together, will directly or indirectly, B AITNBITEEELBRE - 1B
control or be interested in 29.9% or more of the BRI RIE - ER B M7 i
entire issued shares of the Company. Pursuant BREHEZHBERE  B5EBFA
to the deed of amendments, it is proposed to ME—BITBAT(ERZALBBY
amend as no conversion right of the Convertible BT RBEEBSKESTR A ELE
Bonds may be exercised to the extent that AR R 2 78 W B <7 Bl 2 6 S E H 5 1l
following such exercise, a bondholder and MREUEE - R RETSET
parties acting in concert with it (within the 5
meaning of the Hong Kong Takeovers Code)
shall have an obligation under the Hong Kong
Takeovers Code to make a mandatory general
offer in accordance with the provisions of the
Hong Kong Takeovers Code; and

3) the word “2013” in the subheading of the 3) EEMiprrikEsReEEgE

existing certificate of the Convertible Bonds
is proposed to be deleted and substituted by
“2014".

B&EBR2ATE HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

BZFRIZZT—=4F] WA=
T —PO4F | o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 27.

On 2 September 2014, the conversion price of
the Convertible Bonds was further adjusted from
HK$0.249 per share to HK$0.223 per share, resulting
from the completion of the 2011 Third Subscription
and Incentive Agreement. The Convertible
Bonds holders, GL Wind Farm and China Genco,
then converted all the Convertible Bonds into
3,800,598,461 ordinary shares with a par value of
HK$0.0025 each of the Company on 2 September
2014.

The movements in principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds are as follows:

AR ES#2)

R-ZZE—MEANAZR  BREK -
——FE-ERBETERERHE
AR EH 2 BIRE T B &% 0.249 %
THE— S AEE0.223F L Al
& % # & A(GL Wind Farm & China
Genco) HER—_ZT—HFNAZAKZE
HB A #A IR & % 32 7% 3,800,598,461 %
E{E0.0026 BT 2 AN A EBAR -

ABRRESASE I EEBHMT

Principal amount at 1 January
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds

R—A—BZAEHE
B AR S5

2015 2014

—Z 05 Eetgliks
HK$’000 HK$°'000
FExT FET

— 847,530

- (847,530)

Principal amount at 31 December

Wt -RA=+—HZAEH — =

On initial recognition, the fair value of the Convertible
Bonds is determined using the binomial model that
takes into account factors specific to the Convertible
Bonds. Liability component is then determined using
an effective interest rate of 8.23% for an equivalent
non-convertible bond. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated to the conversion option and is included
in equity as equity component of the Convertible
Bonds. Pursuant to the extension of maturity date in
2013, the effective interest rate decreased to 0.23%.

RUITHERE - AHARESRZ A FER
R RABREESFFERRZ — AR
AEE - BERDEREAEFIEAH
BREFZERMEB2B%EE - FTF
RIAMRE D RERLE - WIESAT R
Bzt AR RIEE—
T-=—FIHETEH  BEREFMNERIE
0.23% °

A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 27. AIRRESFE)
The Convertible Bonds recognised in the statement of RGN RERZ A B ESTE W
financial position are calculated as follows: o
Liability Equity
component component Total
=Lt EmI o &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEIT
Net carrying amount at R-ZE—MOF—H—H
1 January 2014 ZBREFRE 845,584 895,685 1,741,269
Interest expenses (note 8) FMEFRZ(HES) 1,296 — 1,296
Conversion during the year ZN4F [ HA R e i (846,880) (895,685)  (1,742,565)
Net carrying amount at R-ZZE—WF+_A
31 December 2014 and =t+—BNK-_ZE—HF
1 January 2015 —A—BZEEFE — — —
Net carrying amount at R-_ZT—AF+—-H
31 December 2015 = t+t—HZEEFE — = =

220 BaEEHEEEAR AT HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group leases certain of its plant and buildings
for its Manufacturing segment. These leases are
classified as finance leases and have remaining lease
terms of three years.

As at 31 December 2015, the total future minimum
lease payments under finance leases and their
present value were as follows:

Minimum

lease payments

RIEEERE

2015
—E-1F
HK$°000

28. BN BMEHERE

ZIKEEZ%L"%TEE%:FE&E&E
- BB SRMEHE - SR TS
EE@ e

R-F—AF+-_A=+—H BEH
E"ITEEKﬂﬂiﬁﬂﬁmlﬁﬁw@%ﬁ&ﬁfﬁﬁﬁu

7|

Present value
of minimum lease
payments

REEENEZRE

2014 2015 2014
T -F el T [U4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Amounts payable: FERTFRIE
Within one year —FR 9,301 9,308 8,147 7,875
In the second year E_F 9,301 9,308 8,435 8,153
In the third to fifth E=ERhF(BIE

years, inclusive BEMF) 20,703 30,098 20,334 28,862
Total minimum finance RIE T E HKIEKRIAE

lease payments 1EE 39,305 48,714 36,916 44,890
Future finance charges KRR (2,389) (3,824)
Total net finance lease JENNRIEMRERIA

payables B 36,916 44,890
Portion classified as TERBEES S

current liabilities 8,147 7,875
Non-current portion IETENEB S 28,769 37,015

“T-hEFH ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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29. DEFERRED TAX

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

29. IEZEBE
FENRERBEABBREAEZZBMT -

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets

during the year are as follows:

Losses
Unrealised available for
Recognition  profit or loss offsetting
of differences on intra-group ~ Fair value against
on revenue of transfer ~ adjustment With- Other future
construction ~ of assets or  on business holding temporary taxable
contracts ~transactions ~ combination Tax Accruals ~ differences profits Total
SEnERE pliteis
BIER  EIRGZ  EBRNZ ARERE
AEWAZE  AEREE  OPEER BE BHER RMEREE  RAER Ait
HK§ 000 HK8 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKs 000 HK8 000 HKS'000 HKS 000
7T 71 i i 7T A i Vi3
1 January 2014 Z5-ME-A-R (15,430) 6,737 (27438 (31630 10,338 30,591 11,051 (301,081)
Deferred tax credited) EN N
(charged) to the statement  FR5EA/ (115 ZEREH R
of profit or loss and other (i)
comprehensive income
during the year (note 10) 19,344 (5,999) 5,532 (222,265) 30,792 - (10966)  (183,562)
Exchange realignment EiRE - - - (94 134 (103) (85) (949)
At31 December M4 and  W-F-RETZA=T-AR
1 January 201 3-15-A-A 3914 738 (21,906 (540,089) 41,264 30488 - (485,591)
Deferred tax credited) EmBaREM2ENER
(charged) to the statement ~ FR5HA /(115 ZEREH
of profit o loss and other (i)
comprehensive income
during the year (note 10) (12,403 (738) 21,906 136,761 (40.890) (30,488) = 74,148
Exchange realignment 3k 134 - - (5,723) (374) - - (6,963)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RETZA=1-A (8,355) = = (409,051) = = = (417 406)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

29. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 29.

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of
the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

EEBIE (#)

REINZBENMS  ETELERBREE
REBBERMBARKALE - ATR
AP BE2RENME - ARERLEHIR
BRI

2015 2014
—E-FF ek
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE&r
Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE ISR R R
in the consolidated statement of FIRERIAE B
financial position — 76,404
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 4R & B AR N R FER
in the consolidated statement of FIRERIESE
financial position (417,406) (561,995)
(417,406)  (485,591)

The Group has tax losses of HK$3,964,138,000 (2014
HK$1,068,917,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose, subject to the rules of the tax
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
HK$3,964,138,000 (2014: HK$1,068,917,000) as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised on
the Group's deductible temporary differences of
HK$2,306,900,000 as of 31 December 2015 (2014:
Nil) as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the
foreseeable future.

The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$409,051,000 (2014: HK$540,089,000) for all the
foreign subsidiaries” undistributed earnings. Under the
prevailing income tax law of the PRC and its relevant
regulations, dividends paid by PRC enterprises out of
profits earned after 31 December 2007 to non-PRC
tax resident investors are subject to PRC withholding
tax of 10%. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is therefore liable to 5% withholding taxes on
retained profits distributable by those subsidiaries
established in the PRC in respect of their earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

AREBE 7 F7%E 18 3,964,138,000/8 7T
(ZZ—PO4 : 1,068,917,0007 7T) A
REBEEMERG A AERZ R Z
HET  AUEHEEEEBEERZARZE
RERT A - ANZESEERE B
—BEBEsMBARMEL  WIHKEA

A] RE A5 JE SR Fi v 1) AT B 1K S5 AR 75 /S
18 MR 3,964,138,0008 (=
Z— P4 : 1,068,917,000 8 7T ) HERIE
EFRHIBERE -

AR R EER B RA A ge A B
RS REREZSE WERAEER
T—RFE+-A=+—HBZ A&
Z=%82,306,900,000/8 L ( —ZF —PU4F :

B)RARLCHAEE -

ZKEIEfFﬁﬁiM\\W%/ATE’Hi ok &
A SRR E 75 18 B £ 409,051,000 7% 7T

i PO 4 : 540,089,000 7T ) ° 1R
BHRBRITAEFRENERRE K=
TR+ FE+-_A=+—HUBPEPE
LAFT BB RS T 3R R B Ri&
BEMRE - BIR10% B RE b ETE
HIFR o finjop Bl BB HME B B FTE R Bl
BEAHREEL BT HEARERNS%
TEHREE - Ay - REBEBGRR P BIK
YHBRARIE _EZEN\F—HA—HiE
EENZFiRE D KRB &N SR
5% FYFEHIFR ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

(a)

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
Shares (a) Bf2
2015 2014
—E—RF Eetalikea
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Authorised: JERE ¢
64,000,000,000 (2014: 64,000,000,000 A%
64,000,000,000) ordinary shares ZT U
of HK$0.0025 each 64,000,000,000 %) &
P& TE{E 0.0025 8 T2 &
R 160,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHE -
41,747,101,000 (2014: 41,747,101,000 A%
41,633,609,000) ordinary shares —E—JO4F :
of HK$0.0025 each 41,633,609,000 %)
SRRMEE0.0025 7T
2 EBk 104,367 104,084

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a)

30. IRA (&)

Shares (continued) (a) BB (E)
A summary of the transactions during the year FAZRGBMENT :
is as follow:
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRAEA BRARE RiEER g
‘000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
i AT FAT AT
At 31 December 2013 and RZEB-=F+-A=+-Hk
1 January 2014 “5-mE-f-H 28,587,819 71470 8,963,135 9,034,605
Subscription of shares (note (b)) RERD W)
— 2011 Third Subscription —T—FE-EIESES 6,000,000 15,000 585,000 600,000
— 2011 Incentive Subscription — 2 FREAESE 3,000,000 7,500 292,500 300,000
Sub-total NGt 9,000,000 22,500 877,500 900,000
Convertible Bonds conversion (note 27)  EIERIARER(H227) 3,800,598 9,501 1,733,084 1,742,565
Exercise of share options (note 31) R EREHE31)
— Share options granted to the — RTAEEERREREL
consultants and the management BREWZM0)
of the Group (note 31(b)) 16,600 1Y) 2,720 2,762
— Other Option 11 (note 31/c)i) — EMEREN (HZ 3110 20114 555 36,40 36,960
— Other Option 11l {note 31(c)i) — HAOERIE I (HeE311c0)) 6,478 16 1,604 1620
245,192 613 40,729 41,342
Transfer from share option reserve BHRRRERE
(note 321iv)) (Wi 32) - - 3,16 3,155
Subtotal 5y 245,192 613 43,884 44,497
Cancellation of share premium and HERDREUEEZEHR
transfer to contributed surplus — — (200,000) (200,000
At 31 December 2014 R=3-BE+=A=1-A 41,633,609 104,084 11,417,583 11,521,667
—Z—h&FH ANNUAL REPORT 2015

225



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ—F—HF +—-A=+—

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

RIEEFE)

30. A (4#)

(a) Shares (continued) (a) W@ (#&
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRAEA BRARE R EER g
‘000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
i AT FAT AT
At 31 December 2014 and RZEB-NE+-A=+-Hk
1 January 2015 “2-1%-f-A 41,633,609 104,084 11,417 583 11,521,667
Repurchase of own shares (note (i) BEAZRAHZ) (33,724) (84) (243,063) (243,147)
Exercise of share options (note 31) EBkEmZ31)
— Share options granted to the — R AEEERREREL
consultants and the management BREW23M10)
of the Group (note 31(b)) 11,970 30 13,230 13,260
— Other Options 11 (note 31(c)(i) — BRI (et sne) 86,779 216 14223 14,439
— Other Options 11l (note 31(c)(i) — EMBREN W s11ehin) 48,467 12 11,995 12,116
147,216 367 39,448 39,815
Transfer from share option reserve ERRERERE
(note 32(iv) (Hi32mv) - - 3,696 3,696
Sub-total gt 147216 367 43,144 43511
At 31 December 2015 R=Z-RF+=-A=1-A 41,747,101 104,367 11,217,664 11,322,031
Note: Bist -

For the year ended 31 December 2015

(i) The Company repurchased 33,724,000 of its own
shares through purchase on the Stock Exchange
during the year ended 31 December 2015 at an
aggregate consideration of HK$242,138,000. The
share repurchase expense was HK$925,000. The
shares have been cancelled on 11 June 2015.

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

BE-_Z-—HF+-A=1+—HLEE

i) BE-Z—ARE+-_A=1+-—
BIEEE  AQRBRERAT
LA 481 {8 242,138,000 78 T EE [l
33,724,000 i A 2 Al B& 1 o A%
D EEEIF X 4 925,000 T © %
ERHER-_TE—RENA+—
HaEds -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights

On 20 May 2010, Fujian Apollo, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a sales contract
("2010 Sales Contract”) pursuant to which Fujian
Apollo agreed to sell, and Hanergy Holding
agreed to purchase the turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of solar photovoltaic modules
production system with annual production
capacity of 3,000 MW to be delivered in three
batches for a total contract sum of US$2.55
billion. On the same date, the Company
entered into a subscription agreement (“2010
Subscription Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding.
According to the 2010 Subscription Agreement,
subject to the fulfilment or waiver of the
conditions set out in the 2010 Subscription
Agreement, Hanergy Holding is entitled to
subscribe for an aggregate of 4,911,528,960
shares of the Company, in three tranches,
namely the first batch of 1,964,611,584 shares,
the second batch of 1,473,458,688 shares
and the third batch of 1,473,458,688 shares.
The subscription price is HK$0.239 per share.
Pursuant to the supplemental agreement
entered into on 18 September 2011, the
exercise price for the second batch and the third
batch of the 2010 Subscription Agreement was
revised to HK$0.12 per share and HK$0.1 per
share, respectively. The exercise period of the
2010 Subscription Agreement was in following
manner:

30. IRA (&)

(b)

T-AEEH

RIEE

R-ZT—ZTFRA-1+H - &EH
B(ARAlcHEEEWBAR)
BEREIERETHESR(ZF
—ZTFHEERD F Bt B
HEERENEMEERERERE
BEAFEBERS3,000MW Z K
GREXAREBGEERSRCEER
- TERKSE  Bo=f -
RERTEER255BET - RE
B @ AARIEZEEIERE] L RE R
HZZ—ZFREH=ZED - B
B_ZE-ZTEREHE F_F
— T F R PR R A ER S
EERhe ZELEREES =R
BE4S 2£4,911,528,960 8 A A R i
5 BNEE—1#t1,964,611,584 % -
% —#t1,473,458,688 f% I 55 = #it
1,473,458,688 % - RHEE BT
0.23987L - RER=ZZT——F N1
A+N\BREISzfxthzE  —F—
SERBWEIFE I RE=MZ
TEEBMER REAR0.12E T
NEROIBTL  —E—TFERE
WL TEARAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF—

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b) Subscription rights (continued)

Exercise periods

AF+-RA=t—HILFE)

30. A (&)
(b) REBHE(E)
Number of
options
1T1EH BREZE

On the third business day after the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$3.3 billion

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$5 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the second
batch production lines in respect of
the 2010 Sales Contract, or upon
Hanergy Holding having an irrevocable
undertaking to pay within 24 months
from the date to complete such batch

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$6 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the third
batch production lines in respect of
the 2010 Sales Contract, or upon
Hanergy Holding having an irrevocable
undertaking to pay within 24 months
from the date to complete such batch

WG R B R —
iiﬁﬁéﬂiﬁxﬂm%
EETRE=EEXA

1,964,611,584

REAG W EERE RN =

T -ZFHESRLZAT IR
BOBAET : K= —F
FHEGRZNTIRE R

HERNES% ZFIBIEATE

NES » SHRIZEEIER T AT

513t 7 55 1& PR sz #E 7ok B AR E

24 @A A NZHKIEERE

=Bl

1,473,458,688

fBEAG I R E R IR =
—ZEHESRINTIR
BOEHET  RiNHE=ZT—F
FHESRXNTIRE=H
HFERRES% 2 RIBERTE
NEE » HPOERIZER AR
Bl 3 2w 1R PR BE e K B B
P24 B AR 2R IEESE
=“E&%A

1,473,458,688

4,911,528,960

. E ‘L(/\m

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF —

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 18 September 2011,
Hanergy Holding entered into a sales contract

Fujian Apollo and

(“2011 Sales Contract”) in relation to, among
others, the sale of the turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of solar PV modules production
system with annual production capacity of 7,000
MW to be delivered in three batches and the
provisions of the technical and engineering
support, training services and the grant of a
software licence in relation to the equipments
by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy Holding, for an
aggregate consideration of US$5.95 billion.
On the same date, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement (“2011 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2011 Subscription Agreement, subject
to the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions
set out in the 2011 Subscription Agreement,
Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe for, in
three tranches, an aggregate of 18,000,000,000
shares of the Company at the subscription price
of HK$0.1 per share. The exercise period of the
2011 Subscription Agreement was in following
manner:

AF+-A=t—HILFE)

30. IRA (&)

(b)

RBEE)

RZE—FNLATN\AR @ BEH
PELZEIERFIVEEAR([ =ZF
——FHEAR]) ARBHE(HE
BIE)HE FEEERR7,000
MW Z K F5 88 ¢ K748 1 £ = R 4t
ZEELE  TARKSS %%_
HER A - LA MR SARG A 2 A%
RHEBAREHEMME TR ER
% EFI RS AR H R R
BREALISEEXIT REA -
NN E) B E RE PR AR BT 3L R BB 1
([Z2——FRBEBWHZE]) - BIE
—T——FREHE F2F——
R 15 15 5 FIT 3816 14 2 P Sk & 3
% ’ /%Eb Iﬂxﬁfgﬂiﬁt E%:n 7
18,000,000,000 f% 2 2 &) i 17
REEBAEEBR0IBT —T——
FREMESEZITEHAT ¢
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30. A (&)
(b) Subscription rights (continued) (b) REBREE)
Number
of options
Exercise periods 1T BREER
Within one year after the cumulative REEHENE —F——F1H
consideration in respect of the BEARZRFRETLR
2011 Sales Contract received by 1,800,000,000 8 018 —F A
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$1,800,000,000 6,000,000,000
Within one year after the cumulative BEMAGINE =T ——F 5
consideration in respect of the EERZAFRETLR
2011 Sales Contract received by 3,600,000,000/8 018 —F A
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$3,600,000,000 6,000,000,000
Within one year after the cumulative %m%fﬂﬁﬁqﬂl | == ——4FH
consideration in respect of the EBRZZFRETIR
2011 Sales Contract received by 6,300,000,000%75(%*5??

Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$6,300,000,000

6,000,000,000

18,000,000,000

On 28 September 2011, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a subscription
agreement (“Incentive Agreement”), pursuant to
which Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe
for 3 billion shares of the Company at the
subscription price of HK$0.10 per share, upon
the fulfilment of the conditions precedent
under the Incentive Agreement, among others,
the completion of subscription for all three
batches of the 2011 Subscription Agreement
by 31 October 2013. On 31 October 2013, the
Company and Hanergy Holding entered into
supplemental agreement to extend the expiry
date from 31 October 2013 to 31 October 2014.

SEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

RZZE——FNAZ+NB ' &R
A EEBEIE IR ET S SRR 1 ([ 228D
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 28 December 2012, the ordinary resolution
approving the Whitewash Waiver was duly
passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company. From that date, all the pre-conditions
of the 2010 Subscription Agreement and 2011
Subscription Agreement have been substantially
met except the obtaining by the Company of
the written consent from all the bondholders of
the Convertible Bonds to waive any adjustment
to the conversion price pursuant to the
provisions of the Convertible Bonds caused by
the transactions contemplated under the 2010
Subscription Agreement and 2011 Subscription
Agreement (“Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver").

On 27 February 2013, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver and
the cumulative payment received by Fujian
Apollo over HK$3.3 billion and HK$1.8 billion
in respect of the 2010 Sales Contract and
the 2011 Sales Contract, respectively, the
Company completed the issue and allotment of
the first tranche subscription of 1,964,611,584
shares of the 2010 Subscription Agreement
("2010 First Subscription”) and the first
tranche subscription of 6,000,000,000 shares
of the 2011 Subscription Agreement (“2011
First Subscription”) to Hanergy Investment, a
company wholly-owned by Hanergy Holding, at
the subscription price of HK$0.239 per share
and HK$0.1 per share, respectively.

On 24 September 2013, pursuant to the
obtaining of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver
and the cumulative payment received by Fujian
Apollo over HK$3.6 billion in respect of the
2011 Sales Contract, the second batch of the
6,000,000,000 shares of the 2011 Subscription
Agreement (the “2011 Second Subscription”)
were issued and allotted to Hanergy Investment,
at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per share.

30. IRA (&)

(b)

RBE(E)

RZZE——F+=—A=+/\8 ' #it
R E T RRABREERR
AIBVRERIENBE - AE AL -
T EEREHBBER T ——
RIB % 2 P SORIGMFE R
FEK - AR BIMATE ARRE
FEHFFEEADNGERRE @ #AE
ARE-Z—ZFRBHRE =T
—— FREHEBET IR HEH
RIRATAMRE S 2 (G IR EE
2 AR R N[ AT AR 5
BARE]) °

R-ZE—=F"HA=-++H  BE
MG BRESFEE AR N
LMEEABH T —EEHES
BEk-_ZE——FHEARDBIK
B2t BB 33 BB TN 18E
BT ARRER D IR REE
Fh20.239% L R ERR0.1%E TR
BREIER = B ¥R 2 /A 7 Hanergy
Investment 317 M Bt 25 55 — #£ 52
8%1,964,611,684 ([ —=F—
TEF-—BEREEFE])RE
/% 6,000,000,000 i p&fH ([ ==
——FE-BRESE]) -

RZEBE—=FAA-_+MAB 1R
BEREAHRKRESFE ABRR
IWERERAGR T ——FHE
& R E 25 R DR 3688
T ZE—FRBHEIEZ
#£6,000,000,000 % f% 5 E 1% R
BEESRONVBILEITRERT
Hanergy Investment ([ ZZ——
FE_IHREEIE]) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 2 September 2014, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders" Waiver and the
cumulative payment received by Fujian Apollo
over HK$6.3 billion in respect of the 2011 Sales
Contract, the third batch of the 6,000,000,000
shares of the 2011 Subscription Agreement
(the “2011 Third Subscription”) were issued
and allotted to Hanergy Investment, at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per share. Upon
the completion for all three batches of the
2011 Subscription Agreement, 3,000,000,000
shares of the Incentive Agreement were issued
and allotted to Hanergy Investment, at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per share.

The following table summarises the subscription
right transactions during the years:

30. A (4#)

(b)

RREE

RZZE—WNFENAR=A ARE
AMEKRESFHAEARE ML
BEAB] T ——FHEAL
AU B 2 BEHFRIB B A631E S
T _E——FREHBERIE=
1#£6,000,000,000 f% % (= &
——FE-BEREFBEDEER
BESRKROIBTEITRERETE
BEIRE - R - — —FREW
FAEH=HE BEBETZ
3,000,000,000 % f% 0 B 1L R EEE
B 0.1 BT EIT RALE TR
iﬁ o

TERBLFRET RBERS

Weighted
Subscription average
rights exercise
outstanding price
RITE T
R fTEE
‘000 HK$
Ff BT
Outstanding at 31 December 2013 RZE—=%+-A=+—-HR
and 1 January 2014 “Z-ME-A-ARKRTE 8,946,917 0.10
Issue of subscription right granted BORZS——ERIN
in 2011 R 3,000,000 0.10
Exercised BT (9,000,000) 0.10
Outstanding at 31 December 2014 RZZE-MEF+ZRA=+—HkK
and 1 January 2015 —E—RF—F—HREKTHE 2,946,917 0.11
Outstanding at 31 December 2015 R-ZE-RE+-A=+—BHKTE 2,946,917 0.11

BERAR

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF —

31

(a)

. SHARE OPTIONS

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 August
2007, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) relating to the grant
of share options to directors, employees and
other participants (the “Grantee"”) including
consultants, advisers, suppliers and customers

of the Group.

The directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or
the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved by the Grantee before the option can
be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment and at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(i) the closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of the grant of the share option; and (iii) the
average of the closing prices per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company
in issue on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption
of the Scheme, unless a refresh approval of the
shareholders is obtained.

AF+-A=t—HILFE)

(a)

1. BRE

BRETE

BERZZEZE+FNAZF+NA
BRZRER - ARRIKM—IAE
R EI(TZETE DRAAEE 2
EE EERHEMBEE(ERK
Al BEER - BRA - HED
REF)E L EARRE o

Sy e RERRERETEN L
ARA ZRERB (WA RAEARA
VREBZRBBZR(NE) -

BB AR pE Al A SN ) 2 FOE T
B TEEFIRETREZLS

XFAB)EER T =FF Z2&R
E ()R 2EE: (i) IRHRE
HXTEETXE%EE ?&Pﬁlﬁ#ﬁ{ﬁ?\%
Pt 2 BRI TR ¢ R (i) iR R

EERBERERLER ﬁﬁﬂﬂlﬂﬁ H
R P B RE R Z BRCF
BUYHIE -

RITEREZA 8 RAR R EME
EREA SR TR Z 288
%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%?gféﬁzwﬁ?—%%{ﬁf\
FBEARANR_ZFTLFNA
—HNABEMRAZEEZBEH)
BEBITRAZ10% @ HEE DGR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF—

31

. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the special general meeting held
on 11 June 2010, the resolution approving the
renewal of the 10% of the general limit was
passed by the shareholders and the maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
share capital of the Company in issue on 11
June 2010. The total number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme is 461,224,947
(representing 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of passing the
resolution to refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and
to be issued) in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme to any one
Grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company
has been obtained in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 28 August 2007 and has a
life of 10 years until 27 August 2017.

SEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group

The following share based payment arrangements
were outstanding during the year:

e

BRER)
BIAEENERREERB 2 BRE

PATN AR AD R ERE 2 (R B F

A ARITEE -

2015 2014
—®-I0% e e
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price WU EIE  exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR mE S NE
FATEER BREHE THTHEE B EE A
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT TR BT FI
At 1 January R—A—H 0.8912 134,900 0.1664 90,800
Granted during the year FRERT 5.5181 42,200 1.7160 63,100
Exercised during the year — FR{TE 1.1078 (11,970) 0.1664 (16,600)
Lapsed during the year FRKXH 2.0639 (11,945) — —
Expired during the year FREH 1.7160 (1,330) 0.2500 (2,400)
Outstanding at 31 December R+= A
=+—A
HARITE 2.0605 151,855 0.8912 134,900
Exercisable at 31 December A=A
=+—H
o P17 0.5213 73,955 0.7063 18,110

The weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share options exercised during the
the year was HK$4.43 per share.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 151,855,000 share options outstanding
under the aforesaid options as listed in the table
above. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 151,855,000 additional ordinary shares of
the Company and additional share capital of
HK$380,000 (before issue expenses).

A

FARCITEBBERITE BB .20
BFARERERAAZBT

REREHR - RRRIREZ B
& 151,855,000 5 B AR 4 <
I - WEEITE S ARITERER
o ORBARRIRERAEE
#3517 151,855,000 JR AN A 7] 1%
@AY - W FTHAZAN 380,000 7T
(RIMBREITRAZ) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

EREBREEEEERALA

Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the
share options outstanding as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Number of options

31. BRE®)

(b) RFFEEEEEZBBREE)

REBERRERITE 2 BREZTT
EERTERDOT

Exercise price*

Exercise period

EREZA fTEE* L
Granted to 2014 HK$ per share
BF —T-E BRET

‘000

&
Management of the ~ A%E 65,800 71,800 0.1664 16 December 2011 to
Group | (i) ERE| () 15 December 2016
“F——%+-R+AHEZE
—Z-"ETZATHA
Management of the ~ A%E 45,720 63,100 1.716 27 October 2014 to
Group 11 (i) EEEI (i) 31 October 2019
“Z-METAZTHRE
ZE-NFTHA=T-H
Management of the ~ A%E 16,735 — 3.61 30 January 2015 to
Group |11 iii) EEEI (i) 29 January 2020
“E-n%-A=TR%
“Z-ZE-A-1hA
Management of the ~ A& 23,600 — 6.91 16 April 2015 to
Group IV (iv) EEEN (i) 16 April 2020
“Z-REEA+REE
ZZZTEMATAA

151,855 134,900
& The exercise price of the share options is * FEARAE 2 TR BRI RAT AR B 1T 3K

subject to adjustment in the case of rights on
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

AR RS 3R EL A AR B B B

et % -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BRE®)
(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BFAr&EEEEE2BEBREE)
the management of the Group (continued)
Notes: Bt -
(i) On 16 December 2011, the Company granted (i) RZE—F+_A+"B ' &K
100,000,000 share options to the management A A AT REREH 100,000,000
of the Group for nil consideration at an exercise MERETAEEEIERE » 17(F
price of HK$0.1664 per share. The exercise BAEN0.16647E T ° % F &
periods of the share options granted to the EBEIERE ZEIREZITERN
management of the Group are as follows: R
Number of options
Exercise periods 1T1EHE BREHE
‘000
Fl7
16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016 —Z——F+=-F+/,xBE
—E-—XF+=—A+HH 10,000
16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016 —Z——F+=-F+/,xBHE
—E-—XF+=-A+HH 10,000
16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016 —Z—=%+=-FA+/,xBE
—E—XF+=-A+HHB 10,000
16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016  —Z—MFE+=-F+/xBE
—E-—XF+=-A+HH 10,000
16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016 —Z—FF+=- A+, xBE
—E-—XF+=-A+HH 60,000
100,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BRE®)
(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BFEAEEEEEZBREE)
the management of the Group (continued)

Notes: (continued) Htat - (%)

(i)~ On 27 October 2014, the Company announced to iy MRZZE—HNME+A=++H:"
grant 68,300,000 share options to the employees ARRBEBEARRABRER=-E
of the Group for HK$1 as consideration by each TEFNRZTN\BHEZZ
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$1.716 HE mAEEEEAERE
per share under the Scheme approved by the 68,300,000 R #E - RE A
shareholders of the Company on 28 August BNABRANST  (THEEAE
2007(note 31(a)). As at 31 December 2014, P& 1.7167& (Mt E31(a) « B
63,100,000 share options were validly accepted. T WmMFE+=ZA=+—8"

63,100,000 {7 BEARAE M A B A -

The exercise periods of the share options RYAEEEE ZBIREZITE
granted to the employees of the Group are as HRE -
follows:

Number of options

Exercise periods T BREHE
‘000

Fl7

27 October 2014 to 31 October 2015 —Z-mE+A-++RAE-Z-RFt+A=1—A 6,310
1 November 2015 to 31 October 2016 —F-Aft+-fF—HE-F—~E+A=t—-A 6,310
1 November 2016 to 31 October 2017 TR Ft+—-HB-BE-_F—+tFt+A=t—H 6,310
1 November 2017 to 31 October 2018 —E—+H+—fF-HBE-_F-\F+A=t—H 6,310
1 November 2018 to 31 October 2019 —E-\f+—-HF-BE-_F-NE+A=t—H 37,860
63,100

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= —

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b) Share options granted to the consultants and

the management of the Group (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i)~ On 30 January 2015, the Company announced to
grant 19,300,000 share options to the employees
of the Group for HK$1 as consideration by each
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$3.61
per share under the Scheme approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August
2007 (note 31(a)). As at 31 December 2015,
17,800,000 share options were validly accepted.

The fair values of the options, which are
classified as equity, were estimated at their
grant date using the binomial model with the
following assumptions:

—hAFt-A=1T—HLEFE)

BRER)
(b)

RY¥-sEEEE2BREE)

HtaE - (&)
(i) K=T—h
A N

m 20
& |

i 5
I1<F

EEN S
e

— ik

© Nt

4>‘r
i
=
ﬁ
‘I]]]I]
5
Dff
Mo -

G g -
3>~ 3 T

) gﬁﬂxf
/%71
E(MT?31(a
Y oA=4—

H -
ﬁ%ﬁx’fié?&*ﬁxﬂi e
ZHLRENRE 2 R TFEGIAER)

ThiE —BARA RN B EER
IHIERER T AR

i
o IHTE
A%ﬁ@
?p

|1 g e
=

1‘:
~
©
O A
=]

b
o | »
SH2
=

Stock price as at grant date (HK$)

Exercise price (HK$) Tﬁ@( 7E)
Earliest exercise date (T) FE1TEEH(
Volatility R

Risk free rate 3 B b =
Dividend yield 18 B35 K
Trigger price multiple B E R

Exit rate FfEERL B

Fair value of each option FHERE2 ATE

The expected volatility was based on the
historical volatility of the Company's stock prices
over a period that is commensurate with the
expected life of the options.

The exercise periods of the share options granted

EHE A ZRECGET)

3.61

3.61

T1: 30 January 2015

T ZE—h¥—A=+H
T2: 30 January 2016

T2: ZF—XF—HA=+HR
T3: 30 January 2017

—T—+F—A=+H
T4: 30 January 2018

T4 —T—)\F—A=+1H
T5: 30 January 2019

5. —ZFE—NF—A=+A
T1: 42%

T2: 60%

T3: 568%

T4: 63%

T5: 61%

T1: 0.11%

T2: 0.361%

T3: 0.639%

T4: 0.768%

T5: 0.897%

0.2%

15.4x

21.0%
0.5618
1.1545
1.3721
T4: 1.6942
T5: 1.8196

T8 HR 8 K 1 AR B A 4 7R B

ERE—HA D AREES HE
EIGH -

T3:

T1:
T2:
T3:

BYAKEER 2BRE TR

to the empolyees of the Group are as follows: HNTE :
Number of options
Exercise periods T EREHE
‘000
717
30 January 2015 to 29 January 2016 —E-RFf-A=1tHE-E-—~E—HA=-thH 1,780
30 January 2016 to 29 January 2017 T -RA=tHE-T—+tF—-A=-tAhH 1,780
30 January 2017 to 29 January 2018 T +&-A=+HZE-_T-\F—HA=1AH 1,780
30 January 2018 to 29 January 2019 —E-)\f—-A=THE=Z-N&—A=1hH 1,780
30 January 2019 to 29 January 2020 —E-NF-A=+tHE-T-TF-—HA-thH 10,680
17,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)
31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. Bl
(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) EBIFrEBETEBEREE)
the management of the Group (continued)

Notes: (continued) Hiet - (&)

(ivy  On 16 April 2015, the Company announced to (ivi RZZE—RAFWHA+-B XA
grant 25,200,000 share options to the employees AREADERRRN —_FTLF
of the Group for HK$1 as consideration by each NAZTNBHAEZ L8 [
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$6.91 S HE 8 22 5 5 h 25,200,000
per share under the Scheme approved by the DB AE - BRI AEA
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 18 7T 0 1718 56.918 (K
2007 (note 31(a)). As at 31 December 2015, #E3la) R=—F—HFEF_H
24,400,000 share options were validly accepted. =-+—H - 24,400,000 17 ¥ i &

WA BN -
The fair values of the options, which are ZAEERRE 2 N E (B R )
classified as equity, were estimated at their TR = EE_W%TBA B B HE R
grant date using the binomial model with the THIRER FLARET
following assumptions:
Stock price as at grant date (HK$) EHEEHZRECET) 6.91
Exercise price (HK$) TEEET) 6.91
Earliest exercise date (T) SRITEBE (T T1: 16 April 2015

T ZE—AFMA+AH
T2: 16 April 2016
T2: ZZ—XEMA+XH
T3: 16 April 2017
T3: ZE—tFWMA+/~H
T4: 16 April 2018
T4 ZF—)\FMA+H
T5: 16 April 2019
5. ZE—NFMA+~AH

Volatility 8 T1: 56%
T2: 65%
T3: 61%
T4: 66%
T5: 63%
Risk free rate R B b R T1: 0.10%
T2: 0.361%
T3: 0.627%
T4: 0.841%
T5: 1.054%
Dividend yield % 2. [e] ) =& 0.2%
Trigger price multiple RSB 2 19.0x
Exit rate BEB L R 21.0%
Fair value of each option PEERRIE 2 A A T1:1.4198
T2: 2.3824
T3:2.7478
T4: 3.3787
T5: 3.5901
The expected volatility was based on the T8 EA 5 18 2 (v HA R R HAME TE HA
historical volatility of the Company’s stock prices ERE—HHARRERE KE
over a period that is commensurate with the ZEH o a
expected life of the options.
The exercise periods of the share options granted BYAREEREE ZEREZITE
to the employees of the Group are as follows: HAMT
Number of options
Exercise periods Cagcd BREHE
‘000
5
16 April 2015 to 15 April 2016 :T AFNATAEEZZ—AFHA+TRA 2,440
16 April 2016 to 15 April 2017 T REMA+ABE-Z—+ENA+RA 2,440
16 April 2017 to 15 April 2018 —E—+FENA+REE-E-\FNA+HH 2,440
16 April 2018 to 15 April 2019 “E-\FMA+AEE-E-NFMNA+HHE 2,440
16 April 2019 to 15 April 2020 “E hEMAIARE-_T-TEMALEA 14,640
24,400

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

Other share options

Beside the abovementioned share-based options

issued, the Company granted the following share

options as financial instruments to the grantees.

i)

Other Options Il

On 18 September 2011, the Company
entered into an option agreement (“2011
Option Agreement”) with Hanergy
Holding, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to grant the options
("Other Options Il1") to Hanergy Holding (or
its designated individuals or entities). The
options issued to Hanergy Holding were
mainly to ensure its signature and smooth
execution of the 2011 Sales contract.

On 16 December 2011, after fulfilment of
the conditions precedent to each of the
2011 Option Agreements, the Company
had granted the Other Options Il to
Hanergy Option Limited (Hanergy Holding’s
designated entity). The Other Options Il
were not granted under the Scheme.

The Other Options Il entitled Hanergy
Option Limited to subscribe for an
aggregate of 1.3 billion shares of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.1664
per share. They will lapse upon the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant.

31. BRE®)

(c)

HinfE R

RIF L2 81T 2 A BERRE
Pt - RRBAARAR L AT
BRAEERERMIA -

i) RUEREI

R-F——FNLATNE -
A A B B4R AR AT S B AR
(=T ——FBERE
ek l) - B - ARAE K
3[R = AR BE A (Bl 4
EZALTHER)REER
R(TEMBEREND - #1T
TEREBRZERELIES
BRERENMEFNZL-F
——FHERR -

RZB——F+_-_A+RX
B REXK-ZT——FERK
BiHES B 2 A RIEHE
A A2 [A Hanergy Option
Limited CEREIZRR 2 B E &
BB EMBRE - Hi
BB AR | 0 JEAR BR 52 At B
ﬁ o

H fh B2 B #E 11 B ¥ Hanergy
Option Limited # & A] %17
FEFR0.1664 BLRES
HI3EBRARRRKG « Hi
PIRH B RAF R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BR#E®
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HbEEREE)
i) Other Options Il (continued) i)  EMEREINE)
For the Other Options |l granted on 16 R-ZE——F+=Z/A+~H
December 2011, the exercise periods are Bz EmBERENZ/TE
as follows: HAGN R -
Number of
options
Exercise periods TEH BREHE
‘000
Fhig
16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016 —ZE——%+=-A+BZ
ZE—RE+ZA+HA 610,000
16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016 —ZE——F+-A+,B%
ZE-RE+ZA+HA 310,000
16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016 —ZE—=F+_-F+B&
—T—RFt+-B+HH 310,000
16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016 —ZE—MNE+-—F+BE
ZE-R"E+=ZA+HA 10,000
16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016 —ZE—AF+-A+,BZ
ZE-RE+ZA+HRA 60,000
1,300,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c) Other share options (continued)

i)

Other Options Il (continued)

The following table summarises the
movements of the Other Options Il during
the year:

31. BRE®)
(c) HiEEmEE)
i)  BEREIE)

R 0 B AR 1A
288

2015 2014
—B-n% —E-mE

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise price Number exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options

Sk insE B
THTRE BREHA THEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
AT & AT T
At 1 January ®“—A—-AH 0.1664 156,901 0.1664 379,015
Granted during the year ~ ER&KH - =
Exercised during the year /{718 0.1664 (86,779) 0.1664 (222,114)
Expired during the year ~ £RfET - -
At 31 December RtZA=1+—H 0.1664 70,122 0.1664 156,901

Exercisable at Wt=A=t-A

31 December BiH1:d 0.1664 70,122 0.1664 96,901

The weighted average share price at the
date of exercise for share options exercised
during the year was HK$4.07 per share.

FAEITEBRENITE B
Bz mMEFHIREARTR
4.07 77T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BRE®)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HibEBREE
i) Other Options Il (continued) i)  EMEREINE)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of R 5 HA R B R 1T 8 2 HAtb
the Other Options Il outstanding as at the BRI 2T ERITER
end of the reporting period are as follows: wmR

Number of options

BRERE
31 December
+=A=+—H
2014  Exercise price*
—E-mEF TREE*
‘000  HK$ per share Exercise period
Fi7 BHGET 1T
122 86,901 0.1664 16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016
TR+ _ATARBEZE—RF
+=—A+HAA
10,000 10,000 0.1664 16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016
—E-MOF+-_A+REE-_T—RF
+=-A+HAA
60,000 60,000 0.1664 16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016
ZE-RAF+ZATABEZZT—XRF
+=—A+HAA
70,122 156,901
@ The exercise price of the share options is J e i 2 AT BRI AL AR
subject to adjustment in the case of rights BT AR AR A HIEE
on bonus issues, or other similar changes fh B BB E L AR EE o
in the Company’s share capital.
At 31 December 2015, included in RZE—RAF+=ZA="+—
the above outstanding share options, B kK476 B AR
10,930,000 were options transferred from F - 8 $510,930,00017 H
Hanergy Option Limited to the Group's Hanergy Option Limited A
employees. AEEEEEEANBARE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

31. BRE®)

Other share options (continued) (c) HimEmEE)

i)

Other Options Il (continued) i)

The fair values of the options were
estimated at their grant dates using
the binomial model with the following
assumptions:

BBl (&)

ZAU AR i — BB R
PR B EER T3 RR
LAflET -

Stock price as at grant date (HK$) REgRZRECET)

Exercise price (HK$) IEECET)
Earliest exercise date =T H A

Expected share option life in years TEERRE R R B ()

Volatility R E

Risk free rate 4 [ e | R
Dividend yield pOSNERES
Trigger price multiple B e
Exit rate EERSH R

The expected volatility was based on the
historical volatility of the Company’s stock
prices over a period that is commensurate
with the expected life of the options.

The fair value of the options transferred
assessed was HK$7,931,000. Equity-
settlement share option expenses of
HK$5,309,000 were charged to profit or
loss during the current year (2014: Nil).

0.50~3.91

0.1664

16 December 2013 to

16 December 2015
—E—=FtZAtREBE
—Z-hF+-A+AH

1.10~3.67
60.97%~101.60%
0.06%~0.90%
0%

1x

0%

T B 0 2 A 8 R
7 B 4E IR 4 — B0 2 AR B
L RBRIG ] -

FrafmEEEREREZA
¥ & A7,931,000%8 T °
EEARFEMBEZP MK
5,309,000 (= & — Y
FE)NEREE 2 BRE
& e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
(c)

Other share options (continued)

ii)

== A
o~

5

Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012, the Company
and Hanergy Holding entered into an
option agreement, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to grant
Hanergy Holding (or such person(s) at its
direction) options (the “Other Options
[11") to subscribe for an aggregate of
600,000,000 shares of the Company at the
exercise price of HK$0.25 per share. Since
the Hanergy Options, which were acting
as an incentive of contribution to a smooth
execution of the 2010 Sales Contract,
have lapsed in 2011, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into this option
agreement to grant options as incentive for
the smooth execution and expediting the
transactions contemplated under the 2010
Sales Contract.

On 31 December 2012, after the fulfilment
of the conditions precedent to the option
agreement, the Company had granted the
Other Options Ill to Hanergy Investment
(Hanergy Holding’s designated entity). The
Other Options Il were not granted under
the Scheme. They will lapse upon the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant.

RATA]

31. BRE®)
HAE R

(c)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

ii)

Btz 21

RZE—Z—FNLARNH &
A A B RE IR IR AT M BB AR A
i - Bt ARFIEBK
4 [F) B ()R REAE AR (B ELFIT
BN BBAL)R LB
(TEHABERAEN]) - NI
fR0.25 BT 2THEEREE
600,000,000 J& A& A &) B
17 o AREEEEIRE(EAY
BRI B —BEHES
FEL BRI HEN ER=F
——FRB - AR HEZE
BEVERR T 37 Ut BB AR M 7 5%
AR B AR VR R B A 28 32
RNRBE — T T EHE
EREET IR S ZHE

RZBE—ZF+-A=+—
H ZEXBERERR 2L
RIEHE XRAAE R
Hanergy Investment (G£ &
ZRRIETE < BB ) B A
BRAE N1 o Eoqth B AR HE 11132 JE
BIFEZTER L - WA
HHHAREFE R -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

Other share options (continued)

ii)

Other Options Il (continued)

For the Other Options Ill granted to

Hanergy Investment Limited on

31

December 2012, the exercise periods are

as follows:

31. BRE®)
(c) HitwmEE)
i) BAEREEI ()

RZF—ZF+ZA=+—
H ¥ ¥ Hanergy Investment
Limited Z E BRI Z
ITEERAAT

Number of options

Exercisable period TR BREZE
‘000
Fhig

31 December 2012 to 31 December 2017 —E——F+-A=+—H=Z
—E—+&+-A=+—H 300,000

31 December 2013 to 31 December 2017 —ZE—=%+_A=+—HZ%
—Z—+tF+-A=+—H 150,000

31 December 2014 to 31 December 2017 —ZE—WE+-A=+—H=%
—T—tE+-A=+—H 150,000
600,000

The following table summarises the

TS SR B At L e B RO 111 TR AR

movement of the Other Options III during A2 &E)
the year:
2015 2014
—B-af —T-|mF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price WP EIES  exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR ME SRNE
FHTEE BREHE FHTRE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT F& BT T
At 1 January R—H—H 0.25 335,122 0.25 341,600
Granted during the year R T - — —
Exercised during the — FR{T{E
year 0.25 (48,467) 0.25 (6,478)
Expired during the year FR/Em - = =
Outstanding at ®+=A
31 December =+—H
RATTE 0.25 286,655 0.25 335,122
Exercisable at 31 iy
December =t+—H
] 1718 0.25 286,655 0.25 335,122

The weighted average share price at the
date of exercise for share options exercised

during the year was HK$6.05 per share.

FANEITEBERERITEB
HZMEFHARERST K
6.05 87T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BRE®)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HbEREE)
ii)  Other Options lll (continued) i) EttERETZ I (E)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of R 5 HA R B R 1T 8 2 HAtb
the Other Options Il outstanding as at the HERARHE | 2 1T (B R 1T (s Hf
end of the reporting period are as follows: wmR

Number of options

EBRERE
31 December
+=A=+—H
2014 Exercise price*
—E-mEF TREE*
‘000  HK$ per share Exercise period
Fi7 RGBT 1T
— 35,122 0.25 31 December 2012 to 31 December 2017
B _HF+_A=+—HEZ—+F
+=-A=+—A”
136,655 150,000 0.25 31 December 2013 to 31 December 2017
—E—=F+-_A=+—HE-ZT—+F
+=—A=+—A”
150,000 150,000 0.25 31 December 2014 to 31 December 2017
—E—NF+=-_A=+—HE=-ZT—+F
+=—A=+—A”
286,655 335,122
@ The exercise price of the share options is * FERRAE 2 1T B AT R AL AR
subject to adjustment in the case of rights BT AR ARAHIEE
on bonus issues, or other similar changes fb SR BB SR -
in the Company's share capital.
At 31 December 2015, included in the RZE—AF+—HA="+—
above outstanding share options, 3,500,000 B baiRTEBRES
were options transferred from Hanergy %5 3,500,000 {7 FH Hanergy
Investment to the Group’s employees. Investment [A] 75 &8 [ & 5 &5

EH) B AAE o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

31. BRE®)

Other share options (continued) (c) HimEmEE)

ii)

Other Options Il (continued) if)

The fair values of the options were
estimated at their grant date using
the binomial model with the following
assumptions:

Hithg IR w111 (&)
LB TR — HARA
REH B HBERTIRER
PAffET -

Stock price as at grant date (HK$) ®RHEERZBRE(ET)

Exercise price (HK$) IEECET)
Earliest exercise date =17 B

Expected share option life in years T&ERRERR#EAG ()

Volatility B8

Risk free rate 4 [3 [ b R
Dividend yield A% 2. (3] 3 =
Trigger price multiple (B REE
Exit rate BB Y

The expected volatility was based on the
historical volatility of the Company’s stock
prices over a period that is commensurate
with the expected life of the options.

The fair value of the options transferred
assessed was HK$4,945,000. Equity-
settlement share option expenses of
HK$2,004,000 were charged to profit or
loss during the current year (2014: Nil).

3.91

0.25

16 December 2015 to
15 July 2017
—E-hF+ZA+XH
Z-T—+tFtATHA

2.58
62.48%
0.67%
0%

1x

0%

T B 0 2 A 8 R
7 B 4E IR 4 — B0 2 AR B
L RBRIG ] -

FrafmEEEREREZA
S {E 54,945,000 T °
EEARFEMBEZP MR
2,004,000 o(= & — Y
FE)NEREE 2 BRE
& e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BRE®)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HunlEm#EZE
The following table summarises the movements TS FR AR 2 L At HE A 11 B L th B R
of Other Options Il and Other Options Il during BENINFR 2 EE :
the year:
Weighted
Share average
options exercise
outstanding price
RITHE ¥
BB R A THEE
‘000 HK$
F7 BT
Outstanding at R—E—=F+-_A=+—H
31 December 2013 and rZZT—HFE—HA—H
1 January 2014 mARITEE 720,615 0.2060
Exercised BTl (228,592) 0.1688
Expired =B m — _
Outstanding at RZE—WF+=ZA=+—H
31 December 2014 and rF—_E=—HF—H—H
1 January 2015 ®ARITE 492,023 0.2233
Exercised 21T (135,246) 0.1964
Expired Sy EN] — —
Outstanding at RZE—RAF+=-_A=+—H
31 December 2015 m AR TIE 356,777 0.2336
At the end of the reporting period, the Company RIEHR - AR RIRE EXRA5
had 356,777,000 share options outstanding 2 HERRAE A 356,777,000 17 i A
under the aforesaid options as listed in the table BARITEE o MEEITE N ATTHER
above. The exercise in full of the outstanding fEHE - LEBAAEIR A IRALE
share options would, under the present capital #5317 356,777,000 BR 2N 1A BT 12
structure of the Company, result in the issue LEAT - WHTIEAR A 892,000 T
of 356,777,000 additional ordinary shares of (RIMBREEITRZ) ©

the Company and additional share capital of
HK$892,000 (before issue expenses).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

32. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the

movements therein for the current year are presented

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on pages 106 and 107 of the consolidated financial

statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents an
amount equivalent to the par value of the
ordinary shares cancelled as a result of the
share repurchase.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC, a portion of the profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC has been
transferred to the reserve funds which are
restricted to use to offset against accumulated
losses or to increase capital. As at 31 December
2015, approximately HK$121,066,000 (2014:
HK$52,035,000) has been recognized to the
reserve funds.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus arose from the capital
reorganisation in prior years.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair
value of share options granted which are yet
to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will be transferred
either to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or retained profits
should the related options expire or lapse.

32. #E&
AEERAFTE BECHERESDH

KR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

T-AEEH

AEBERERFEI06 107 E 25
s BK o

EXEE#E

BEABEOFEceRERARNDE
(Bl i & $5 < B A E E ©

#EE

BAEF EBREEG RER - AAR]
2 R BT B A B 2 #0001 B
ZEARHAG 2 FEER  NEER
SIEBBEEMER - RZT—hHF
+=-HA=+—H8 " %121,066,000
BT (ZZF — P4 : 52,035,000
TEREHS PR -

BEHERG

BERBRRDELNBEFEZEAR
i

BIRERFE

BREFRBERECROERTEZ
Bz NFE mEeBHRER
MisE2.4 BRI XN Z RTBK
E— TR - ZE R NEREEK
RETEREBRERMDEER - X
RAERERE R B S R M B =

BEad -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31
December 2015, the Company completed the

following acquisitions:

(a)

BEEEBRAR

Business combinations under common
control

2015

Alta

On 27 November 2013, Hanergy Holding and
Alta Devices, Inc. (“Old Alta”) entered into an
asset purchase agreement. According to the
agreement, Hanergy Holding agrees to purchase
and assume from Old Alta substantially all
the assets and liabilities of Old Alta. Old Alta
was founded in January 2008 and is based in
Sunnyvale, California, U.S.A. Old Alta is engaged
in the business of research and development,
manufacturing, and marketing of thin, high
efficiency solar cells, for use in mobile and
other commercial applications. The total cash
paid was US$29,491,000. The acquisition was
completed on 7 July 2014. Upon completion of
acquisition, Old Alta changed its company name
to AWBSCQEMGK, Inc. with immediate effect
on 7 July 2014.

Hanergy Holding subsequently injected all the
purchased assets aforementioned to Hanergy
Acquisition Sub, Inc., an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary incorporated in the state of Delaware,
U.S.A. on 19 December 2013, in July 2014.
Upon the injection, Hanergy Acquisition Sub, Inc.
changed its company name to Alta Devices, Inc.
(“New Alta”).

33.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

WEsER
BE-FT-MF+-A=+T—HBK=F
—HAFETZA=+—HIEEE  xQF
FERCA TR E R IH -

(a)

ZHEEHZEBE 6

—E—hfF

Alta
RZE—=F+—H=++tH"

YE BE 12 IR Bd Alta Devices, Inc.
([old Altal)FliZ —EEHBE
HoBW ZREERAEEEY
®O0ld AltakE AR D EERE
F - Old AltaR=—ZZ/\F— AKX
37 #EER S B N A48 fE 22 N
Sunnyvale * fEEREEZ R HEAL
HMEEANEER SAABGESE
AR - AEEEHE - T
R #4838 € £ 29,491,000 7T * %
BHRBER=-ZE—NFLALH
SERK o WEESERK 2 Old Alta R =&
—NFEAEtHEFEHEAREZE
A AWBSCQEMGK, Inc. @ BlBF4
R o

E BE & R BE & MHanergy
Acquisition Sub, Inc.(® = =
—=F+ = A+ hBEEEFNE
MMz B2 ERBAR)
FALMFBERBEE - RZF
—POF+ AFEREE % © Hanergy
Acquisition Sub, Inc. & F & &
& A Alta Devices, Inc. ([New
Alta]) e



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(a)

Business combinations under common
control (continued)

Alta (continued)

The following table summarises the fair values
of assets and liabilities of Old Alta when they
were incorporated in Hanergy Holding for the
first time:

33. WEBEEE#E)

(a)

ZHEEVZEBEH(E)

Alta (&)

TRBAOId Alta BRI A ERE
TR ZBEEMBBEATE

HK$'000

FEIT

Property, plant and equipment (note 14) ME  BEKREHE14) 97,414
Intangible assets (note 16) mILEBE(MF16) 118,599
Deposits and prepayments e MIEFFIE 4,883
Restricted cash Z R #IER & 8,527
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 12,674
Current liabilities mEBE (13,496)
Fair value recognised by Hanergy Holding ERERERN AT E 228,601
Total cash paid to unrelated third party YR EREE=THNES (228,601)

The valuation is based on the valuation results
prepared by Hanergy Holding's directors using
the income based approach by estimating the
future economic benefits and discounting these
benefits into present value using a discount rate
appropriate for the risks associated with realising
those benefits.

Since the purchase price paid to unrelated
party by Hanergy Holding was funded through
advances from a related party individual and
two wholly-owned subsidiaries of Hanergy
Holding, Hanegy Investment Ltd and Hanergy
Global Investment and Sales Pte Ltd (“Hanergy
Global Investment and Sales”), Hanergy Holding
considered such purchase price should be
undertaken by New Alta, thus the purchase price
amounting to HK$228,601,000 was recorded as
other borrowings from related parties by New
Alta at the completion date of acquisition.

T-AEEH

HERENERERESNMHES
R RAWSERNTE - BB
BARBEEN g - WEARERZ
SHSAENRERRITREGE -

R EREIEAR (M MR E A T
ZBEABTRBEA— B EARE
AT RZERIZERMEZERNE A
A](Hanegy Investment Ltd &
Hanergy Global Investment and
Sales Pte Ltd([Hanergy Global
Investment and Sales |)) LA#ft
HEZz A REEES - BUEEER
R ARABABEREANew Alta
B 0 it - B8 A(E 228,601,000
BRI EETEA B B New Alta
O AFERTREZE A T EMfEFK o

ANNUAL REPORT 2015

253



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF—

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)
(a)

Business combinations under common
control (continued)

Alta (continued)

After the completion of acquisition on 7 July
2014, Hanergy Global Investment and Sales,
as the sole registered shareholder of New
Alta, injected new share capital by cash with a
total amount of USD$12,510,000 (equivalent to
HK$96,995,000) during the period from 8 August
2014 to 31 December 2014 to New Alta.

In January 2015, Hanergy Global Investment
and Sales injected share capital by cash totalled
USD2,490,000 (equivalent to HK$19,254,000) to
New Alta.

On 27 January 2015, Hanergy Hi-Tech Power
(HK) Limited (“Hanergy Hi-Tech”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Hanergy Global Investment and Sales, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, entered
into a sales and purchase agreement. According
to the agreement, Hanergy Hi-Tech agrees to
purchase and Hanergy Global Investment and
Sales agrees to sell the entire issued share
capital of New Alta at the consideration of
US$15,000,000 upon and subject to the terms
and conditions of the agreement.

As the Group and New Alta were under common
control of Hanergy Holding, the acquisition is
considered as a combination of entities under
common control. Accordingly, the assets and
liabilities of Old Alta have been accounted
for at the fair value recognised by Hanergy
Holding when acquired from AWBSCQEMGK,
Inc. and the consolidated financial statements
of the Group prior to the acquisition have been
restated to include the results of operations of
New Alta commencing from the date when New
Alta became under control of Hanergy Holding.
The consideration paid by the Company for the
acquisition has been accounted for as an equity
transaction in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

EEFRAA

AF+-RA=t—HILFE)

33. WWEEE%)

(a)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

ZHEEVNZEBSH(E)

Alta (%)
R-ZZT—ME+ A LHERKE

% » Hanergy Global Investment
and SalesfE ANew Altaz M
— AR R—ZE—mE/N\A
NBEE-Z—NMF+=-A=+—
H X IE £ 5 = [ New Alta): A
& #12,510,000% 7T(HH F RN
96,995,000 70 ) Z BEA o

KN =ZF — A F — A Hanergy
Global Investment and Sales
LA IR € 5 X mNew Alta)E A
& #2,490,000% T £ RN
19,254,000 % 7T ) Z AR AN ©

R-ZZE—RF—A=-++tH &R
RIZHEE2EN B A VRS
BER(BB) RN BR A A(ERE
SRE D EZREZER 2 Z2E B
/A &] Hanergy Global Investment
and Salesz] v/ B & % ° IR IE
Z e 2 RGN - E e
B & U 8 - M Hanergy Global
Investment and Sales[d & &
New Altaz 2B ZETRA @ £
&/ 15,000,000 T °

AN AEEENew Alta £FAZE
BEIERR ATIE S - BB R A
RHERZEH 2 BERBNEBEH - B
E BB AWBSCQEMGK, Inc.
IgBE Old Alta OB E K B & -
KRR BRI AR A A T ERER - Fm’$
EENGRETBRRERBEIEE
5l B New Alta H & fe 28 A% 2 i
B HEFTANew Altafy#4E o K
RE BT S R EBRERE
=EBR UMD R DAL -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(a)

Business combinations under common control
(continued)

2014

Hanergy UK

On 9 February 2014, Hanergy Solar PV
Application UK Limited (“Hanergy Application
uUK”),
the Company, and Hanergy Global Investment

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of

and Sales, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of Hanergy Holding entered into a sale
and purchase agreement. According to the
agreement, Hanergy Global Investment and
Sales agrees to sell and Hanergy Application
UK agrees to purchase (i) the entire issued
share capital in Hanergy Thin Film Solar UK
Limited (formerly known as Hanergy Solar UK
Limited) (“Hanergy UK"),
owned subsidiary of Hanergy Holding; and (ii)

an indirect wholly-

the shareholder loan of Hanergy UK due to
Hanergy Global Investment and Sales, at the
consideration of HK$1 upon and subject to the
terms and conditions of the agreement. The
carrying amount of the shareholder loan as at 31
December 2013 was GBP1,716,824.

Hanergy UK is incorporated in June 2012 in
the United Kingdom indirectly held by Hanergy
Holding, and is principally engaged in the sale of
thin-film solar photovoltaic equipment and the
provision of the relevant installation services in
the United Kingdom.

33. WEEE %)

(a)

T-AEEH

ZHEEWZEBEH(E)

T —OF

Hanergy UK

RZZE—WFE-_AALB AR
Al 2 % 2 & i B 2 5 Hanergy
Solar PV Application UK Limited
([Hanergy Application UK])
HERITERCEEZEWNB A
Al Hanergy Global Investment
and Salesz] v B E W o IBIEZ
1oh 7 I 32 PR A 3% 1 =k O 168 3k 2 (6%
% - Hanergy Global Investment
and Sales[d & M & i Hanergy
Application UK E & A (i) £ #E
=R B2 EME AR Hanergy
Thin Film Solar UK Limited (BT
¥4 Hanergy Solar UK Limited)
([Hanergy UKJ) 89 & 3 & 2
1T B A& K(ii) Hanergy UKJE
{f Hanergy Global Investment
and Sales®# IR R B 5 - K &
RIBETLT - R-_E—=F+_AH
=+—H BRRERZEEER
1,716,824 %8 o

Hanergy UKIR=—Z——F A%
EEFEMA L - IER IR
B WEERFREEHEEFERELN
R RBERZR - WiIRHEHARAR
AR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)
(a)

Business combinations under common control
(continued)

Hanergy UK (continued)

As the Group and Hanergy UK were under
common control of Hanergy Holding prior to
and after the acquisition, the acquisition is
considered as a combination of entities under
common control. Accordingly, the assets and
liabilities of Hanergy UK have been accounted
for at historical cost and the consolidated
financial statements of the Group prior to
the acquisition have been restated to include
the results of operations of Hanergy UK on a
combined basis. The consideration paid by the
Company for the acquisition has been accounted
for as an equity transaction in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. The acquisition
of the shareholder loan amounting to
HK$21,958,000 of Hanergy Global Investment
and Sales was accounted for as a contribution
from Hanergy Holding in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

BERAR

33. WEBESE#)

(a)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

ZHEEWZEBEH(E)

Hanergy UK (#)

RN AL B & Hanergy UK RAUEE
AT 1835 XEREIERR 2 2L RIES] - %
WHRE B IRWAR A HEEH 2 7%
A6 - At Hanergy UKZ&EE
RBBEREEXNEAR A&
ERWEEIRA 2R BBREE
EEZERE FFE%EFT A Hanergy
UKz &EEE - AR Atz AE
EEXNZREBEFAGERRE
BRNIIRS—BRERS - WiE
Hanergy Global Investment and
Sales Z IRERE 7 $£ 21,958,000 &
TEFAGERREBRANIIERS
BRI A o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(a)

Business combinations under common control
(continued)

GSE

Global Solar Energy, Inc. (“GSE") is principally
engaged in the manufacturing of photovoltaic
products and equipment based in the United
States.

GSE was originally 100% wholly-owned by
SOLON SE and Lumenion AG before it was
entirely acquired and controlled by Hanergy
Holding. Hanergy Holding, through its subsidiary
Hanergy Holding (Hong Kong) Limited (“Hanergy
Holding HK"), acquired the entire capital
stock of GSE on 22 July 2013. The acquisition
consideration was US$12,588,000.

The following table summarises the fair values
of assets and liabilities of GSE when Hanergy

33. WEBEEE#E)

(a)

ZHEEWZEBEH(E)

GSE

Global Solar Energy, Inc.
(TGSENFERERFHRNRE
o N R BE o

FRUE B 12 % 2 S0 UK B 45 I A
GSE J8# SOLON SE X Lumenion
AG 100% 2 &#H - R —=
EXrA-+=-8 ZEeEERE
i® H Kt B A & Hanergy Holding
(Hong Kong) Limited ([Hanergy
Holding HKJ) 4 #8 GSE & & %
T o W {E & 12,588,000 % T °

TREEAPEREIERN T —=4F
t A+ -—HBEXIEH GSER 2

Holding first controlled GSE on 22 July 2013: BERBEBE2ZATAE :
HK$000
FEIT
Property, plant and equipment Yz -~ R R 115,313
Intangible assets | A E 20,090
Inventory FE 25,287
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 40
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b fE W Sk IE 258
Deposit and prepayments e RIEF IR 639
Current liabilities mENEE (5,022)
Other non-current liabilities HEMIEmBa s (567,765)
Fair value recognised by Hanergy Holding BRI R 2 ATE 98,840

Purchase price paid to an unrelated FEMEE=HZ N2

third party BAE (98,840)

T-AEEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)
(a)

BEEEBRAR

Business combinations under common control
(continued)

GSE (continued)

The valuation is based on the valuation results
prepared by Hanergy Holding's directors using
the income based approach by estimating the
future economic benefits and discounting these
benefits into present value using a discount rate
appropriate for the risks associated with realising
those benefits.

On 9 December 2014, Hanergy Hi-Tech,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Hanergy Holding HK entered into
a sale and purchase agreement. According to
the agreement, Hanergy Holding HK agrees to
sell and Hanergy Hi-Tech agrees to purchase
all the ordinary share capital of GSE at the
consideration of US$1 upon and subject to the
terms and conditions of the agreement.

As the Group and GSE were under common
control of Hanergy Holding, the acquisition is
considered as a combination of entities under
common control. Accordingly, the assets and
liabilities of GSE have been accounted for at
the fair value recognised by Hanergy Holding
when acquired GSE and the consolidated
financial statements of the Group prior to the
acquisition have been restated to include the
results of operations of GSE commencing from
the date when GSE became under control of
Hanergy Holding. The consideration paid by the
Company for the acquisition has been accounted
for as an equity transaction in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. The difference
between net assets acquired of HK$98,840,000
and the consideration paid to Hanergy Holding
HK was accounted for as a contribution from
Hanergy Holding in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

33. WWEEE%)

(a)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

ZHEEWZEBEH(E)

GSE (%)

HERBZEEERCESHE (A
BER - RARBARER 2 TE
ERFRRE BNz - WERABERZ
F NI ARRE 2 B R 2 RE 3R B
RZENAERE -

RZZE—WMNF+=_ANAB  &Q
Al HEEENB AR ZEa R
782 Hanergy Holding HKEIZ B
Efs - BiEZE  EX%W
HEM R R IEHFRBT - Hanergy
Holding HKR & & fiZ e = £t
R A=W GSE & #f @R A -
REE1ETT °

R AL B K GSE S R 1 iR £
EEH - EEWEEWRAR A LRI
THHEBEMH - At GSEME
B N B ERE e e IR Uk B8 GSE
FriER 2 A TES R - mMASER
BB AT AR & ISR E T &7 -
VA A GSE B & se f5= B4z il &
HBFTRE S AL - AARIFLEE
WEENZRERGEEREDEK
NI EBRIERS - TEEEFE
98,840,0007% T B 2 {5 Hanergy
Holding HKAR{E 2 & Z 5 R 4R
BRERFERANY| BEREZER 2T
ﬁ o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b)

Business combinations

2015

Beijing Hanergy Thin Film Power Electrical
Engineering Limited

On 16 January 2015, Beijing Hanergy Solar
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Hanergy”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and two individuals Feng Jian Jun
and Hao Xiang Hong (collectively as “Sellers”)
entered into an equity transfer agreement.
According to the agreement, Beijing Hanergy
agrees to purchase and the Sellers agrees to
sell the entire equity shares of Beijing Hanergy
Thin Film Power Electrical Engineering Limited
(formerly known as Beijing Sanjin Electric
Power Engineering Company Limited) (“Beijing
Sanjin”) at the consideration of RMB4,900,000.
The Sellers hold the entire equity shares of
Beijing Sanjin. Beijing Sanjin is mainly engaged
in construction and engineering business. In May
2015, Beijing Hanergy and the Sellers entered
into a supplemental agreement to amend the
cash consideration from RMB4,900,000 to
RMB5,700,000. According to the supplemental
agreement, the cash consideration shall be paid
in installments upon the specified payment
terms of the supplemental agreement. The
acquisition was completed on 9 June 2015.
As at 31 December 2015, Beijing Hanergy has
paid a total of RMB2,890,000 pursuant to the
payment terms of the supplemental agreement.

33. WEEE %)

(b)

T-AEEH

WA 6
—E-8F

R EEEERABREEN TEER
A

RZZE—RF—A+/H ' AQF
Z = ARBEHB AR RERE IR
HEBRAR([dLFERE]) &
MEATHREE RBRA(HHEE
7 )ERTIREE E R o Bt - 4
TERRERE  RBEARELE
IERZERE ARG E N TIRER
AR(AIBIER=8BENIRRER
AEN([HR=F|) 2 2 ZFRAH#E
#= - REAARK4,900,0007T °
EAFEIAR=E2IRAELS
ITR=BFENETEERTEE
e RZE—hFRA AL EEE
BRI MR - SRR ER
AR 4,900,000 TE XA AR
5,700,000 7T ° R IK 7%l 70 o -
ReREERREBEMTHRNRES
HEFET D BT - ZWHER =
TE—RAFANANLBEK - R=F
—RAF+=-A=+—BJtFERE
MR IR 52470 70 19 e A 5 SR AR (- 232 5
AR ¥ 2,890,000 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)
(b)

33. WEBESE#)

Business combination (continued) (b) EKEG(E)
Beijing Hanergy Thin Film Power Electrical IR EEERAGBEEL T EEFR
Engineering Limited (continued) RE(E)
The following table summarises the fair values TREZIA=BERKBERHZE
of assets and liabilities of Beijing Sanjin as at ERAEATE :
the date of acquisition:
HK$'000
FEIT
Intangible assets (note 16) EREE(ME16) 6,949
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 420
Trade receivables 2 5 W IR 838
Other receivables H {th fE Y5k IE 948
Current liabilities MENBE (2,026)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR FEENFERSE 7,129
Purchase consideration shall be paid 1S GEEEEE =
to unrelated third party BENRE (7,129)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the U BB AL = = B /IR R H T a0
acquisition of Beijing Sanjin is as follows: N
HK$000
FEIT
Cash consideration paid TNBREENRE 3,661
Cash and bank balances acquired g 2 R & RIRTT 454 420
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents R RBEEEWEFR
including in cash flows from investing HRBIREEE T AL
activities B[Em (3,241)

Since the acquisition, Beijing Sanjin contributed
HK$11,699,000 to the Group's turnover and a
loss of HK$361,000 to the consolidated loss for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Had the combination taken place at the
beginning of the year, the revenue of the
Group and the loss of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015 would have been
HK$2,815,775,000 and HK$12,234,629,000,
respectively.

BMR2A7 HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

BzEEE R8N AEEE
¥E 2 BERA11,699,00087C 0 A
HE_Z—RAF+-_A=+—H1t
FRZEHREEEAEE361,000%

7T|:o

NZEBEHREVELE  AEE
RBEE-_ZT—ARAF+_-_A=1+—
BEFEMRKARSEE 2 EE -
#& 2 Bl &2,815,775,00078 T K
12,234,629,0008 7T ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF —

33. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(c)

Asset acquisition from a third party

2015

There is no asset acquisition for the year ended
31 December 2015.

2014

On 30 March 2014, Hanergy Global Solar Power
Group Limited (“Hanergy Power Group”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an agreement with Savanna Pride
Limited (“Savanna Pride”), an unrelated
company incorporated in Ghana. Pursuant to the
agreement, Hanergy Power Group purchased
Savanna Pride's 70% equity in Savanna
Solar Limited (“Savanna Solar”), a company
incorporated in Ghana. After the completion
of the acquisition, Hanergy Power Group and
Savanna Pride own 70% and 30% of the equity
interests of Savanna Solar, respectively. The
acquisition has been completed on 31 March

2014.

On 11 June 2013, Savanna Solar entered into
a power purchase agreement with the relevant
authority in Ghana in relation to the sale of
electricity to be generated under the 400MW
solar power plant project (the “Ghana Project”)
in the Northern Region of Ghana by Savanna
Solar with a term of 25 years. Savanna Solar has
obtained the temporary electricity generation
licence.

As of the acquisition date, Savanna Solar had
no business operations and assets except the
power purchase agreement signed. As such,
pursuant to mutual negotiation, Hanergy Power
Group paid US$1 in respect of the acquisition.
The Company determined that the acquisition
of Savanna Solar did not constitute a business
combination for accounting purposes.

AF+-A=t—HILFE)

33. WEEE %)

(c)

A—&F=FUREE
—E-8F

REBE-_T-—AF+_-_HA=1+—H
ti&ﬂﬁﬁ%éé%ﬁ% g

—E—OF

RZT—MF=A=+H ' AA7A]
22BN E A RE R BIBR IKEE
BEREEEERAR([EERE
%M@ |) ¥ Savanna Pride Limited

([Savanna Pride] © — & # 1N
MMk 2 ERIER A )AL
Wik BIBEZ R EEESE

E & A Savanna Pride 74 Savanna
Solar Limited([Savanna
Solar] * —ERIAFEMEK L 2
NAE) 2 T70% MerE - MeziiiEE1E
ek ¢ EREEEE £ E K Savanna
Pride % Bl # & Savanna Solar Z
70% % 30% & - ZWHEEIED
RZZE—NF=A=+—H%MK °

RZEBE—=%XA+—H8"
Savanna Solar E2NRiEEE BT
VB W - WA A B Savanna

Solar 5 & 7 10 4% 4t B 400MW K

e B IE B (TMAIER 1T
EAEZEN WEA/B2BF-
Savanna Solar B EUSERFRF BT
A& ©

RIKEBH RESEZESH=
4N > Savanna Solar If £ 275 4 &
REE o Wt - RIBEF BEER -
E B **El?ﬁéﬂﬂlﬁ%$lﬁiﬁ1
ETC o Bkt - ANRRIRE - BREE
BEHmME - HQE%Savanna Solar i
TR -GS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 16 April 2015, HGSG-NA Land Power 1, LLC
("HGSG"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with East to West Solar LLC (“ETWS"),
to sell the TMW AC ground solar plant in the form of
sales of all the equity interests of the MLH Phase 3,
LLC ("MLH") with a selling price of US$1.65 million
(part of which was used for the repayment of the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of MLH)

The following table summarises the carrying value of
net assets of MLH as at the date of disposal:

4. HE—EWELQF

RZZE—RFMA+"8 ARAZH
2 EME AR HGSG-NA Land Power
1, LLC([HGSG]) E B East to West
Solar LLC(TETWS DI B =% © U
H % MLH Phase 3, LLC(TMLH )& &
B HE 2 2= (& {8 51,650,000 % 7T )
HE MW YR E UL (30 R IEEE
MLH Z 5T BERIT R EMEE) °

TEREEMIHR B E B2 BEFRER
HE :

HK$'000
FET
Net assets disposed of: P& &=

Property, plant and equipment (note 74) VI - BB KRB (HTat 14) 24,289
Other payables and accruals B RIE R EETE A (2,485)
Interest bearing bank and other borrowings ER1T M E AR BAE R (8,006)
13,798
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEH B A R EE (11,499)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEATEGFEZAHREEFELBE 2,299
Satisfied by cash AR & A 4,784

Waiver of other receivables from the subsidiary HEMERTIEZH R
disposed of H At R U RIE (2,485)
2,299

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash

FRALE—MNBRARZRERRESE

equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary BYFERAZDITET -
is as follows:
HK$'000
FEIT
Cash consideration BHeRE 4,784
Cash and bank balances disposed of Fr & 2R & MIRTT4E 4 —
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERHE—RHIBARZ
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary He hREeFEWFRA 4,784
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

35. OPERATING COMMITMENTS

(a)

Operating lease commitments
As lessee

The Group leases a number of properties,
warehouses and equipment under operating
leases, with leases negotiated for an initial
period of three months to five years, with an
option to renew the lease and renegotiate the
terms at the expiry dates or at dates as mutually
agreed between the Group and the respective
landlords. None of the leases include contingent
rental.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as

35, REERIE

(a)

HEREARE
ERABA

AEERELKEZHEERETY
¥ RELRE HEVNS A=
BEAZRE  AEERBEOERE
BgASBEEARAETEIREZ
REMENMBMERRK - ZFHE
BMTERIAEE -

RZZBE—RF+_A=+—H &K
SERESAHELLEHE ZRE
RIEESEEHR TIHRER -

follows:
2015 2014
—ZE—0F EeeEif
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FEL
(Restated)
(E3)
Within one year —FR 99,397 91,873
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F-_Z=RF(BHEEEME) 182,816 149,961
Over five years REE 35,588 —
317,801 241,834
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

35. OPERATING COMMITMENTS (Continued) 35. WERE®)

(b) Other Commitments (b) HbEE
At 31 December 2015, the Group had total RNR-ZZE—RE+-_A=+—H &
other commitments of HK$726,871,000 (2014: SEERBEEEXREEEE (R
HK$1,199,714,000) under the non-cancellable FEHRER) TN REAN 2 H M
contracts to build the photovoltaic power AYE4E%E 726,871,000 T (==
generation projects capitalised in the inventories. —PU4 :1,199,714,0007%87T) °
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. BEAREKIE

2015 2014
Lok T
HK$000 HK$000

FHT F&T
Acquisition of items of property, WEEYIZE - &
plant and equipment RABIE B
— Contracted, but not provided for ~ — 2 ET4VEREE 520,734 23,358

— Authorised, but not contracted for — EEEBRREIH — —

520,734 23,358
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &=

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

— =
=
—=

In addition to the transactions and balances

detailed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the

following material transactions with related

parties during the year.

—HET A=+ HILFE)

(a)

/‘*\’H_—./_\
i3S

37. BEALRE
BRI UL
Sl 2 32 5 MAEERIN
NEFBEATETATEARRS °

A 75 R E A AR D P
AEENE

2015 2014
—E-RF etk
Notes I HK$°000
i3 FET FAET
(Restated)
(&%)
Manufacturing of turnkey BUERE L ER
production lines (i) 65,769 5,955,293
Rental expense HeRXZ (ii) 6,832 5,561
Equipment lease expense BEHERY (iii) 17,594 17,824
Equipment lease income REHEEWA (iv) 8,324 912
Technology usage fee expense KA B (v) 12,470 21,375
Prepayments for purchase of IS RAE TR
photovoltaic modules K8 (vi) 207,706 1,076,842
Return of prepayments for B S R TR
the purchase of photovoltaic IR
modules — 1,262,629
Sales of spare parts SHE T4 (vii) 1,292 910
Operational support expense EELIFRAX (viii) 2,847 1,057
Operational support income BB IFRA (ix) 14,764 2,149
Sales of flexible photovoltaic SHE RS KA
modules and cells NEAM (x) 7,329 2,643
Trial run service A5 AR 75 (xi) 20,573 —
Purchase of IT-hardware and RIS B B4
machinery K2R (xii) 6,336 7,314
Charter flights fee BgER (xiii) 2,617 1,627
Import commission fee EOREE (xiv) 143 —
“E—hHFFH ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= —

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The revenue from the sales of equipment and
turnkey production lines was receivable from
Hanergy Affiliates. The sales were made in
accordance with the terms as stipulated in the
relevant sales contracts.

Rental of office premises, factory premises and
a staff dormitory by Fujian Apollo, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from
Sichuan Hanergy, Hanergy Holding's affiliate, and
lease of office space by Solibro Hi-Tech GmbH
(“SHT"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, from Solibro GmbH (“Solibro”),
Hanergy Holding’s affiliate.

Equipment lease expense represents the rental
of a production line by Fujian Apollo from
Sichuan Hanergy.

Equipment lease income represents the lease
of certain tools and system for the production
of CIGS photovoltaic modules owned by SHT to
Solibro.

The usage of relevant equipment, material and
facilities by Fujian Apollo from Sichuan Hanergy
to carry out research on thin-film solar energy
technology development.

Prepayments for purchase of photovoltaic
modules made to Hanergy Holding, Solibro,
Jiangsu Wujin Hanergy Photovoltaic Co.
Ltd (“JiangSu Wujin Hanergy"”), Hanergy
Photovoltaic Power Investment Co. Ltd and
Guangdong Hanergy Thin Film Solar Co. Ltd for
the construction of the downstream photovoltaic
power generation projects.

—hAFt-A=1T—HLEFE)

37. AEANXRF (&)

(@) (%)

Kzt

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

HHE R &ﬁkﬁiéﬁzuﬁz)&)}
J%‘Hké/%am REAT - HETR
BB E SRR RTE

7

ARBIZEEZENBARE
ARG AERE IR 2 B B A A
M)l Eee AR ARSI
BHIREBIES  ARARQF
H5 % 2 & W B 2 5 Solibro Hi-
Tech GmbH ([SHTI) 1A & &
7 f% 2 Bt B /A |) Solibro GmbH
([Solibro) 7 A #t A 2= f 2
%0

REHEFIERZAS R )]
EEEER—IREERCEE -

REHERAIERSolibrof &
SHTF#iB 2 & T T AR RGN
A E CIGS S iRAR 1 -

TBAGE A M)IERE 2 8RR
- MR RERE - AETTEEREAR
B2 RE 2 BT R 3 S BT E ©

A % RE 42 B% ~ Solibro K2 /T # it
HIERE L RBR AR (DIFERE
ERE])  REXRBEREBR

RERELEERGEESR
AR AR 2 T FRIBIA
ER T REEER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= —

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(i)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

Sales of spare parts of turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of solar photovoltaic modules
production systems by Fujian Apollo to the
Hanergy Affiliates at prices arrived at agreed
terms.

Certain operational support in IT services,
laboratory and lab equipment use and testing,
sales support, telecommunication services, payroll
services and other support services provided
to SHT and Solibro Research AB (“SRAB"),
both indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, by Solibro, Hanergy Holding's affiliate.

Certain operational support to Solibro for IT
services and production quality enhancement
support,
troubleshooting services provided by SHT.

product management services and

Sales of flexible photovoltaic modules and
cells by the Company’s indirect wholly-owned
(“MHT") and
GSE to certain subsidiaries of Hanergy Holding.

subsidiary, MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp.

Service for manufacturing test runs provided to
SHT by Solibro, Hanergy Holding's affiliate.

Sales of IT-hardware and machinery to SHT and
SRAB by Solibro, Hanergy Holding's affiliate.

Charter flights and related services provided
by Hanergy Civil Aviation Company Limited
(“Hanergy Aviation”), Hanergy Holding's affiliate,
to Beijing Hanergy, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Service for import provided to Beijing Hanergy
Ltd. by Beijing
Rongtai Energy Investment Co.,

New Energy Investment Co.,
Ltd., Hanergy
Holding's affiliate.

—hAFt-A=1T—HLEFE)

37. AEANXRF (&)

(@) (%)

wt -

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(&)
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E R 12 ik 2 Bt & A &) Solibro [A)
RARIMEEZEZENE A A
SHT k& Solibro Research AB
([SRAB) IR A AR R -
EREREFEFARRA - HEX
¥ BRYS  HERBEAE
B $§H&E@§T§HW§: ©

SHT 1A Solibro $2 ff & &l &} % Ak
BEREERBRASE ERE
HRH M EHERE A mAEES

# o

AARlzHEZERNE A
Al MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp.
(TMHT]) % GSEMEREIER 2
B T WA A8 & R 1 R R AR

& R AR 2 B
SHT R4 8E
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,EIJEME%% o
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SHT ¥ SRAB ﬁﬁ% ABHE R
TS o

R BETRR 2 BB N RIE BE RIS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

Other transactions with related parties:

2015

(i)

2014

(ii)

(iii)

On 25 January 2015, Fujian Apollo, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, as buyer
entered into an agreement with Beijing
Hanergy Chuangyu Technology Limited, a
subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, as seller for
the acquisition of two intangible assets at
a consideration of RMB500,000 in cash.

On 25 February 2014, MHT, as buyer,
entered into an agreement with Hanergy
(America) LLC (“Hanergy (America)”), a
subsidiary of Hanergy Holding, as seller
for the acquisition of a group of assets
comprising a single complete thin-film
solar photovoltaic module production
line including 5 proprietary CIGS roll
coaters and a full line to create the
proprietary targets at a consideration of
US$15,200,000 in cash.

On 25 February 2014, Hanergy Global Solar
Power Group (Europe), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as buyer
entered into an agreement with Europe
China Power B.V., a subsidiary of Hanergy
Holding, as seller for the acquisition
of certain furniture and fixtures at a
consideration of EUR63,747 in cash.

On 25 February 2014, Hanergy TFP
America, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as buyer entered into an
agreement with Hanergy Holding America
Inc., a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding,
as seller for the acquisition of certain
furniture and fixtures at a consideration of
US$262,326 in cash.

37. AEANXRF (&)

(b) HMBEBDBEATETZRS
—E—hF

R—ZE—RF—A=-+H
H AXEEZZ2ENERA
BEEBEWERE ) HE
REFERR 2 M B A Al FUE Rt
BIERIBEBRAREARAE
F) U EE M IE | B ER]
Y BEREAARK
500,000 7T °

—=—OF

i) RZE—WNFEF-_A=+Hh
H ' MiaSolé Hi-Tech ({E&
B )EZERIER 2K E A
Al Hanergy (America) LLC
([Hanergy (America)l)({E
RET )RS —TEEE
KNGREN KRBT EER &
FEES S BITEEZCIGS
B EARES - REKEEBET
HEEREMZEERE D
= HeMEA15,200,000
=

(i) RZE—MNE-_A=-+Hh
B ARRlz2ENB R
Al Hanergy Global Solar
Power Group (Europe) ({E
BET)EERIER 2B
A Al Europe China Power
BV.(#ERER)BLUEHEE T
RIEREE BRI
RE&REHG63,747 BT °

(i) RZE—WF_A=-+H
H ARBIZ2EWBARA
Hanergy TFP America ({E%
B 77 ) BERE AR 2 i B A A
Hanergy Holding America
Inc. HERE R )BLKIEE T
FEREEEE VM -
REeRER 262,326 %7 °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

Other transactions with related parties:
(continued)

(iv)

On 17 July 2014, MHT, as buyer entered
into an agreement with Hanergy (America),
as seller for the acquisition of certain
assets from Hanergy (America) for an
aggregate purchase price of US$4,000,000.

On 13 August 2014, Hanergy Huayu New
Energy Investment Development Co.,
Ltd (“Hanergy Huayu”),
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
photovoltaic energy management contract
("PEMC") with Jiangsu Wujin Hanergy,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hanergy
Holding to distribute and operate a 3MW
rooftop solar plant to be constructed on
the rooftop of the Jiangsu Wujin Hanergy's
factory. On 13 August 2014, Changxing
Qingyuan New Energy Development Co.
Ltd (“Changxing New Energy”),
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into PEMC with Zhejiang Changxing
Hanergy Photovoltaic Co. Ltd (“Zhejiang
Changxing Hanergy"),
subsidiary of Hanergy Holding to distribute

a wholly-owned

a wholly-

a wholly-owned

and operate a 3MW rooftop solar plant
to be constructed on the rooftop of the
Zhejiang Changxing Hanergy's factory. Up
to 31 December 2015, there has been no
construction under these PEMC.

Details of compensation of key management
personnel of the Group are set out in note 13 to

the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)
and (b) above also constitute connected transactions

or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

37. AEANXRF (&)

(b) EAMEEEATETZIRS : (#&)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. 2T EIZER|
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of FEeMITAEMNERAEBZRESHAREA
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting BT -
period are as follows:
Financial assets SEMEE
2015 —®-—FHf
Loans and
receivables Total
ERR
FEW A &5t
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Trade receivables 5 W FRIE 3,695,639 3,695,639
Gross amount due from contract RGN E P
customers 2,930,836 2,930,836
Financial assets included in other TREESEEMERGIER
receivables and deposits e 566,718 566,718
Bills receivable FEME IR 2,805 2,805
Restricted cash 32 BR 128 & 218,509 218,509
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 447,826 447,826

7,862,333 7,862,333
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. €T BZRER (#)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities cRAE
2015 —E-HF
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
2 S R AN
ZEeme s i
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and bills payables B R EREMNKE 1,110,827 1,110,827
Financial liabilities included in other 4B & & FEE b FE A &
payables and accruals JETE 1,057,469 1,057,469
Interest-bearing bank and other RIT R E AL AR
borrowings 1,182,958 1,182,958
Other non-current liability HEMIEREBEE 2,675 2,675
3,353,929 3,353,929

—Z-hFFH ANNUAL REPORT 2015

271



272

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 EHZE

— ==
=
—=

—HET A=+ HLFE)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. eI BREA (&)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial assets SRMEE
2014 —E—OF
Loans and
receivables Total
JE W SR IE =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E73) (&%)
Trade receivables B 5 WA 6,078,695 6,078,695
Gross amount due from contract EIE X Z F 4%
customers 3,278,508 3,278,508
Financial assets included in other SREEBEHEMERIIER
receivables and deposits ®e 426,140 426,140
Bills receivable RS 101,411 101,411
Restricted cash SR HIR 80,761 80,761
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESFEY 3,056,916 3,056,916
13,022,431 13,022,431

EREBREEEEERALA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. eI BREA (&)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities cRAE
2014 —E2-NF
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
bive: £ IN
ZoRBE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E31) (&%)
Trade and bills payables B R EBENRIA 435,817 435,817
Financial liabilities included in other 4 @& (&6 5 E 4th JE (M 70E K&
payables and accruals FEETE R 773,451 773,451
Interest-bearing bank and other BR1T R E AT B AE TR
borrowings 1,355,445 1,355,445
Other non-current liability HEi3EmeasE 2,880 2,880
2,567,593 2,567,593
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MKEEEREBFERBER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations and in its investment activities. The
financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group's headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure
to financial markets. Long term financial investments
are managed to generate lasting returns with
acceptable risk levels.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in
the trading of financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The Group’s senior management works
under the policies approved by the board of directors.
It identifies ways to access financial markets and
monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures. Regular
reports are provided to the board of directors.

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

(i)

(ii)

Transactions in foreign currencies and the
Group’s risk management policies

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from sales or purchases
by operating units in currencies other than
the units’ functional currencies. Approximately
69% (2014: 62%) of the Group's sales were
denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the operating units
making the sale.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure
regularly. No hedging or other alternatives have
been implemented during the year.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Summary of exposure

Foreign currency denominated financial assets
and liabilities, translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing rates, are as follows:

39.

BEEREEEERBEE#)

SN LB

(i)

(ii)

SNER G R A KB 2 e R

AEEAZRZSUERRAR - 25
RBKBEEEEMAELINEER
PASNe BEEITZEER - AKEK
69% (Z T —M4F :62%)NEHE
HE R E BN R LMY
B%IIE -

AEEE SR HINERR - FR
W EAEITH PR EA LB -

SRR E BRENBERE—E
mARENA  ARBATZA
2 o

EEE

PISNETHEZ S BEE R AERK
MERBERETOT

2015 2014
—2-1f e nki3
US$ RMB EUR SGD US$ RMB EUR SGD
it ARE EO )1 ET  ARE B #iET
G LEE T CONR T CHIIG T CHI  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET TET TFArT  FET R L
Trade receivables ZHMENFE 3,386,061 3,617 38,069 — 4,141,079 32 21,675 =
Gross amount due from  EWANEF
contract customers k] 2,930,836 - - — 3,278,508 — — -
Cash and bank balances ~ BE&RFETEF 73,223 - 898 — 430530 1,735 8871 -
Trade and other payables B 5 &2 fheff
I (198) - (30) - (919)  (6,156)  (4,668) -
Interest-bearing bank and 1T RE &
other borrowings EE (124,635) - - (1,643) (140,786) = =
Gross exposure arising ~ CEASMIA
from recognised EX7ER
financial instruments k] 6,265,287 3,617 38,937 (1,643) 7,708,412 (4,389) 25,878
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. KEMREEEEREE &)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued) SRR (E)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis (iii) EE 5 HT
The following table illustrates the sensitivity at TREREHRIMNE(HREKLE
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably BN BEERINEE 2518
possible change in the exchange rates of foreign AR BB s PRE - kR BREE
currencies other than the functional currencies BIE A B AED 2 ®INE E B2 BT
of the relevant operating units. The rates are 2R W AE R E YN [ R AT
used when reporting foreign currency risk BEEB) 2 B ERT(A ©

internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s best assessment of
the change in foreign currency exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group's RERERR - NEBFTEEHINE R
exposure to foreign currency risk at the end B 2 BURKTE 75 AT T BR AR N [ = 4
of the reporting period has been performed EyEES) ttEAﬁﬁftﬁli?ﬂ?‘Ejﬂﬁjm
based on the assumed percentage changes in PN R FE AT IEMETT o
foreign currency exchange rates taking place F H b B E T -

at the beginning of the financial year and the
assumption that such changes held constant
throughout the year. All other variables are held
constant.

Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against RMB ETHARETE - (521E)

2015 2014
—E-1F —ZT g
PTEX Tl HK$'000  HK$'000
F#ET FET F&T FHET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
#5% (% 5%) 5% (B5%)

(Loss)/profit for the RFEE(EBR),/
year and retained i M) K2 B A7 s A
profits 315,634 (315,634) 302,164 (302,164)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MIBEKMEERERER®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SRR (E)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (continued) (iii) BBEE S HT(4E)
Appreciation/(depreciation) in RMB against HK$ ARB BT HE - (21E)
2015 2014
—®-IfF —Z—F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
5% (% 5%) F+5% (K5%)
(Loss)/profit for the RNEE(BER),/
year and retained 5 M) Iz B AT i )
profits 179 (179) (169) 169
Appreciation/(depreciation) in EUR against HK$ BT s BT IHE (2 1E)
2015 2014
—E-RF —F—lF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°'000
FET FET FET FET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-6%)
5% (B 5%) F5% (B 5%)
(Loss)/profit for the REE(EBE),/
year and retained 2 7 & BB 15
profits 1,923 (1,923) 996 (996)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

(i)

(ii)

EREBREEEEERALA

Exposures to interest rate risk and the
Group’s risk management policies

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Floating interest rate instruments
will result in the Group facing cash flow
interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2015,
approximately HK$662,105,000 (2014 (restated):
HK$662,073,000) of the Group's interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings bore interest at fixed
rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of
the Group's loss for the year and equity to a
possible change in interest rates of +/-50 basis
points (2014: +/-50 basis points), with effect
from the beginning of the year. The calculation
is based on the Group’'s amount of floating rate
borrowings during the year. All other variables
are held constant.

39.

HEEREEEERBEE#)

FRE
(i) FIFREBERERFEEZ )RR EE
B

(ii)

2015

HK$'000
FET

+50 basis

points

+50 & B

AEE(BR)/
)it M K B 154 A

(Loss)/profit for the
year and retained
profits

(2,005)

—E-HE

MxEBESRIEZ AFEXKR
7 = B T 5 FI 2 2 i 3R OR
B R FBMNEITAZSAK
SEAGEREREFNERAR - B
ZE—RF+ZA=+—H" %
662,105,000 0(—ZF — M4 (&
) : 662,073,000 1) 2 A= E
BT R E AT B8 IR E E A E 5T
B o

BRE D HT

TREEEFVE  AEEZA
FEBENEDHNERATELE
+/-BOEE(Z T~ F : +/-50%
HIBH I HURE - AREETIIA
AEERFRNFBMEERBE
o FREEMBBMERTE -

2014

—T-MmEF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FET
LN GERENY  +50 basis -50 basis
points points points
-50 E & +50 BB -50 £ B
2,005 (2,669) 2,669

The assumed changes in interest rates
are considered to be reasonable based on
observation of current market conditions and
represent the management’'s assessment of
reasonable change in interest rates over the
period until the end of the next reporting period.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE-—ZF—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

(i) Summary of exposures

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
counterparty to a financial instrument would fail
to discharge its obligation under the terms of the
financial instrument and cause a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's exposure to credit risk
mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations and its

investing activities.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, bills receivable,
trade and other receivables, gross amount due
from contract customers and deposits and
prepayments arises from the default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables is disclosed in
notes 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

(ii) Risk management objectives and policies

The Group's policy is to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. Credit terms
are granted to new customers after a
creditworthiness assessment. When considered
appropriate, customers may be requested to
provide proof as to their financial position.

Customers who are not considered creditworthy
are required to pay in advance or on delivery
of goods. Payment records of customers are
closely monitored. Overdue balances and
significant trade receivables are highlighted. The
directors will determine the appropriate recovery
actions. It is not the Group's policy to request

collateral from its customers.

39.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 & ZE —ZF—

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered
negligible as the counterparties are reputable
banks.

The credit policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered
to have been effective in limiting the Group's
exposure to credit risk to a reasonable level.

Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade receivables was
HK$2,596,781,000 (2014: HK$4,345,231,000)
due from customers under common control
with Hanergy Holding, which represented
approximately 70% (2014: 71%) of total account
receivables from customers at the end of the
reporting period.

Included in trade receivables was
HK$995,194,000 (2014: Nil) due from Shandong
Macrolink, which represented approximately
27% (2014: Nil) of total trade receivables from
customers at the end of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company believe that
impairment allowance is adequate in respect of
such balance as the customer had a good track
record of settlements during the current year
and prior years.

ﬁ‘ﬁ/\a

39.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE —=

—HET A=+ HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

39.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables, and
also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate level
of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.

Analysed below is the remaining contractual maturity
for the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period. When the creditor has a choice
of when the liability is settled, the liability is included
on the basis of the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated
to the earliest period in which the Group is committed
to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on
the contractual undiscounted payments as at the end
of the reporting period:

BREREBEEERBE &)

RBESE M

mBEERRTYEANEEREETE R
BEMRBETCARER - AREEE
BEEIENFEARERCREETE
HARRBDECRAR AKEZBERERS
METEECRBEEKRKFENARESR
B UENEERRBZABDESS

go

AT RRAKRERRERARZIFITES
BEBEEZHNBRERIMA - BEDHRAK
SEARBRARZEFAHETA -
ERATEESFRABEZAR - BAE
RS RSB AERER
SEAGENRZ &FHME -

AT AR HRBEERS IR
ZAKARBBNRIEL

2015 —E-hfF
On  Less than 6to 12 1tob Over
demand 6 months months years b years Total
REXK SR6MEA 6Z1218A 125%  @B5F &t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FAET FAET FEx Tz Tz FEx
Trade and hills payables B RERENTE — 879569 139,982 91,276 - 1,110,827
Other payables and accruals Hiv e[ B RE
R 1,057,469 - - - - 1,057,469
Interest-bearing bank and other {7 R Al e
borrowings - 210,767 105,157 564,318 540,408 1,420,650
Finance lease payables ENRERSTE - 4,651 4,651 30,003 - 39,305
1,057,469 1,094,987 249,790 685,597 540,408 3,628,251
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MBEKREEEERKEK#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) nREESER(E)
2014 —T—E
On  Less than 6to 12 Ttob Over
demand 6 months months years 5 years Total

REXE DR6EA 6Z12 A 1204 @0 ait
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
A7 AT AT AT AT TAT
(Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(231) (E51) (&51) (B51) (51 (&51)

Trade and bills payables BARRRENTE 51,674 201,468 141,026 41,649 — 435817
Other payables and accruals At AR IERT
£H 773,451 — — — — 773,451
Interest-bearing bank and other /7R E M 2 E X
borrowings 20,282 325,070 190,058 573,986 551,069 1,660,465
Finance lease payables ERRERETA = 4,654 4,654 39,406 = 48,714

845,407 531,192 335,738 655,041 551,069 2,918,447

Capital management EAREE

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2015 and 31 December 2014.

ZepERESEEAR AR HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

AEEETBEEAEEBRARERAE
BERNFERE  YHEBREEASL
O AXFHEXBREERARRE
-

AEEEEHEEARRBILREHENMNE
BRABMEEZRARFEIELHAR - B
MR KREBEARRE  AEEARERAE
XN FRRZEEERE  MERRERE
RRFEITHAAD o A5 B A AL 51 A
MZERREMRS - RBEE=F
— A+ RA=+—-HBRZZE—NOF
T-A=+t—BLEFE AEEELXE
BRI BRIIEFREZE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Je

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus
net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, trade and bills payables, finance
lease payables and other payables and accruals, less
cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
were as follows:

BEEREEEERBEE#)

BEAER(E)

AEEFBERBELR(AERFER
BRUARRABREAMER FH)ETE
Ko B FEBEBITREMESE
R EBHRRBERERMNFIEA  BNREHE
EFREAREMENRBERESER
(R RRAEEEY) - KAEER
BREBAREB ARG ED - RREDH
RZEXRABLERWT

2015 2014

b Lok — T [0F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
(Restated)
(E%))

Interest-bearing bank and other HRIT R E AL EAEFK (AL 26)

borrowings (note 26)

1,182,958 1,355,445

Trade and bills payables (note 24) B 5 REBRENFIB(NZE24) 1,110,827 435,817
Other payables and accruals (note 25) E th & {78 & fE =+ 2 F

(H1:t25)

1,606,923 1,484,606

Finance lease payables (note 28) R EMRE KRB (M7 28) 36,916 44,890
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) Ji - 3% MIREZBY (K171 23) (447,826)  (3,056,916)

Net debt B FHE 3,489,798 263,842
Equity attributable to the owners M RFEE AR

of the parent

7,446,993 20,485,051

Adjusted capital LR E R 7,446,993 20,485,051
Adjusted capital and net debt KRBERRERFE 10,936,791 20,748,893
Gearing ratio BEARABELE 31.91% 1.27%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 20156 HE—Z—HF+-_A=1+—HILFE)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

41.

R BRREEEARAR

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, trade and bills payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and
the current-portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of finance lease payables, the non-
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities, and are approximate to
their carrying amount.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 7 March 2016, MiaSolé Hi-Tech, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
with MiaSolé, a subsidiary of Hanergy Holding,
pursuant to which MiaSolé Hi-Tech agreed to provide
to MiaSolé general and administration and all support/
office services for a monthly fixed fee of US$67,500
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

40.

41.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

EMITREZAVFERDIFER
B

TREENBBZAFEEREZIA
EE77aBNBERTHRTRS(ME
BHFFRHE)EBAKR - BRAT
FITERBRRAEERTE -

RekReEEY ZIRGEE  EH
REBBEEW IR - BN E MR R
B REMEMRETINEREE - &
HEEBRMNIA - BRREMENK
ANEAERTHNERMASE - UMRTT
REAMMH SERNEBAE D 2 2 F{EE
HEEmEMD  TZARBETAND
HAR FRERAE -

JE A B8 1 & IR A SR 1T M Ho A Bt B
EFOERNBAE D 2 AFE - THIREF R
KRERE AFEH  EERREFH%
B HAR RAB AT A T A R3R1T A A A R B
BEE - BEEEERS

BEPREE

RZE—ARF=ZALH ' ARAZE
It B A 7] MiaSolé Hi-Tech B2 & fE 12 A%
Z BB A Bl MiaSolé 5Ttk ° Ut -
MiaSolé Hi-TechEAER ZZ —/~NF—
A—BE-Z—N\E+_-_A=+—HRA
MiaSolé IR 4 — 1T R K AT A L 18/ %
NERY - EEHE%67,500ETT ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE—ZE—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. AR BT R

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial

position of the Company at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

R R AR B B AR A B B ik R 3R Y & R
W

2015 2014
—E—0F el
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BWE MRS 3,655 5,904
Investments in subsidiaries B RKEB A A 6,958,447 8,435,521
Total non-current assets IEmBNE ELRE 6,962,002 8,441,425
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories rE 1,267 18,322
Due from subsidiaries i ding =N 23 2,000,741
Deposits and prepayments e RIBNREIE 5,005 19,090
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY 53,351 500,626
Total current assets mB)EE MR 59,646 2,538,779
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to subsidiaries FEST BB R |] 235,262 3,711
Other payables and accruals H A e R IE R T E A 27,273 29,283
Interest-bearing bank borrowings RITHTEfE K — 140,786
Tax payable FEST IR 2,300 2,300
Total current liabilities mE) B EEE 264,835 176,080
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ wRE(AE) EEFE
ASSETS (205,189) 2,362,699
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHEBRARBEE
LIABILITIES 6,756,813 10,804,124
Net assets BESRE 6,756,813 10,804,124
EQUITY R
Issued capital B 31T 104,367 104,084
Reserves (note) (A Z) 6,652,446 10,700,040
Total equity e /B R 6,756,813 10,804,124

==
=
=

-1

ka3

&

%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—Z—HF+-_A=+—HIFE)

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

42. KD MBEMRRFTE)

Note: Hat -
A Summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RATIEBEOEENT :
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium  redemption  Contributed  Bonds equity option  Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
&% TERE
RiEER TREI G RABY  SEERG  BRERE 2itEE @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT AT FET AT AT FET
At 1 January 2014 WZE-mE-F-H 8,963,135 7,600 262,432 895,685 20,563 (710,797) 9,438,618
Cancellation of share HERDREREAZ
premium and transfer to HARH
contributed surplus (200,000) — 200,000 — — — —
Subscription of shares RERN 877,500 - - - - — 877,500
Dividend declared BERRE - — 429,300) — = — (429,300
Exercise of share options  {7{EEMRiE 43884 - — — (3,155) - 40,729
Share option expense BRERS - - - - 2,431 - 2,431
Exercise of convertible bonds {1 AR EH 1,733,064 - = (895,685) = = 837,379
Transaction with owners ~ BEEAZR S 2,454,448 - (229,300) (895,685) (724) — 1,328,739
Total comprehensive loss ~ AEE2EFEES
for the year - — — — — (67,317) (67,317)
At 31 December 2014 and ~ R=F-TI&F
1 January 2015 TZA=+-Hk
“E-hE-F-H 11417583 7,600 33,132 — 19,839 (778,114) 10,700,040
Exercise of share options ~ f7(F IR IE 43,144 - - - (3,696) - 39,448
Share option expenses BRERX = = - - 19,282 - 19,282
Repurchase of own shares  EEAZR(A (243,063 84 - - - - (242,979)
Transaction with owners ~ EEEAZR S (199,919) 84 = = 15,586 - (184,249)
Total comprehensive loss ~ AFE2EFEES
for the year - = = = = (3,863,345) (3,863,345)
At 31 December 2015 R=2-1%
+-B=1-H 11,217,664 7,684 33,132 — 35,425 (4,641,459) 6,652,446

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 43. #HLEMBHRRK

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on
31 March 2016.

MBBRERER_T—R"F=ZA=+—8H
REFSHENRETE -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

L FEHBEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted

from the published audited financial statements and re-

presented as appropriate, is set out below.

TXEHINAEEBERBAHRFEZEE
BERAGBHE  NDREBEECTEZLER
MmE - UEHFHEE ZEHZ2H -

RESULTS ¥E
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
“E-—f ZF--fF “T-=F “T-NF ok
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 Sl
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated)
(E51)
CONTINUING OPERATION BEREER
REVENUE LN 2,564,640 2,756,463 3,283,791 9,615,028 2,814,668
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX REBELEERK Y
FROM A CONTINUING Bial(&8),/ w57
OPERATION 967,543 1,666,158 2,277,313 4,186,692 (12,087,413)
Income tax expense ik 1iab (243,814)  (349,976)  (259,289)  (983,074)  (146,129)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ~ RERBERE %K
FROM A CONTINUING ZAEE(BHE) /B
OPERATION 723,729 1,316,182 2,018,024 3,203,618 (12,233,542)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION DRI
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM A  KRECKILELEELK
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ZEREEEE (767) — = = -
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  AEE (&), /%7 722,962 1,316,182 2,018,024 3,203,618 (12,233,542)
(Loss)/Profit for the year BARKEARGAEE
attributable to the owners of the  (E518) /il
parent 719,320 1,316,182 2,018,024 3,203,696 (12,233,564)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable JEIZRRHER
to non-controlling interests BIEAEE
w8/ (B18) 3,642 = = (78) 22
—Z—h&FH ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HEFERERE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

ZE—F ZF-ZF ZF-F ZTIF Sk
Notes  HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 BZLEHIL
wE  TAT  TET TET  TET R

(Restated)
(E7)
Goodwill S 15 7,915,318 7,915,318 7,915,318 7,915,318 -
Intangible assets BYEE 16 370,689 551,091 1,211,056 1,181,777 16,597
Property, plant and W - BE R 14
equipment 119,364 133,848 320,054 766,781 342,707
Available-for-sale investment At EHE — 85,800 85,800 — —
Deposits paid for acquisition WEEHE - BE
of items of property, NHEEER 2EM
plant and equipment s 15,583 2,376 493 32 30
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE 29 71,453 44,286 23,420 76,404 -
Other non-current assets HinIEmBEE — — — 4,072 251,130
Net current assets mEBEEFE 2,825,794 3,230,256 6,699,248 12,014,399 8,189,561
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAR 29 (197,157) (250,875) (324,501) (561,995) (417,406)
Convertible Bonds AR ES
(non-current portion) (ERaHs) (729,375) — — = -
Other non-current liabilites ~ EAIEREI&E — —  (89,582) (911,150) (935,017)
Total equity A 10,391,669 11,712,100 15,841,306 20,485,638 7,447,602
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